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MEETING 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

GRTC Transit System 

A special and regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the GRTC Transit System and 
RideFinders will be held concurrently at 8:00 a.m. on December 15, 2020.  To protect the safety of 
meeting attendees, this meeting will be conducted through electronic communication means pursuant 
to and in compliance with City of Richmond Ordinance No. 2020-093, adopted April 9, 2020  

AGENDA 

I. Call to Order & Introductions

II. Public Comments

III. Approval of Board Minutes – November 17, 2020 (Pages 3-16)

IV. Governance / Stakeholder

Discussion/Information Items

A. CVTA Update – Adrienne Torres (Page 17)
B. Chesapeake Chapter of Association for Commuter Transportation 2020 Best Online/Social 

Media Marketing Campaign Award – Von Tisdale (Page 18)

V. Operations Report

Discussion/Information Items

A. Operating Performance – Tim Barham (Pages 19-29)
B. Safety Performance – Tony Carter (Pages 30-31)
C. January 2021 Service Adjustment – Adrienne Torres (Pages 32-33)

Action Items 
A. Purchase of Paratransit Vehicles – Tony Byrd (Pages 34-35)
B. OBS Fleet Cleaning and Disinfecting Services – Tony Byrd (Page 36)
C. OBS Facility Cleaning and Disinfecting Services – Joey Agee (Pages 37-38)
D. First Transit Agency Safety Plan – Monica Carter (Pages 39-91)

VI. Financial Report

Discussion/Information Items

A. October Financial Report – Dawn Bailey (Pages 92-96)
B. Monthly Cash Flow Statement and Projections – Dawn Bailey (Pages 97-98)
C. Recent and Upcoming Procurements – Tonya Thompson (Pages 99-100)
D. Draft FY2022 Operational Baseline Budget – Julie Timm/Soumya Vijayan (Page 101)
E. Update on Union Negotiations – Julie Timm (Pages 102-114)

Action Items 
A. GRTC FY2020 Financial Audit – Leslie Roberts; Brown, Edwards & Company (Pages115-190)
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B. GRTC Health Plan Annual Policy Renewal – Angela Malloy (Page 191)
C. GRTC/VCU Contract, Second Amendment – Julie Timm (Pages 192-195)

VII. Chief Executive Officer’s Report – Julie Timm

VIII. Chairperson Report – Ben Campbell

IX. Executive Session

X. Other Business

XI. Adjourn
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MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 17, 2020 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
GRTC TRANSIT SYSTEM 

Members Present: Benjamin P. Campbell, Chair 
Gary Armstrong, Vice Chair 
Eldridge Coles, Secretary/Treasurer 
George P. Braxton 
Daniel K. Smith 
Ian Millikan 

Others: Bonnie Ashley, General Counsel 
Julie Timm, Chief Executive Officer 
Sheryl Adams, Chief of Staff 
Joey Agee, Facilities Manager 
Tim Barham, Chief of Transportation 
Anthony Carter, Director of Risk Management 
Carrie Rose Pace, Director of Communications 
Rob Taggart, Director of Information Technology 
Tonya Thompson, Director of Procurement 
Adrienne Torres, Director of Planning & Scheduling 

The meeting of the GRTC Transit System and RideFinders Board of Directors was called to 
order at 8AM, November 17, 2020, by the Chair, Mr. Campbell.  To protect the safety of meeting 
attendees, this meeting was conducted through electronic communication means pursuant to 
and in compliance with City of Richmond Ordinance No. 2020-093, adopted April 9, 2020.  This 
meeting was open to participation through electronic communication means by the public and 
closed to in-person participation by the public.  Necessary GRTC Administrative Staff and 
presenters assembled electronically for this meeting, and all GRTC Board of Directors 
participated by videoconference via RingCentral.  A quorum was present. 

Public Comments that were submitted before the 5pm deadline on November 16, 2020 were 
read by Carrie Rose Pace as follows: 

For the benefit of all attendees today, she explained how to participate in public comment at 
Board Meetings.  

Video and audio of Board Meetings are streamed live online and recorded for later viewing at 
GRTC’s YouTube channel at youtube.com/user/ridegrtc. Board Meeting notices, agendas and 
packets are available at GRTC’s website ridegrtc.com by clicking on Stats & Reports in the top 
navigation bar and selecting the first option in the drop-down menu, Board Reports.  Citizens 
are welcome to provide their comments in writing in advance to carrie.rosepace@ridegrtc.com. 
The person responsible for receiving comments in writing is Carrie Rose Pace, Director of 
Communications.  All written comments received via email prior to 5:00 p.m. on the day 
preceding a meeting will be provided to all members of the Board the night before the meeting 
and will be included in the minutes of the meeting.  During the Public Comments portion of the 
agenda, Carrie Rose Pace will read all comments received by the submission deadline, 
following the two-minute speaking time limit normally observed in Board Meetings.  

3



1. Carolyn Howe - I am a disabled woman who rides the care van. I am wondering (as well as
other van riders)...what can be done if you report someone and they retaliate against you
through their job ( and authority) at GRTC as a Dispatcher or working in that department ? Is
there any recourse for the victims (care van riders) of this retaliation? If the coworkers align
themselves with one another ( and regardless of knowledge of this) choose to send a
message that demonstrates "this is what you get when you have the nerve to report any
mistreatment"! The message and the continued abuse send a message to an already
"fragile" population that you keep your mouth shut (be glad you have. aside) and take what
you get.

I would love for this to be addressed at the board meeting and not treated as a FAIRY 
TALE. that these things don't happen. Since GRTC has already been on the news more 
than once for atrocities and these situations were brought to light. I’m sure ONLY after 
numerous complaints being continuously ignored. I would like to know does ANYONE have 
the "compassion" to STOP these actions?  

2. Michael O’Connor - I am writing to follow up on the concerns and suggestions voiced by
affected Fan residents. Should we expect a formal reply regarding these from management
or the Board? Is there a time frame when the concerns raised and the suggestions made
might be seriously considered?

Below you will find a photo taken of the Westbound bus stop at Grove and Lombardy. The 
car you see is parked immediately after the No Parking sign installed for the bus stop. As 
you can see, one of the difficult to park blocks in the Fan has just lost four spots. 
Again, thanks for the opportunity to have our concerns considered.  

3. Oonagh Loughran - Day after day, hour after hour the empty buses trundle down a
residential street. A street with no businesses, a street with houses and small front yards, a
street with childcare facilities, a street with multiple stop signs to reduce traffic, a street
where no one was asked their opinion on the introduction of large noisy empty vehicles and
the impact they would have on their lives and on their pocket. This bus carries no
passengers because no one wants to travel on this route. This is route 77.Two blocks away
a bus runs on a commercial street, a street with shops, a street with businesses, a street
designed for commercial traffic and traffic flow, a street that provides a connection to
downtown and beyond. This bus carries passengers because people want to travel this
route. This is route 5.

A review of your publically available data shows that here are four buses an hour (2 each 
direction) for 12 hours every day. That is 48 buses per day, 288 buses Monday to Saturday 
and another 24 buses on a Sunday. Your data also show that no more than 9 people per 
week, yes nine people per week, use any individual bus stop below Robinson before route 
77 converges with route 5. The average use is below 2 people at any one stop per week. In 
summary it appears that there are 312 buses per week serving between ten and twenty 
people. Even if we double the ridership, the route does not make sense.  

The data do not support this part of route 77. There is nobody riding this part of the route. It 
is not a coverage route, route 5 is two blocks away. Route 5 connects commuters with 
downtown and beyond and is more a frequent and more utilized service.  

There was a reason this route was discontinued, and the current data support that decision. 
Route 5 is a waste of taxpayer’s money and an environmental insult to our neighborhood 
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and the city. I respectfully request an update on the review of route 77 along with any 
documentation that supports the continuation of that route.  

4. Martha Quinn - The neighbors of Grove and Plum are against Buss 77 continued route
through the Fan. Incorrect information - lies in fact - were shared in the recent zoom public
meeting. Residents were not surveyed, via email or mail, about opinions regarding the bus.
We have personally viewed the bus traveling on Grove Ave between N. Harvie and
Lombardy with NO ridership. There is no demand for this bus line, however there is deep
frustration at its sudden appearance in our neighborhood. It is noisy, dirty and intrusive. It
has required removal of several parking spots that are sorely needed on Grove.

I request that you please report the truth, do away with this line, and Councilwoman Gray 
that you support your constituents.  

5. Mathis Kirby Powelson - According to your information that you sent about ridership
numbers I have calculated the following information. There are 25 buses that leave UR per
day and 25 that leave VCU per day. The peak ridership for a day was on 9/25 and it was
138 passengers. That comes out to 2.76 riders per bus. On 10/27 the ridership was 11
people for the day. That comes out to be 0.22 riders per bus. The average ridership for the
month was 83 people per day which divided by the 50 buses is 1.6 people per bus. This is a
total waste of taxpayers' money, a burden on our environment and a danger to our road
driving through the Fan. These numbers simply do not justify this bus route. In addition it is
also taking away multiple parking spaces for Fan residents. Please make the bus stop at
Robinson and then turn.

It would make much more sense for the bus to drive to Broad on Robinson and then go up 
Broad past retail where riders can actually shop. It could then turn down Belvedere and go 
past Monroe Park and then up Main Street which again would be going by retail. It could 
stop on Main shortly after turning off of Belvedere and those that want to go to VCU could 
get out there. It could continue down Main to Robinson and then once again turn to go to 
Grove and then go west bound on Grove to UR. There is simply no reason to have it travel 
down a crowded neighborhood road where there is no retail.  

6. Crist Berry - Why do you continue to throw good taxpayer money after bad?

Others have detailed, using GRTC’s own data, how few riders make use of the new route 
77. Sitting near the intersection of Grove and Meadow, I can personally attest to the high
number of busses I see pass our house with zero or, occasionally one, riders. Never more.

Before you allow yourself to be lulled into the belief that the ridership is low because of 
Covid, remember that the old route 16 was cut just 2 years ago—and we were told it was 
because of low ridership. Other municipalities are reducing service to attempt to reduce 
costs—why is GRTC adding unwanted (based on ridership) routes?  

Additionally, having busses going both ways on Grove where, in the Fan, there are no 
commercial businesses East of Retreat, seems to this voter to be ludicrous. At the very 
least, have the buses going East on Grove turn South at Robinson and then East on Cary—
and going West come up Main, turn at Robinson and then on Grove. This would at least 
take potential riders past businesses while eliminating bus congestion in the Fan and freeing 
up parking. Incidentally, the bus loading spots on Grove in the Fan are totally 
unnecessary—check your own records for how many riders enter or exit…… WHERE IS 
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ALL THE MONEY THAT YOU ARE WASTING ON AN UNWANTED SERVICE COMING 
FROM? 

MAYOR STONEY, YOU WANT MONEY FOR YOUR PROJECTS—LOOK TO THE SLUSH 
FUND GRTC IS USING.  

7. Martin Murphy - Route 77 has no observable ridership. It generates substantial pollution for
no discernible purpose. It is a waste of taxpayers' money and a blight on the environment. It
is incumbent on GRTC to explain why this continues despite the repeated appeals from
concerned citizens.

8. G. S. Collings - Please present these comments regarding Route 77 at the upcoming Board
meeting: 

The count continues. Since my written comments submitted for the last board meeting, I 
have continued my observations of the ridership on Grove Ave. I have spent a great deal of 
time watching passing buses from our front porch or during frequent walks or drives up and 
down Grove Ave. and have seen no increase in the utilization of this route. I have watched 
during different times of day and evening and most of the buses still remain empty or with 
just one passenger.  

Please stop this obscene waste of the taxpayer’s money and its impact on pollution and 
climate change. If you must continue with an evaluation period, please consider a shuttle 
size van and route it one way on Grove and the opposite way on Hanover as was the case 
for the old route 16. This would reduce the waste somewhat, lower the carbon footprint and 
split the negative impact on parking to two streets instead of concentrating it just on Grove.  

9. Sarah Johns - As a resident and homeowner of 1512 Grove Ave, I write in support of the
GRTC’s reasoned expansion of bus infrastructure, including route 77 on Grove Ave through
the Fan.

Our whole city benefits from bus routes that connect more neighborhoods to more business
and commercial areas.

My spouse and I commute on foot to VCU and by bus downtown although we own cars.
This additional bus service means we could also easily access Carytown shopping, library
and restaurants as well as concerts at VCU and the University of Richmond, without adding
more car traffic to the Fan’s narrow streets.

As a pedestrian and runner on Fan streets, I fear individuals driving cars, who roll through
intersections because they are distracted, rushing, or can’t see around parked cars. In my
experience, professional GRTC drivers are alert and attentive to pedestrians in sidewalks
and in the road.

Rather than fearing the bus traffic on our streets, I look forward to the opportunity to reduce
the car traffic on our streets by using the bus. And I encourage others to do the same. Better
bus service would reduce the need for cars and possibly improve parking availability for
those concerned about losing spaces to bus stops.

Bus service and use could increase safety for pedestrians and reduce our environmental
footprint, including traffic emissions, consistent with the sustainable development of our city.
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I hope it will also encourage new residents to move to the Fan and visitors to support our 
neighborhood markets and restaurants.  

10. Kevin McGeorge - Thank you so much for reading this email. I know that several of my
neighbors have already sent in emails so I will not go into the details about the bus route
however I simply see this as a wonderful opportunity to listen to the neighbors that live on
this bus route and to stop this bus route because it is simply inefficient and a waste of
money. Please see this as an opportunity to spend money elsewhere and we are so grateful
for all that you do.

11. Eric Gable - I am a resident of the Fan. I live on Plum St. just a block from the Grove St. bus
stop for the number 77 bus that runs from VCU to the University of Richmond. I am a strong
proponent of public transportation and I wish that Richmond had a more efficient system that
would attract riders and serve the needs of the wider public. I also, however, am against
wasteful spending. Given its extremely low ridership the number 77 bus does not appear to
be fulfilling a current need, and it clearly is an unsustainable expense, while also taking up
scarce parking spaces in a heavily used part of town. Will that change once the pandemic is
behind us? Perhaps. But there is a good chance that at least the segment east of Robinson
will never have riders. Meanwhile, there will be even more pressure for parking once the
pandemic has been brought under control. And there are other options. Main St. is only a
few blocks away and it goes through more work-rich areas and could be rethought to carry
the burden of the Grove route.

12. Liz Williamson - I am strongly opposed GRTC’s decision add two-way bus service on
Grove Avenue in the Fan area due to significantly diminished pedestrian safety, reduced
parking, and increased noise and pollution. These sizeable negative impacts are not justified
by the lack of ridership for the route.

I listened to the October Board meeting’s discussion of Route 77 and neighbor concerns. I 
was extremely disappointed that it appeared that the GRTC leadership dismissed concerns 
with conclusory statements such as the route is safe, the road is wide enough, and the route 
is justified by a gap in service area. I was extremely offended by the notion offered by Ms. 
Timm that residents just want to be heard. I can assure the Board that, yes, residents want 
to be heard, but, more importantly, residents want GRTC to reconsider Route 77. We want  
this to happen before there is a pedestrian fatality in our area. I appreciated one of the 
Board member’s suggestions to evaluate safety of the route. Thank you for taking our 
concerns seriously; however, I would propose taking additional steps to evaluate safety prior 
to an accident occurring. GRTC should consider the following in its safety evaluation:  

1. Buses are unsafely navigating frequent lane blockages due to double parking.
Double-parking is necessary on Grove due to the lack of street parking, particularly in the
lower Fan near VCU. This use of Grove continues. This past Saturday evening after nightfall
(November 14), the westbound lane of Grove was blocked for almost 15 minutes by a
passenger car with its hazard lights on. A GRTC bus did not even slow down. The bus went
into the opposite lane without lowering its speed. Lanes are blocked on a regular basis.
These safety concerns will be even more dramatic when the VCU Student community
comes back into the lower Fan post-COVID19. There will be even fewer parking spaces and
therefore more double-parking.

2. Speed: Buses are traveling at unsafe speeds on Grove in areas in which there are many
children on bikes and crosswalks and two day care centers.
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3. Lack of Space: Grove does not have the space to safely accommodate 2 buses and 
parked cars on both sides of the street. It would be easy for a person exiting a parked car to 
open her door into a speeding bus. The spatial issues are particularly an issue for the lower 
Fan. Unlike Grove in the museum district, the higher density population (more population 
per block) and students create more pedestrians getting into and out of cars that are sharing 
space with buses.  
 
4. Lack of visibility: Extending service on this route until 10 pm in 2022 is extremely 
problematic. My block of Grove is not well lit. This is an accident waiting to happen once you 
add the student population and dark winter months to the equation on our streets.  
 
The residents on Grove continue to see empty or virtually empty buses travel every 20 
minutes down Grove. How can GRTC possibly weigh the lack of use of this route against 
safety considerations?  
 
We are not opposed to public transportation. I have heard the passionate appeals that wish 
to have Fan bus service expanded. I am not against bus service. However, overburdening 
one Fan street in problematic on many levels. It would be easy for GRTC to look at other 
Route options if it is married to Route 77 service. At the very least, take riders down Grove 
only one direction, similar to the prior Grove route. Or alternatively, have buses turn to Cary 
or Main before getting to the lower Fan, where the population density, increased pedestrian  
traffic, and double-parking issues are the worst. We have noted that Main Street is only two 
blocks from Grove in the lower Fan.  
 
In summary, there are compelling reasons to discontinue this route and identify a solution to 
safely provide transportation to address the need GRTC has identified for the Fan area. We 
should not overburden one street. Route 77 is clearly unjustified and should be immediately 
discontinued. GRTC, please make the right choice and choose safety first.  

 
Ms. Timm commented on the ADA issue and said that GRTC takes those complaints very 
serious.  The leadership team has been in contact with Ms. Howe to make sure this is 
addressed and that let her know that her comments and concerns are taken very seriously.  
Allegations of retaliation are also taken very seriously.  GRTC has policies to allow complaints 
to be submitted officially to GRTC and to the Federal Transit Administration to protect against 
retaliation and to ensure comments are formally and fairly heard.  GRTC will make sure Ms. 
Howe has all the resources at her disposal to address her concerns fully and respectfully. 
 
Ms. Timm addressed the complaints regarding Route 77 and understands the stated concerns. 
There is a report forthcoming in this meeting explaining key performance measures to be used 
to evaluate all GRTC routes including the Route 77 and how GRTC will monitoring and assess 
the performance of the entire system.   
 
 
Annual Shareholder Meeting Report / Board Membership – Ben Campbell 
 
The GRTC Annual Shareholders meeting was held virtually on November 6, 2020.   The City of 
Richmond was represented by Councilwoman Ellen Robertson and the County of Chesterfield 
was represented by Christopher Midgley. 
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The City of Richmond reappointed Benjamin P. Campbell, George P. Braxton, and Eldridge F. 
Coles.   The County of Chesterfield reappointed Gary Armstrong, Ian Millikan, and Daniel K. 
Smith.  The representatives from the City of Richmond and County of Chesterfield will serve 
their term until October 2021. 
 
 
Nominations and Elections of Board Officers – George Braxton 
 
Mr. Braxton is Chair of the Nominating Committee for the GRTC Board of Directors.  The Chair 
reached out to members of the Board of Directors requesting nominations for the election of 
officers for the Board and the following recommendation was made Benjamin P. Campbell, 
Chair; Gary Armstrong, Vice Chair; and Eldridge F. Coles, Treasurer/Secretary. 
 
Mr. Braxton moved that the Board of Directors approve the recommendation from the 
Nominating Committee to re-elect Benjamin P Campbell as Chair, Gary Armstrong as Vice 
Chair, and Eldridge F. Coles as Secretary/Treasurer, Mr. Smith seconded, and the motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
 
Approval of Minutes:  Mr. Armstrong motioned to approve the November 17, 2020, Board 
meeting minutes, Mr. Smith seconded, and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
CVTA Update – Adrienne Torres 
 
Regional Public Transportation Plan - CVTA approved the use of $200,000 of the 15% Transit 
Funds to be used for the Regional Public Transportation Plan.  GRTC worked with PlanRVA 
and selected the Consultant team, Michael Baker International and Jarrett Walker and 
Associates to assist GRTC in the development of the Regional Public Transportation Plan.  

 
The CVTA Technical Advisory Committee met on November 9th and continued discussions on 
Regional Prioritization Process for 35% Transportation funds; updates on the Regional Public 
Transportation Plan for 15% Transit funds; and updates on Transit Service Governance Report 
Process. 
 
The CVTA Finance Committee met on November 9th and recommended CVTA Adoption of the 
Administrative and Operating Expense Budget. 
 
 
Association for Commuter Transportation 40 Under 40 Award – Von Tisdale 
 
The Association for Commuter Transportation, (ACT), is an international association and 
leading advocate for commuter transportation and transportation demand management (TDM).  
ACT strives to create an efficient multimodal transportation system by empowering the people, 
places, and organizations working to advance TDM in  order to improve the quality of life of 
commuters, enhance the livability of communities, and stimulate economic activity.  During the 
organization’s annual TDM Forum, it recognizes and honors young professionals who are 
ambitious leaders working to find creative solutions to improve the quality of life of commuters, 
the livability of communities , and developing TDM programs that shift behavior. 
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Jekeima Taylor, Client Services Coordinator, is a 2020 recipient of the prestigious ACT 40 
Under 40 Award.  Jekeima has been with the RideFinders organization for over fourteen (14) 
years.  She has served on the statewide rideshare committee, coordinates the Emergency Ride 
Home Program overseeing the enrollment, utilization, and vendor negotiations.  She is a true 
team player and the in-house RideFinders IT liaison working closely with GRTC IT staff on 
technology matters and remains crucial to working with our ride matching software developer to 
enhance the program capabilities and providing innovative input.  In addition, Jekeima tracks 
and reports emissions data, air quality reports and vehicle miles reduced while overseeing sales 
for the Commuter Choice Program and Human Service agencies. These achievements in 
sustainability, excellent customer service, and the impact on the region has enriched the lives of 
our commuters and the viability of RideFinders.  The award was presented virtually to Jekeima 
on November 10, 2020. 

Operating Performance – Tim Barham 

• There were 670 lost trips for October and operated at 98.80%.

• Lost time absenteeism rate for Operators is 15.07% for October which was higher than
September which was 10.65%.  The increase in absenteeism is due to an increase in long-
term absences, workers compensation, and a few COVID related.

• Customer complaints were at 1.65 per 10,000 riders for October which is higher than
September which was 1.21 per 10,000.

• Fixed route ridership for October is 5.10%.  The Pulse is down 43.7%.  Commuter service
down 75%.  Combined fixed route service was down 17.75% compared to September which
was 16.74%.

• CARE Service is down 23.45% for October.  CARE-On-Demand is down 28.12% for
October.  Total fixed route and specialized overall has been down 17.94%.  For the fiscal
year, it is down 19.94%.

• Vanpool service through the month of September is down 70.26%.

• Year-to-date ridership for Fixed Route and Specialized was 3.3M this time last year and this
year it is 2.67M in ridership.  The month of October ridership was 722,600.

• Specialized on-time performance is at 90.51% for October. There were eleven complaints
but as ridership increases the complaints are likely to increase.  There were three
commendations for the month of October.

• There were no new COVID cases for the entire month of October.

• Staffing – 270 full-time Operators, 18 part-time Operators and the budget numbers are 290
full-time Operators and 26 part-time Operators.  Four Operators are currently in training and
new class with five starting November 30.

• There was a good response from the ads on recruitment; 49 applications came through 13
of those indicated to us that they came from watching the ads on television and 13 came
from the website.

• In Maintenance, recruiting for one general utility position, three mechanics, and bus cleaner.

Safety Performance – Tony Carter 

Tony Carter presented the safety report and highlighted that for October there were 30 
accidents which was a decrease from September which was 39.  There were 11 preventable 
and 19 non-preventable accidents.  There was 15,684 miles between total accidents and there 
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was 42,776 miles between preventable accidents for the month of October.  The type of 
accidents that Operators are incurring are accidents occurring with non GRTC vehicles. 

Mr. Carter reported that he and Sheryl Adams attended a Virginia Transit Liability Pool Board 
meeting and discussed statewide accident trends with other agencies that specifically focused 
on increased accidents occurring at no fault of the Operators.   Staff is going to continue to 
remind Operators of the safety techniques, and GRTC is providing an interactive, virtual training 
class with refresher and defensive driving techniques.   

Quarterly Ridership Report and KPIs – Adrienne Torres 

In 2018, GRTC made major changes to the system with the implementation of the Pulse, the 
Richmond Transit Network Plan, and the Henrico Expansion.  GRTC has monitored the system 
performance, making small changes to the system since the implementation.  Adhering to 
GRTC’s service standard of no major changes until after 18 months of monitoring, GRTC made 
major changes in 2020, with the routing changes to the 50 and the 77, the addition of the 111, 
and the removal of the 75.  GRTC continues to monitor route performance and will report 
quarterly performance to the GRTC board.  The report allows GRTC to compare routes to other 
routes in their designated category and identify areas that may need improvement.  The 
presentation was provided with an overview of the structure of the report and the performance 
for the first quarter of FY2021. 

Landscaping and Lawn Service for BRT – Joey Agee 

The design of the stations along GRTC’s BRT system includes landscaped areas that require 
consistent maintenance and general landscaping services.  The selected contractor shall 
provide all labor, materials, equipment, and tools to service 26 BRT Stations from Rockett’s 
Landing east of downtown Richmond to Willow Lawn in Henrico County.  Staff’s independent 
cost estimate for this project is $386,535 over a five-year period. 

Staff issued a Request for Proposals and five (5) proposals were received and evaluated based 
on the firm’s Qualifications and Capabilities, Related Experience and References, Technical 
Proposal and Price Proposal.  Home Turf and Ware Lawn provided Best and Final Offers 
outlined below. 

Ware Lawn Care & General Services, Inc. $296,360 

Home Turf $277,765 

While Ware Lawn’s BAFO was $18,595 higher, staff determined that Ware was the highest 
ranked proposer based on past performance and reference checks.  Ware Lawn has provided 
lawn care services at GRTC’s administrative and operations facilities, and their level of service 
met all expectations.  Ware Lawn is certified by the Virginia Department of Small Business and 
Supplier Diversity as a small and minority owned business.  The agreement is structured with a 
one-year base term and four options to renew for a total of 5 years.   

This purchase will be funded with operating funds and falls within the approved operating 
budget for General Maintenance BRT Stations.  
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Staff is requesting that the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to execute a contract for BRT 
Station landscaping services with Ware Lawn Care & General Services, Inc. for a one-year base 
term with four one-year options for a total contract value not to exceed $296,360.   Mr. 
Armstrong motioned to grant staff’s request, Mr. Smith seconded, and the motion was approved 
with one abstention. 
 
 
Enterprise Resource Planning Consultant – Rob Taggart 
 
GRTC has been using Microsoft Dynamics Great Plains’ software to assist with financial and a 
limited number of human resources’ tasks.  GRTC desires an integrative ERP option that meets 
the needs of finance, operations, human resources, procurement, parts inventory management, 
project accounting and travel and expense functions.  Currently staff conducts these tasks in an 
isolated environment that often results in inefficiencies.    
 
Replacing or upgrading current software and processes is a significant endeavor, therefore staff 
desires consulting services to assist with a phased approach to acquiring and implementing a 
new or upgraded ERP system.  As a result, Request for Proposals for ERP Consultant Services 
was issued in June.   Eighteen firms submitted proposals and the evaluation committee 
evaluated each proposal based on the following criteria:  Qualifications and Capabilities – 25%; 
Related Experience and References – 25%; Technical Proposal – 30%; and Fee Structure – 
20% 
 
Staff identified Plante & Moran as the highest ranked proposer.  The independent cost estimate 
for this project is $2,656,030 for Phase 1 and 2.  After negotiating the scope of work and terms 
and conditions of an agreement with Plante & Moran, staff determined that their fee proposal is 
fair and reasonable.  If approved, Plante & Moran will conduct a needs assessment and provide 
procurement solicitation assistance in Phase 1 and implementation oversight, stakeholder 
coordination, risk management and system integration, testing and “go-live” readiness services 
in Phase 2.  Acclaim Systems, Inc., a certified DBE and SWaM firm, will be performing as a 
subcontractor for this project.  Phase 1 services will take approximately eight (8) months to 
complete.   Phase 1 will be funded with federal and state funds.   

 

Staff will apply for grant funding for Phase 2 consulting services and the selected ERP system in 
the upcoming FY22 grant application cycle.  If approved, staff will issue a notice to process to 
Plante & Moran for Phase 2 services. 
 
Staff is requesting that the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to execute an agreement with 
Plante & Moran for Phase 1 and Phase 2 consulting services with a total value of $510,305 and 
to issue a purchase order for $142,740 for Phase 1 ERP Consulting Services.  Mr. Armstrong 
motioned to grant staff’s request, Mr. Smith seconded, and the motion was approved with one 
abstention. 
 
 
Hastus Annual Maintenance and Support Renewal – Rob Taggart  
 
In April 2003, the Board of Directors authorized the CEO to execute a contract with Giro to 
purchase an automated scheduling, run cutting, rostering and operator management system.  
The system also included components for automated trip planning for customer service and the 
website.  Each year, GRTC must renew the Software Maintenance Agreement with Giro.  This 
agreement covers the cost of additional customizations to the Hastus software as well as any 
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support requirements to address issues.   Since this support can only be provided by Giro, 
GRTC has classified this purchase as a sole source procurement.   

Annual licensing is applied each year to the maintenance and support contract allowing GRTC 
to upgrade to a newer version of Hastus software at its convenience.  The maintenance and 
support agreement includes unlimited telephone, electronic mail support and ten days for 
modifications.  The maintenance and support fees are $156,710 an increase of 4% over last 
year’s cost of $150,123.  This purchase will be funded with federal and local grant funds. 

Staff is requesting that the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to issue a purchase order to 
GIRO for a not to exceed amount of $156,710 to renew the maintenance and software support 
agreement for Hastus 2021.  Mr. Coles motioned to grant staff’s request, Mr. Armstrong 
seconded, and the motion carried unanimously. 

Operator Recruitment Media Buy FY21 – Carrie Rose Pace 

GRTC’s Board of Directors approved the Marketing Operating budget FY21, which included a 
total of $333,000 for GRTC Marketing efforts and continues to be used for Operator 
Recruitment.  After the Fall 2020 run, we still have $200,000 available for media buys.  The 
same Operator stories updated and aired in October 2020 will appear in Early 2021.  

The October campaign sent 12,000 people to our employment page online.  As with recent 
media buys, these partners provide on air and digital advertisements placements.  After 
reviewing the fall applicant data, we are shrinking the digital ad reach back to within an hour 
driving range of GRTC.  We are also continuing mobile app advertisements and streaming, as 
well as increasing our targeted email campaigns.  This run, we are increasing our focus on jobs-
board-style ad placements with several partners. 

GRTC obtained media buy proposals from the following media partners, where we will issue 
not-to-exceed purchase orders in the following amounts to be spent in Early 2021:  CBS6 - 
$70,000; NBC12 - $65,000; FOX35 - $30,000; and WRIC8 - $35,000.  The total 2021 spend is 
$200,000. 

Staff is requesting that the Board of Directors authorizes the purchase orders specified above in 
not-to-exceed amounts for each media partner in Early 2021.  Mr. Armstrong motioned to grant 
staff’s request, Mr. Smith seconded, and the motion carried unanimously. 

September Financial Report – Dawn Bailey 

For the month of September total revenues fell short of budgeted expectations by $572,000.  
The total expenses for September were favorable by $409,000.  This resulted in an unfavorable 
net budget variance of $163,000.   On the Statement of Income, the change in net position for 
the month was $163,000; however, year-to-date variance is still tracking favorable by $683,334. 
Overall, the $683,334 favorable variance is due to COVID expenditures slowing down 
momentarily.  For the month of September, the total operating contributions were unfavorable 
$598,638.  For the first time this year all of the cost centers are favorable to budget in the 
amount of $409,000.  The Purchase of Service – Spectran continues to track with the most 
favorable variance of $744,378 which is due to the service not recovering as quickly as 
anticipated due to COVID-19 and the higher than average annual budgeted projection. 

13



Monthly Cash Flow Statement and Projections – Dawn Bailey 

This report reflects actual sources and uses of cash during the month of September along with 
projections of cash inflows and outflows through January 2021.  Reminder that $2.5M was 
transferred from the reserve to the operating cash account in July and $1.5M was paid back to 
the reserve account in September.  Due to the payment of three payrolls and two medical 
insurance invoices during October, along with lower anticipated federal drawdowns $1.5M was 
transferred from the reserve account.   During November, $1M is expected to be returned to the 
reserve account.  Staff has been in contact with the City of Richmond and feel confident that the 
2nd quarter payment will be received before the end of November; the issue with the late 
payment for the 1st quarter was due to COVID implications along with the signing of the new 
contract.  

Recent and Upcoming Procurements – Tonya Thompson 

There are currently nine current and ongoing procurements.  Three of those projects will be 
managed by the Planning Department and they are the purchase of shelters, a Willow Lawn 
Park & Ride Study, and a project for the installation of Landing Pads at various bus stops in our 
system.  The other project is for an Elevator Maintenance Service contract. 

FY2021 State Transit Funding & GRTC Capital Plan Approval – Kesha Reed 

GRTC presented the five-year capital concept along with the funding sources and prioritization 
for board consideration during the July 2020 board meeting.  In September, staff presented the 
committed projects for FY20 as well as the critical FY21 projects that needed funding to move 
forward.  GRTC received confirmation of the State’s intent to provide match funds for the 
projects in FY21 which are Security - $50K, State of Good Repair - $1.8M, Business 
Improvements - $1.2M, and Service Improvements - $1.3M.   FY21 Operating Assistance total 
$11.7M and FY21 Capital Assistance total $4.5M. 

Staff is returning to the board as requested.  A State decision has been made to provide 
matching funds for all projects presented.  Staff is requesting that the Board approve the 
FY2021 Capital Projects as presented in Scenario 1.   Mr. Armstrong motioned to grant staff’s 
request, Mr. Braxton seconded, and the motion carried unanimously. 

Chief Executive Officer’s Report – Julie Timm 

• No new COVID cases in October and only one new case in early November.  That case was
a contracted staff member and appears to be family, and not work related.  In many parts of
the Country, cases are increasing, and it is encouraging to report back how well GRTC is
doing with few new infections; however, COVID is taking a toll on staff at GRTC.   We are
still hearing too many complaints and serious concerns of people not wearing masks
properly or at all.  The rudeness and threats to our Operators are real when Operators ask
customers to put on their masks.  It is affecting absenteeism and that affects service to our
riders when we must miss service.

• Risk Management has ongoing de-escalation training for our operators and front-line staff.

• Community organizations are reaching out giving gifts and support to our operators as they
are the most visible and this does help morale.
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• Governor has mandated stricter compliance measures, and these are greatly appreciated to
keep people home when they do not need to be out, but otherwise may not do much to
impact transit.

• WMATA is considering a “buy-out” of around 1,400 members of their team.   Of course, we
hate that they are suffering financially and having to reduce staff, we are hopeful that we can
pick up some of those employees to fill our ranks with trained and professional operators
and mechanics.

• Two new committees being launched next month.  They are the GRTC Regional Capital
Group and the Transit Center Downtown Need and Location.  These are being led by
Adrienne Torres.
o The Regional Capital Plan group will act as an advisory group to help GRTC support and

compliment transportation projects being led by our local partners and vice versa.  It will
also help us develop funding strategies to support GRTC state of good repair needs and
improvements to transit accessibility and multi-modal connectivity by targeting state and
federal vehicle and infrastructure grants.   This group will begin meeting in late
November or Early December to review GRTC capital funds and proposed projects and
priorities for FY2022.  This group is currently represented by staff from our key funding
partners – The City of Richmond and the Counties of Chesterfield and Henrico.

o The Downtown Transfer Center group is comprised of Richmond Stakeholders who act
as a steering group to the identifying the priorities and key location for a permanent
home in Downtown Richmond for transit-centric mobility connectivity.  This group will
meet virtually on November 19 to hear more about the needs for a transit center
downtown and to start defining the data needs, outreach, and next steps.

• GRTC is an award-winning system with an award-winning team.  Ridefinders staff continues
to win awards for their professionalism and work; the Pulse is an award-winning BRT
system; system redesign recognized nationally as a model for attracting new riders and
growing system use even as the nation trended down; GRTC wins awards for Marketing and
Communications Team and their work; and new nominations keep coming in for other team
members on how we have managed transit through COVID and Richmond protests.

Chairperson Report – Ben Campbell 

Mr. Campbell stated that he is very proud of what GRTC is doing, proud of the CEO, grateful for 
the Board and the experience and knowledge that is represented and prayerful that as GRTC 
moves into the upcoming year the significant opportunities that are presented by the 
development of the CVTA and the potential of beginning to have coverage of our City and 
continue to expand in the support of public transportation. 

Executive Session 

Mr. Millikan moved that the Board hold a closed meeting pursuant to Section 2.2-3711(A)(29) of 
the Code of Virginia to discuss the status and terms of a collective bargaining agreement, 
because discussion in an open session would adversely affect GRTC’s bargaining position.  
The motion was seconded by Mr. Armstrong, and the motion carried unanimously.  The Board 
went into Executive Session. 
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At the conclusion of the closed meeting, Mr. Millikan moved to reconvene the open meeting, Mr. 
Coles seconded, and the motion carried unanimously.   Mr. Campbell reconvened the open 
meeting. 

Mr. Campbell requested a Roll Call Vote be taken, that this closed meeting was convened 
pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act and that, according to Sections 2.2-3712 of 
the Code of Virginia, it was conducted in conformity with Virginia law and that nothing was 
discussed except the matter or matters (1) specifically identified in the motion to convene in 
closed session and (2) lawfully permitted to be discussed under the provisions of the Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act cited in that motion.  The Roll Call Vote was unanimous. 

Other Business 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at adjourned 10:52 a.m. 

APPROVED: 

Benjamin P. Campbell, Chair 

Date 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: CVTA Update 

UPDATE: 

CVTA Meeting – December 4th 

• Adopted the administrative operating and expense budget

• Agreed to the VDOT Revenue Transfer Agreement – 3 Exhibits (is off to VDOT for
signature)

• Authority authorized the Finance Committee to establish banking, advisory and audit
services, and develop policies and procedures for authority consideration.

CVTA TAC Meeting – December 7th 

• Regional Public Transportation Plan

o Project kick-off meeting was held on December 3rd

o Change in timeline due to the delayed start date
o Tentative final plan complete April 30th

• Transit Governance Report

o Scope approved by CVTA on December 4th

o Change in timeline due to the delayed start date
o Next steps:

▪ Solicitation using DRPT Bench Contract
▪ CVTA TAC Technical Group as selection committee (GRTC, Chesterfield,

Henrico, Richmond)
▪ Recommended selection from TAC will go to full Authority on January 29th

▪ Note: Confirming with Secretary’s Office that no issue with delaying dates
as long as make the final date – June 30th

CVTA Finance Committee Meeting – December 9th 

• Approved Fiscal Agent Services

• Approved Financial Policies and Procedures

Future Meeting dates: 

• CVTA Finance – January 6th

• CVTA TAC – January 11th

• CVTA – January 29th
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: Chesapeake Chapter of Association for Commuter Transportation 2020 Best 

Online/Social Media Marketing Campaign Award 

BACKGROUND: 

The Chesapeake Chapter of the Association for Commuter Transportation, (ACT), is the regional chapter 
of the international association and leading advocate for commuter transportation and transportation 
demand management (TDM). The Chesapeake Chapter territory covers Virginia, Maryland and the 
District of Columbia and carries out on a regional basis all of the aims and purposes of ACT.  ACT strives 
to create an efficient multimodal transportation system by empowering the people, places, and 
organizations working to advance TDM in order to improve the quality of life of commuters, enhance the 
livability of communities, and stimulate economic activity. During the chapter’s annual awards event, it 
recognizes and honors outstanding programs and achievements from the organizations in the chapter’s 
territory in the field of transportation demand management.  

CURRENT STATUS: 

RideFinders is the recipient of the Chesapeake Chapter, Association for Commuter Transportation 2020 
Best Online/Social Media Marketing Campaign for its “Celebrate Earth Day, Every Day” Clean Air 
Campaign. This campaign maximized the focus on “green” commuting – teleworking, walking and biking- 
and “green” environmental actions such as recycling, waste management and garden maintenance as 
healthy and sustainable habits. The social media content showcased RideFinders staff as relatable by 
demonstrating that they indeed practiced what they preached.  

This campaign yielded the following results: 

• Developed the signature series, “VISITS with Von” and “We Read Wednesdays”. Video created
in-house at no costs.

• Promoted Caring Commutes, an initiative that simply asked registered database clients to record
their telework days every day that they worked from home during the month of May. Once 500
telework “trips” were recorded, a $500 donation was made to Feed More on behalf of
RideFinders.

• Developed partnerships with Central Virginia Waste Management Authority (CVWMA), The
Bicycle Guys, Clean Air Partners, Bellemeade Community Center and Drive Smart Virginia.

• Garnered 65,747 total impressions* across Facebook, Twitter and Instagram representing a 31%
increase over goal; increased Facebook reach* by 77% and Instagram reach by 35%.
*Impressions - the number of times your content is displayed.
*Reach - the total number of people who see your content.

Cherika Ruffin, on behalf of RideFinders, accepted the award virtually on November 19, 2020 to the 
virtual attendees. 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: Operating Performance 

BACKGROUND: 

Attached are the monthly operating statistics through November 30, 2020. 

CURRENT STATUS: 

Chief of Transit Operations, Tim Barham, will review the operating statistics, KPIs, staffing, and 
COVID-related updates for Fixed Route and Paratransit Services for the month of November. 
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Operating Report – November 2020 
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Operating Report – November 2020 

1.0  TRANSPORTATION 

1.1 Fixed Route Performance – Lost Time Rate – Bus Operators 

1.2.1 Fixed Route Performance – Scheduled Trips Operated 

Comments:  

1.2.2 Fixed Route Performance – On-Time Performance 

Comments:  KPI Goal is 80% or greater. 

1.3.1 Customer Service Center – Complaints – Fixed Route 
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Operating Report – November 2020 

2.0  HUMAN RESOURCES 

2.1 Employment Comparisons 

3.0  RISK MANAGEMENT 

3.1.1 Fixed Route – Traffic Accident Data 

3.1.2 Fixed Route – Passenger Accident Data 
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Operating Report – November 2020 

3.2.1 Specialized Transportation – Traffic Accident Data 

3.2.2 Specialized Transportation – Passenger Accident Data 

3.3.1 Fixed Route – Traffic Accidents per 100,000 Miles 
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Operating Report – November 2020 

3.3.2 Fixed Route – Passenger Accidents per 100,000 Miles 

4.0  INFORMATION SYSTEMS 

4.1 Projects 

Scope | 

Were Scope 

Changes 

More Than 

Expected?

Quality |

 Are Quality 

Problems 

Being 

Fixed?

Project Schedule Budget Start Date
Completion 

Date

 Baseline 

Budget 

 Actual 

Budget 

Within Anticipated 

Limits Of Staff-

Hours Spent?

Project Sponsor Project Lead
# Change 

Requests

# Defects 

Fixed Per 

User 

Acceptance 

Test

CCAD Upgrade Planning Phase $0 12/01/19 01/28/20  $  - -$   Yes IT Dexter Hurt 0 2

Spec Trans 

Validators
Execution Phase $978,795 08/01/18  $  978,795  $   - Yes Transportation Dexter Hurt 2 0

Automate Swipe 

Card Invoicing 

Process

Pending $0  $  - -$   IT Hector Serrano 0 0

Universal Card Pending TBD  $   -   $   - TBD TBD 0 0

AMBLE - Online 

Reservation
Execution Phase $91,875 01/07/19  $   - -$   Yes

Specialized 

Transportation
Jean Lombos 0 0

GRTC Zone 

Creation
Planning Phase $6,300 TBD  $   - -$   Yes

Specialized 

Transportation
Jean Lombos 0 0

Saftey 

Management 

System (SMS) 

Planning Phase TBD TBD  $  - $  - Yes Safety Jean Lombos 0 0

GRTC SCCM 

Implementation
Planning Phase $0 09/01/19  $  - -$   Yes IT Ernesto Leon 0 0

Money Room App 

Install
Execution Phase $15,111 11/26/19  $   - -$   Yes Finance Money room Ernesto Leon 0 0

Greenshades Time 

Sheets
Execution Phase $7,983 11/26/19  $   - -$   Yes GRTC Ernesto Leon 0 0

GRTC Computer 

Refresh - Phase 1
Execution Phase 9/18/2019  $   -   $   - Yes GRTC

Melissa 

Richards
0 0

Comments:   New installs are still in progress.  As of 10/31/20 about 95% of this PC Refresh project is complete. CS Dept are all now done after 11/2/20  Completed installs are live, and on the 

network/can be remoted into.  After week of 11/2 Only 2 SpTrans Dispatch and Radio Room PCs are left to upgrade straight into Windows 10.

Comments:  Validators installed in all vehicles, in the process of printing and shipping customer ID Cards, testing webportal for adding value to customer cards, Go Live delayed due to vendor 

related issues.  Project dependant on the new fare structure and GENFARE work for VCU and FiXED ROUTE.   New Fare structure installed and working.  Next step to launch the new Moble App.

Comments:  No projected go live date at this time.  Specifications to be gathered and documented.  Option available within GFI backend of SpecTrans Validator Project. 

Project Status Time  Cost 
Within Anticipated Limits Of Staff-Hours 

Spent?

Comments:  Clever CAD upgrade complete and clients upgraded to version 9.  Working with Clever Team on ongoing upgrade of all other Clever Systems. 

Comments:      

Comments:  Working on a proof of concept and testing.

Comments: Implemention of project and testing.

Comments:  Implemention and testing of project.

Comments:  App is very spotty.  Currently, reviewing issues reported by users.   After performing several tests and working with RouteMatch, we've concluded that user error.  Plan on revisiting 

users for retrain.  TBD.   Currently, app is constantly monitored .  Sent RM a few concerns regarding Window Times, Funding Sources.   Since the last reporting, the Window Times have been 

established to be correct.   As for the Funding Source, it has been linked to the Care Fare Map project which is currently ongoing (7/27/20).  Trip option is being utilized by our customers.  No 

known reports about the reservation tool (8/27/2020).  Nothing to report at this time.  It is currently working as designed 10/26/20.

Comments:   Awaiting on assigned resource and projected timeline.   As of 8/28, we are still in planning phase.  A new route will be implemented by next March 2020.  Will reschedule 

implementation and installation until further notice.   As of 9/27, project is still on hold due to the upcoming additional routes.  TBD.  As of 7/27/20, we have submitted guidelines beginning this 

month and awaiting for the final roughdraft from RM.  No updates since then.   As of 8/27/2020, waiting on David Chin and Jane for training and implementation.  Expected response from RM is 

next week.   We are currently in testing phase.  Last minute revision on the map was performed 10/19/20.  Will reconvene the week of the 26th of October.

Comments:   Tasked to research software that will assist the company with its need of data gathering that ranges from accidental to trending.  Will gather all information from vendors and submit 

findings to COS and Safety Director.   As of 7/27/20, project has been implemented. Parties involved have since placed it as functional.  Project requirements have been met.  This project has 

been implemented and is currently in use - 8/27/2020.   On 10/15/20, discussed with Monica Carter concerning hardware.  Waiting on Rafael to create a checklist to be used for online form.
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Operating Report – November 2020 

5.0  CONSTRUCTION AND FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 

5.1 Projects 

Scope | 

Were 

Scope 

Changes 

More 

Than 

Expected

?

Project Schedule Budget
Start 

Date

Completio

n Date
Baseline 

Budget 

 Actual 

Budget 

Within 

Anticipated 

Limits Of Staff-

Hours Spent?

Project 

Sponsor
Project Lead

# Change 

Requests

101 S. Davis Ave. 

Environmental 

Recovery

Active/On-

Schedule
$49,915 02/01/16 11/01/17 $49,915 77,815$   Yes Engr/Constr Joey Agee 27,900

Facility Management Active/Continous $270,598 07/01/20 06/30/21
207,520 

Expended
$142,734 Yes Facilities  Joey Agee 0

Pulse Active/Continous $338,918 07/01/20 06/30/21  TBD* TBD* Yes Facilities Joey Agee 0

Pulse Park-n-Ride Active/Continous TBD Continous Continous  TBD* TBD* Yes Engr/Constr Joey Agee 0

Employee Parking Lot 

Repairs 

Active/On 

Schedule
$175,000 TBD 12/30/20 $0.00 TBD* Yes Facilities Joey Agee 0

Southside Plaza TC Active/Continous TBD TBD TBD  TBD* TBD* Joey Agee 0

GRTC Church Annex Active/Continous TBD TBD TBD  TBD* TBD* Joey Agee 0

Pulse Platform 

Modification
Active TBD TBD TBD  TBD* TBD* Joey Agee 0

Transit Plaza 

Improvements 
 $  - -$   0

Comments:   GRTC has finally received a DEQ Claim Decision Summary Notification of our last recovery request.  We requested $180,000 in reimbursement 

expenditures and will receive a check for $144,073.19 (80% of requested reimbursement is typical for DEQ).  This project can now be closed as completed.   

 Cost 
Within Anticipated Limits Of Staff-

Hours Spent?
Project Status Time

Comments:  Conceptual - started power washing the TTP monthly to stay on top of cleaning for out riders. 

Comments:   General facility maintenance and response to facility help desk requests on-going:  completed all elevator repairs on the admin and maint. elevators; 

we received state match for employee parking lot repairs and will move forward first of 2021; continuing to work with planning on a shelter guidelines and a bus stop 

cleaning plan; painting still contiunes in the facility phase 1; working on a plan for the shop floors; Continue working on the SMS plan with safety; installing a new 

office cubical in HR the end of December; completed Admin building power washing and side walks; completed a full roof assessment. 

Comments:   Daily trash and cleaning maintenance 8-5.  Powerwashing occurs every Wednesday night starting at 1:30am (weather permitting).  Monthly power 

washing being completed every month at all 26 pulse staions;  Work continues.    

Comments:  Is off. 

Comments:  Received the final drawings and completed our IFB, waiting on the state match to proceed with a pre-bid meeting. 

Comments:   Staff will explore opportunity for transit center contact at shopping center.  Status - conceptional. 

Comments:  Geotechnical services were completed Nov. 29th and 30th. 

Comments:  Staff reviewing possible modifications to brick wing walls at Pulse Stations.  Staff to gain partner approvals before moving forward to COR processes. 

We have Baker working on this project currently.

6.0  PLANNING AND SCHEDULING 

6.1 Supplier Diversity 
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Operating Report – November 2020 

7.0  MARKETING 

7.1 GRTC Pulse Branding and Public Outreach 

• Twitter engagement continued on the Pulse account. The account now has 1,497 followers, up slightly from last month’s 1,495
followers.

• Facebook engagement continued on the Pulse page. This account now has 931 likes, up slightly from last month’s 927 likes.

7.2 Public Relations / Public Outreach / Media Inquiries 

• PR for annual Rosa Parks tribute distributed before Thanksgiving. Picked up by RTD, NBC12 and CBS6.

• Media inquiries about COVID-19 cases and GRTC’s ongoing response.

• Marketing supported internal and external communications on COVID-19.

7.3 Social Media (stats of December 1, 2020) 

• Instagram: 1,215 followers. (Up slightly from 1,213 followers last month)

• Twitter at 2,138 followers. (Up slightly from 2,133 followers last month)
HIGHLIGHTS: We were down on tweets, impressions, and mentions because of minimal events, but were up on profile visits and
followers. Most popular tweet was a Broad St detour alert required during pedestrian protestor activity near City Hall. (Reminder: we
only have a CSR in Radio to tweet service alerts currently during AM peak, so tweet activity is down during pandemic, as expected).
o Number of Tweets: 59 (down 22.4% from previous period)
o Number of Profile Visits: 1073 (up 273.9% from previous period)
o Number of Mentions: 27 (down 64.9% from previous period).
o Number of Tweet Impressions: 33,400 (down 2.1% from previous period).

• Facebook 3,405 “Likes”. (Up from 3,399 likes last month) Detailed stats below.
HIGHLIGHTS:  We were down across most metrics, which was expected without the typical Nov posts that generate lots of interest –
Marathon and Parade detours didn’t happen this year, nor did the Giving Heart bus volunteer effort.
o Post Reach (last 28 days): 6,546 (down 40% from previous period)
o Post Engagement (last 28 days): 695 (down 40% from previous period)
o Page Views (last 28 days): 266 (down 37% from previous period)
o This month video posts were again the most popular for reach (reaching an average of 3,731 people), and engagement (averaging

83 clicks per post). This is expected from the ongoing Operator recruitment videos.
o Responsiveness to customers (i.e. customer queries that we responded to): 90%. Response time: about 13 hours to respond to a

customer.

8.0  RIDEFINDERS 

8.1 Vanpool Program 

• Requested Vanpool listing from Commute with Enterprise

• Emailed Enterprise regarding exploring electric vehicle pilot program in the vanpool fleet.

• Enterprise (27) vanpools on the road, Time to Go (2) Total (29)

• K&K has 13 vanpools on the road and 37 vans parked

• RideEz has 18 vanpools on the road with 1 still parked. This includes one new van starting on Nov 12th a 7 passenger 8 riding DSCR
to Ft. Pickett.

• RideEz is talking with a group about starting a new vanpool from Chesterfield to Maryland currently only have 5 riders. Tony is giving
lead to K&K.

• Talking with vanpool providers about the # of vans on the road during the COVID-19 crisis to relay information back to senior
leadership ongoing

8.2 Marketing, Education & Awareness Communications 

• Registered for and attended Virginia Energy Efficiency Council’s Fall 2020 Forum.

• Program Manager was the grand prize winner of the EE Bingo game sponsored by the Virginia Energy Efficiency Council for the
excellent job of promoting energy savings on social media in real life settings. While pleased with the commendation, she
unfortunately, was unable to accept the prize

• Registered RideFinders to partner with Reforest Richmond to promote #ArborDayRVA. Richmond, along with other Tree City USA
communities, celebrates its own Arbor Day each year in late autumn. To celebrate this year’s ArborDayRVA, the City of Richmond is
distributing 10,000 free Eastern Redbud seedlings at citywide pickup sites.

• Wrote news story and promoted Jekeima Taylor’s prestigious Association for Commuter Transportation (ACT) 40 under 40 Award on
social media.

• Won Best Online/Social Media Marketing Campaign for the “Celebrate Earth Day, Every Day” Clean Air Campaign from the
Chesapeake Chapter of the Association for Commuter Transportation (ACT).

• Coordinated with Left Plus Right (website developer) to add website accessibility to www.ridefinders.com. ($490 annual subscription
investment)
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CURRENT PRIOR *INCREASE

MONTH YEAR DECREASE % 

Fixed Route

Local-Fixed Route 518,081 510,657 7,424 1.45%

Local-Pulse 110,338 186,588 (76,250) -40.87%

Subtotal Fixed Route 628,420 697,245 (68,825) -9.87%

Richmond Express 2,166 4,411 (2,245) -50.90%

Henrico Express 2,814 13,251 (10,437) -78.77%

Chesterfield Express 1,041 2,967 (1,926) -64.92%

Petersburg Express 922 1,600 (678) -42.39%

Kings Dominion Express 0 784 (784) -100.00%

Subtotal Express 6,942 23,013 (16,071) -69.83%

Total Fixed Route 635,362 720,258 (84,896) -11.79%

Specialized Transportation

CARE/CARE Plus 17,530 22,859 (5,329) -23.31%

CARE On-Demand 1,865 2,420 (555) -22.93%

Subtotal Specialized 19,395 25,279 (5,884) -23.28%

 TOTAL FIXED ROUTE / SPECIALIZED 654,757 745,537 (90,780) -12.18%

YTD INCREASE

DECREASE % 

Fixed Route

Local- Fixed Route 2,631,584 2,799,955 (168,371) -6.01%

Local- Pulse 576,225 999,487 (423,262) -42.35%

Subtotal Fixed Route 3,207,809 3,799,442 (591,633) -15.57%

Richmond Express 8,163 25,757 (17,594) -68.31%

Henrico Express 11,253 78,804 (67,551) -85.72%

Chesterfield Express 4,114 16,386 (12,272) -74.89%

Petersburg Express 4,766 9,155 (4,389) -47.94%

Kings Dominion Express 0 26,947 (26,947) -100.00%

Subtotal Express 28,296 157,049 (128,753) -81.98%

Total Fixed Route 3,236,105 3,956,491 (720,386) -18.21%

Specialized Transportation

CARE/CARE Plus 86,435 120,512 (34,077) -28.28%

CARE On-Demand 9,552 12,875 (3,323) -25.81%

Subtotal Specialized 95,987 133,387 (37,400) -28.04%

FIXED ROUTE / SPECIALIZED TOTAL 3,332,092 4,089,878 (757,786) -18.53%

Van Pool

Van Pool (YTD totals through October) 39,325 133,553 (94,228) -70.55%

TOTAL TRIPS 3,371,417 4,223,431 (852,014) -20.17%

INFORMATIONAL- Data reported using GFI

No GFI Data available due to Free Fares Implementation during COVID-19 Pandemic

Kings Dominion closed for the remainder of calendar year 2020 

November 2020 passenger trips not reflected, no vendor 

reported data by time of report.

GRTC TRANSIT SYSTEM

FITS REPORT November 2020
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date:  December 15, 2020 
Item Title:  Safety Performance 

BACKGROUND: 

Tony Carter, Director of Risk Management, will provide an update on safety statistics for the month 
of November. 

CURRENT STATUS: 

 November October 
Bus Contact with Fixed Object 3 7 
Damage to Outside Mirror of the Bus 5 5 
Passenger Accidents 7 4 
Collisions with Non-GRTC Vehicles 11 12 
Collisions Between GRTC Vehicles 2 1 

Preventable Accidents: 9 11 
Non-Preventable Accidents: 19 19 

Miles Between Total Accidents:    16,805   15,684 

Miles between Preventable Accidents:  52,282 42,776 

Internal Accident:   2 1 
External Accidents:  26  29 

Definitions: 

Bus Contact with Fixed Object:  A motor vehicle collision between our bus and a stationary 
object such as a pole, fire hydrant, etc. 

Passenger Accidents: Any accident involving a passenger’s slip, trip or fall while boarding, 
alighting or on board the bus. 

Preventable Accidents:  A motor vehicle collision or passenger trip, slip or fall, in which the 
Operator did not do everything reasonable to avoid a collision, committed an error or failed to 
react to the errors of others.  
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Non-Preventable Accident:  A motor vehicle collision in which the Operator committed no 
driving error and reacted reasonably to the error of others.  

Miles Between Total Accidents:  Total miles driven divided by number of accidents 

Miles between Preventable accidents: Total miles driven divided by number of Preventable 
Accidents 

Internal Accident:  Accident that took place on GRTC Bus Yard 

External Accidents: Accidents that did not take place on GRTC Property 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: January 2021 Service Changes 

BACKGROUND: 

In April 2020, GRTC management and staff came to the board with the recommendation to 
make service modifications to help facilitate social distancing at the onset of the pandemic. At 
this time GRTC analyzed ridership trends at the trip level to determine where resources could 
be shifted to alleviate capacity issues on certain routes. The changes that were implemented 
ensured coverage and access was maintained in all areas and was mindful of service equity. 
FTA guidelines during state of emergency do not require Title VI analysis, public comment, or 
board approval. However, GRTC was cognizant of any potential impacts to all populations 
associated with the changes and has kept the board and public informed.  

April 2020 Service Modifications: 

• Temporary discontinue route 39

• Temporary discontinue route 75

• Temporary discontinue route 28x

• Decrease frequency at peak from 15 to 30 minutes on routes 4A and 4B

• Decrease frequency at AM peak from 30 minutes to 60 minutes on route 78

• Operate select trips on the Express routes strategically using fixed route buses and
Spectran

UPDATE: 

Transit in the Richmond region has more and more proven to be an essential service. 
Ridership for weekday peaked at a decline of 30%. Since that point ridership has continued 
to rise as the governor has phased in re-opening for the state. Bus loads are continuing to 
increase. The current weekday total is down 14% compared to last November. As GRTC 
continues to evaluate the service demand with the service levels, we must be mindful of the 
current operator shortage. Due to this decrease in resources, due to retirement, sick leave, 
and COVID cases GRTC has had to miss trips on several routes over the last few months. In 
an effort to provide more reliable service for our customers, GRTC is recommending 
additional modifications to routes. GRTC has once again been mindful of access and 
coverage in all areas with the recommended changes and has been in communication with 
the jurisdictions about the continued and additional recommended modifications. 
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January 2021 Proposed Service Modifications: 

• 4A and 4B - Maintain 30-minute frequency at peak on weekday and reduce off peak
frequency from 30 minutes to 60 minutes. Decrease weekend frequency from 30
minute to 60 minute all day.

• 50, 76, 77 - Decrease frequency from 35 minutes to 40 minutes on weekday, Saturday
and Sunday.
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15,2020 
Item Title: Paratransit Vehicles 

BACKGROUND: 

In an effort to provide clean, safe and reliable transportation to GRTC’s customers in the Richmond 
region, staff evaluates the age and condition of its fleet to identify vehicles eligible for replacement.  
Part of this evaluation is the consideration of funding and future replacement opportunities.  There 
are 35 paratransit vehicles that will be eligible for replacement between now and February 2022.  
At this time staff would like to place an order for 35 Ford Starcraft Allstars with a staggered delivery 
timeline.   

HIGHLIGHTS: 

• The Virginia Division of Purchases and Supply (DPS) has a contract with Sonny Merryman, Inc.
(Contract # E194-79495) for a 15- Passenger, body-on-chassis, Ford Starcraft Allstar shuttle
bus that GRTC may utilize.

• The price for a 2020 Starcraft Allstar is $103,414 for a total cost of $3,619,490 for (35) vehicles.

• The price for the Starcraft Allstar includes a 12-month/12,000-mile basic warranty, covering
materials and defects, a five-year/75,000 mile body structure warranty and a five-year/150,000
mile powertrain warranty.

• Sonny Merryman, Inc. is certified by the Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity
as a small business.

• GRTC’s paratransit fleet is 100% CNG-powered.

• If approved, the Contractor will be given notice to produce 15 vehicles immediately, 12 more, 6
months after taking possession of the first 15 and 8 more vehicles after February 2022.

• Currently, the production lead time is 130 to 210 days.

• This purchase will be funded with federal, state and local funding as described below:

Source Federal 5307 (28%) State (68%) Local (4%) 

Grant # 2020-009 

Amount Funded $1,013,457 $2,461,253 $144,780 
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RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to issue a purchase order to Sonny Merryman, Inc. 
in the amount of $3,619,490 for the purchase of 35 CNG-powered paratransit vehicles. 

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title:  Fleet Cleaning & Disinfecting Services 

BACKGROUND: 

To provide safe and reliable service and protect GRTC employees and riders during the rapid spread of 
the coronavirus, GRTC staff began more frequent cleaning of the fleet in March 2020 with a goal of 
cleaning and disinfecting the entire fleet daily.  Existing staffing levels prevented GRTC from meeting this 
goal. In April 2020, contracted cleaning and disinfecting services were sought. At that time, staff utilized 
FTA’s simplified acquisition threshold for purchases valued up to $250,000 to purchase services and 
GRTC Board delegated authorization to the CEO and Board Chairman for approval of purchases up to 
$250,000.   

Original Building Services, Inc. (OBS) submitted the lowest quote for these services.  Initially, staff 
requested assistance from OBS from May 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 in the amount of $68,879.03. With 
the ongoing spread of the virus, the CEO and Board Chair authorized a change order in the amount of 
$123,187.50 to continue services through September 2020.   

With expected COVID surges in the Fall and Winter of 2020, with the expectation that a COVID-19 
vaccine would not be generally available until later in 2021, and with a commitment to a continue the 
higher level of cleaning and disinfecting post-COVID pandemic conditions, GRTC requested OBS 
continue the disinfecting services through January 2021 until an open RFP for these services could be 
completed and a recommended vendor brought to the Board for consideration and approval.  OBS 
contract from March 2020 through January 2021 includes: 

• Heightened vehicle cleaning services include sweeping, mopping, window cleaning, disinfecting, and
sanitizing of handrails, straps, seats, floors, walls, wheelchair restraint straps, steering wheels and
dashboards of the interior of GRTC’s entire fleet daily.

• All labor necessary to complete the services daily with GRTC provided supplies.

• An additional cost to continue services from October 2020 through January 2021 of $164,250
($41,063 monthly) with a total contract value of $356,317.

OBS is certified as a SWaM and MBE by the Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier 
Diversity.  This purchase is completely funded through Federal CARES Act funding. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors ratify the contract amendment to Original Building Service for fleet cleaning 
and disinfecting services in the amount of $164,250 bringing the total OBS vehicle cleaning contract 
value to $356,317.  

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 

36



GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title:  Facility Janitorial Services 

BACKGROUND: 

In January 2020 the Board of Directors authorized the CEO to enter a one-year agreement with 
Original Building Service, Inc. (OBS) in the amount of $91,398 for facility janitorial services.  The 
base term ends January 31, 2021.  The agreement is comprised of a 1-year base term and four 
(4) options to renew at prices previously negotiated.  Staff is pleased with OBS’ performance
and recommends exercising the first option to renew and requests authority to approve the
remainder of the renewal options annually should OBS’ performance continue to meet
expectations.

HIGHLIGHTS: 

▪ The contractor is required to provide all equipment, materials, tools, supplies and chemicals.
These include, but are not limited to, items such as scrubbing machines, floor buffers,
vacuum cleaners, mops, brooms, rags, cleaning agents, trashcan liners, paper products,
and hand soaps.

▪ Because GRTC’s operations and maintenance facility is LEED certified, all cleaning agents
and paper products must be Green Seal certified or recognized by the U.S. EPAs Design for
the Environment Program, when possible.

▪ Option Years 1 thru 4 will remain at a firm fixed price of $91,398 for a total contract value of
$456,990.  The agreement includes the following optional services to be provided on an as-
needed basis.

Routine, Non-Emergency 
Response Time 

$12.00/hr. 

Emergency Response Time $12.00/hr. 

Stripping and Waxing of Office 
Floor or Area Space 

$0.08/sq ft. 

Shampoo of Office or Area 
Carpet 

$0.12/sq ft 

Cleaning Prior and After 
Special Office Events or 
Activities 

$12.00/hr. 

▪ OBS is certified by the Virginia Department of Small Business and Supplier Diversity as
a SWaM and MBE.

▪ This contract will be funded completely from the operating budget.
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RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors authorizes the CEO to exercise each option year at her discretion 
following an annual clean assessment of performance and cost at an estimated remaining 
expenditure of $365,592. 

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: First Transit’s Agency Safety Plan 

BACKGROUND: 

In July, GRTC presented to the Board an overview of our Agency Safety Plan, which 
was mandated by the FTA.  A part of that process includes the Agency Safety Plan for 
First Transit.  First Transit is a major contractor for GRTC and must adhere to some of 
the same safety regulations.  GRTC is responsible for ensuring that the services that we 
contract are safe and that the contractor’s actions are in compliance with all regulatory 
safety requirements.  

HIGHLIGHTS: 

First Transit’s established safety policy indicates that they will not perform any service 
unless it can be done so safely for their employees, their passengers, and the public. 
Through this process, they follow the Safety Management System, which means that 
they have an established process for hazard identification and evaluation using a risk 
matrix to gauge the severity of the hazard and to determine the level of priority to 
mitigate the risk. Claims Consultant, Monica Carter, will be presenting an overview of 
First Transit’s Agency Safety Plan.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

The recommendation is that GRTC’s Board of Directors approve First Transit’s Agency 
Safety Plan.  

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 
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First Transit Agency Safety Plan 

1. Transit Agency Information - CORPORATE

Transit Agency Name First Transit 

Transit Agency 
Corporate Address 

600 Vine Street, Ste. 1400 Cincinnati, Ohio, U.S. 45202 

Name and Title of 
Corporate 
Accountable 
Executive 

David Perez, Vice President of Safety – First Transit 

Name of Corporate 
Chief Safety Officer 

Paul Meredith, Senior Director of Safety 

Mode(s) of Service 
Covered by This Plan 

Transit Bus 
List All FTA Funding 
Types (e.g., 5307, 5310, 
5311) 

Mode(s) of Service 
Provided by the 
Transit Agency 
(Directly operated or 
contracted service) 

First Transit is a business unit of First Group America, the U.S. based North 
American Operating Unit of FirstGroup plc (First Group), a United Kingdom-based 
passenger transportation company. First Group is the U.K.’s largest bus operator, 
with a fleet of more than 9,000 vehicles, and also one of the U.K.’s leading train 
operators. 

First Transit services the U.S. transportation industry through two unique service 
approaches: Transit Contracting, and Transit Management. With these two 
service approaches, First Transit has participated on assignments of all types, 
sizes and scopes throughout the world. 

Transit Contracting provides the design, implementation and operation of 
flexible, cost-effective transportation systems throughout the United States. 
Transit Contracting provides a turnkey or tailored service approach that supplies 
all or most components of operations including equipment, facilities, staffing, 
management and so forth. Such operational experience encompasses dial-a-ride, 
shared-ride taxi, services for the elderly and persons with disablies, airport 
shuttle, commuter express, and fixed route service. 

Transit Management Services provides resident teams to manage public transit 
systems in various locations throughout the United States. Our approach to 
excellence combined with our teams’ experience has yielded unmatched 
operating results and awards in the industry. 

First Transit offers a unique six-part approach to our Safety Management 
System (SMS) 

• Location Management Team (General Manager, Safety Manager)
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• Region Staff (Region Safety Manager, Region Safety Director, Region
Maintenance Director & Region Vice President)

• Senior Director of Safety

• Vice President of Safety

• Vice President of Maintenance

• President

A Resident Management Team is assigned to each location consisting of, in 
part, a Location General Manager (LGM) and a Location Safety Manager (LSM). 

• The LGM participates fully with the client to ensure the operation is
running effectively and acts as mediator when safety related problems
arise. The LGM is also responsible for ensuring implementation of the
National Safety Program.

• The LSM routinely is in contact with the operation and is responsible for
ensuring their locations have the current safety programs in place; auditing
local safety efforts; reviewing all accident and injury claims; reviewing
performance statistics; and coordinating corporate assets to address
specific deficiencies found on the local level.

Our Region Staff consists of a Region Safety Manager, Region Safety Director, 
Region Maintenance Director, Region Director of Operations, Region Vice 
Presidents. 

• The Region Maintenance Director, The Region Direcotor of Operations
and Region Vice Presidents are responsible for the oversight of all First
Transit locations within the region.  They provide direction and assistance
to location managers, including P&L, budgets, and personnel.

• The Region Safety Manager and Region Safety Director ensures
management services are provided according to local governing board
policies, as well as maintaining quality and client satisfaction, and their
locations have the current safety programs in place.

The Vice President of Safety provides oversight for each individual region of 
First Transit.  This person works with each Region Safety Manager and Region 
Director of Safety to ensure First Transit is in compliance with all FTA and DOT 
regulations. 

The Vice President of Maintenance provides technical assistance, training, and 
“best practices” information to all of First Transit’s managed systems.   

The President of First Transit works closely with the Vice President of Safety - 
First Transit and Vice President of Maintenance.  All safety processes are 
reviewed and approved before any decision regarding safety is approved.   

Does the agency 
provide transit 
services on behalf of 
another transit agency 
or entity? 

Yes 
X 

No Description of 
Arrangement(s) 

FGA operates 335 contracts throughout 
North America to provide fixed-route and 
paratransit public bus service for state 
transportation departments and 
administrations; transit agencies; and 
universities. 
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Name and Address of 
Transit Agency(ies) or 
Entity(ies) for Which 
Service Is Provided 

Greater Richmond Transit Company 
301 E. Belt Blvd. 
Richmond, VA 23224 

2. Transit Agency Information – OPERATING LOCATION SPECIFIC 

Transit Agency Name First Transit - 55870 

Operating Location 
Address 

301 E. Belt Blvd. 
Richmond, VA 23224 

Name and Title of 
Accountable 
Executive 
(Meets FTA § 673.5 
and § 673.23(d)(1) – 
Accountable Executive 
definition) 

General Manager: Buddy Scherer 

Name of Chief Safety 
Officer 
(Meets FTA § 673.5 
and § 673.23(d)(2) - 
Chief Safety Officer 
definition) 

Location Safety Manager: Mia Bailey 

Mode(s) of Service 
Covered by This Plan 

☐ Fixed-Route 

☒ Para-Transit 

☐ Deviated Fixed-Route 

☐ Demand-Response 

List All FTA Funding 
Types (e.g., 5307, 5310, 

5311) 

☐ 5307 

☐ 5310 

☐ 5311 

☐ Other, Please describe 

Click or tap here to enter 

text. 

Mode(s) of Service 
Provided by the 
Operating Location 
(Directly operated or 
contracted service) 

Fleet Description: 

10 passenger Paratransit vehicles used to transport customers 

Service Description: 

Non emergency medical transporation  
 
 
 
 
 

Does the agency 
provide transit 
services on behalf of 
another transit agency 
or entity? 

Yes 

☒ 

No 

☐ 
Description of 
Arrangement(s) 

Length of Contract: 4 years, 3 single 
year provisions 
 
Equipment/Facilities Provided by 
Contract: 

☒ Buses 
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☒ Maintenance Equipment 

☒ Facilities 

Equipment/Facitlities Provided by First 
Transit: 

☐Buses 

☐ Maintenance Equipment 

☐ Facilities 

Name and Address of 
Transit Agency(ies) or 
Entity(ies) for Which 
Service Is Provided 

Name of Entity Service for which service is being provided: 

Greater Richmond Transit Company 

Contact Information for Entity: 

(804) 358-3871 

3. Plan Development, Approval, and Updates  

This Agency Safety Plan addresses all applicable requirements and standards as set forth in FTA’s 
Public Transportation Safety Program and the National Public Transportation Safety Plan. 

Name of Entity That 
Drafted This Plan 
(Location Code) 

First Transit Location Code:  
55870 

Signature by the 
Location Accountable 
Executive 
(Location General 
Manager) 

Signature of Location Accountable 
Executive 

Date of Signature 

 

Click or tap to enter a date. 

Approval by the Board 
of Directors or an 
Equivalent Authority 
(Local Contract 
Authority) 

Name of Individual/Entity That Approved 
This Plan 

Date of Approval 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap to enter a date. 

Relevant Documentation (title and location) 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Certification of 
Compliance 
 

Name of Individual/Entity That Certified 
This Plan 

Date of Certification 

Client Approver: 

Click or tap here to enter text. Click or tap to enter a date. 

Relevant Documentation (title and location) (First Transit Safety Plan and 
other Client Documentation) 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Version Number and Updates 
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Record the complete history of successive versions of this plan. 

Version 
Number 

Section/Pages 
Affected 

Reason for Change Date Issued 

Original 
All pages are original 
version 

First Official version of Safety Plan May 2019 

Update All pages FTA recommendations incorporated March 2020 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Annual Review and Update of the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan 

Describe the process and timeline for conducting an annual review and update of the Public Transportation 

Agency Safety Plan. 

At First Transit, review of safety practices is an ongoing process, not one limited to scheduled reviews. As 
policies/procedures and training techniques change throughout the year they are updated and 
communicated throughout the organization. All changes are reviewed and approved by the Senior Director 
of Safety and the Vice President of Safety – First Transit. 
 
Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, First Transit’s Safety Plan is reviewed by Executive management 
and revised based on the safety data collected and analyzed, and changes to policies and procedures made 
throughout the year. The revised plan is then disseminated to all First Transit locations for implementation. 

4. Safety Performance Targets 

Safety Performance Targets 

Specify performance targets based on the safety performance measures established under the National Public 

Transportation Safety Plan. 

Mode of 
Transit 
Service 

Fatalities 
(Total) 

Fatalities 
(per 100K 

VRM) 

Injuries 
(Total) 

Injuries 
(per 100K 

VRM) 

Safety 
Events 
(Total) 

Safety 
Events 

(per 100K 
VRM) 

System 
Reliability 

(Total) 

System 
Reliability 
(per 100K 

VRM) 

Other 
(Client 

Required, if 
any) 

Fixed-
Route 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here to 

enter text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here to 

enter text. 

Click or 

tap here to 

enter text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Para-
Transit 

0 
0 

Staff: 0 
0 

24 
12 Click or 

tap here 

Click or 

tap here 
Click 

or tap 
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Employee: 
2 
Customer: 
3 

to enter 

text. 

to enter 

text. 
here to 

enter 

text. 

Deviated 
Fixed-
Route 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here to 

enter text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click 

or tap 

here to 

enter 

text. 

Demand 
Response 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here to 

enter text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click or 

tap here 

to enter 

text. 

Click 

or tap 

here to 

enter 

text. 

 

Safety Performance Target Coordination 

Describe the coordination with the State and Metropolitan Planning Organization(s) (MPO) in the selection of 
State and MPO safety performance targets. 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Targets 
Transmitted to 
the State 

State Entity Name 
Date Targets 
Transmitted 

State Entity which receives performance numbers: 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
Click or tap to enter 

a date. 

Targets 
Transmitted to 
the Metropolitan 
Planning 
Organization(s)
  

Metropolitan Planning Organization Name 
Date Targets 
Transmitted 

MPO which receives performance numbers: 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
Click or tap to enter 

a date. 

MPO which receives performance numbers: 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
Click or tap to enter 

a date. 

5.  Safety Management Policy 

Safety Management Policy Statement 

Include the written statement of safety management policy, incorporating safety objectives. 

At First Transit, safety is more than a policy statement. Management believes that working safely promotes 
quality, productivity, and profitability. Prevention of collisions and personal injuries is of critical importance to 
everyone. Management is committed to providing a safe workplace, the proper training, protective 
equipment, and a work environment conducive to safe practices and policies. 
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All employees are required to perform their duties safely and with concern for the safety of our passengers, 
other employees and the public. First Transit will not perform any service, nor transport or use a 
product, unless it can be done safely. 
 
First Transit employs a company-wide safety concept, “BeSafe”. The main purpose of BeSafe is to reduce 
collisions and injuries by increasing the communications between employees and managers about safety 
related issues. As part of this process, employees of all levels are encouraged to initiate reports of any near 
miss, route and security hazards, or any unsafe condition. When a report about a safety or security concern 
is filed, it is investigated, which includes follow-up with the reporting employee regarding the resolution of the 
report. 
 
First Transit will not retaliate against nor impose any other form of retribution on any employee because of 
his or her good faith reporting of a safety issue/concern, another person’s suspected violation of Company 
policies or guidelines, or any alleged violations of federal, state or local laws. 
 
To ensure that each employee understands and performs their job functions in the BeSafe manner, the 
BeSafe Handbook, is issued to each employee and sized to fit in the safety lanyard or vest, which each 
employee must wear while on duty. 
 
The BeSafe Principles provide the basic truths and fundamentals about working safely in our workplace 
and on our vehicles. All First Transit employees are expected to adopt these principles and put them into 
practice. Together a safe work environment is created, free from injury to each other and our passengers. 
 
The motto for the BeSafe Principles is: “Think Safe, Act Safe, BeSafe.” This motto is each employee’s 
instruction to work safely at all times. 
 
If an employee feels they cannot perform a task safely, they don’t perform the task. The employee has 
been trained and encouraged to stop work and immediately advise management of issues preventing them 
from working safely and what would be required to perform the task safely. 
 
The BeSafe Principles include: 

• Prevent injury to myself and others. 
o Be aware of any hazardous condition or practice that may cause injury to people, damage to 

property, or the environment.  
o Use the BeSafe Handbook to record and report. 

• Perform all necessary safety checks and risk assessments of the work area and job to be 
performed before any work begins. 

o Speak to management before work is started if unsure of the required safety and risk 
assessments. 

• Follow all safety procedures, signs and instructions. 
o If these are not understood, speak to management before work begins. 

• Keep work area clean and tidy at all times. 
o Untidy areas could cause injury to the employee or their colleagues and waste time and 

energy. 

• Wear protective clothing and equipment (PPE) as required. 
o Keep PPE in good working order, wear it correctly and ask for a replacement if it becomes 

damaged or unfit for use. 

• Use only the correct tools and equipment authorized and trained to use for the job. 
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o Check that they are in good condition before use and use them safely. 

• Only adjust and repair any piece of work equipment trained on and authorized to do so. 
o Never modify any equipment that changes the designed use of the equipment or alters a 

safety feature. 

• Assess any load and capability to move it before lifting. 
o Get help with any heavy or awkward items and follow the correct lifting techniques. 

• Report all injuries, incidents and near misses to management. 
o Seek help immediately and first aid (if necessary). 

• Tell management of any suggestions to prevent injuries in the workplace 
o Note suggestions made and discuss with management. 

The official policy that reflects First Transit’s commitment to safety is included as Appendix A. 

Safety Management Policy Communication 

Describe how the safety management policy is communicated throughout the agency’s organization.  

Include dates where applicable. 

Communication of Local Safety Concerns 
 
The Location Safety Manager is at the center of the local safety communication process and is responsible 
for compiling safety reports to include the following: 

• Accident and injury data for previous month 

• Security incident data 

• Safety and security audit data and recommendations 

• Safety Solutions Team (SST) meeting minutes 

• BeSafe near miss and hazard reporting 
 
This person reports directly to the Location General Manager (LGM) and routinely meets formally with the 
LGM, one-on-one, to provide updates on safety issues, safety priorities, and hazard management. The 
Location Safety Manager (LSM) also meets informally with the LGM to provide updates on safety issues on 
an as-needed basis. 
 
The Location Safety Manager also participates in the Safety Solutions Team (SST) meetings to discuss 
safety priorities, safety issues, and hazard management, and to communicate safety-related information 
across all departments. 

• The LSM and the LGM have the authority to correct or suspend work for conditions determined to be 
unsafe, or pose a hazard to customers, employees, contractor employees, the general public, or 
endangers the safe passage of vehicles, until the unsafe condition or hazard can be mitigated or 
corrected. 

 
The Region Safety Managers also conduct regular internal reviews of local operations. They are to ensure 
that each location is audited at least every two to three years, with high risk locations audited annually for 
compliance using the risk-based Location Safety Review.  
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Location Safety Review 

Category Description 

Scope of Safety Reviews 

First Transit locations are selected based upon risk-
based criterion. Individual locations receive a review 
every 2-3 years 

Risk-Based Selection Criterion 

Locations selected based on declining 3-year reviews; 
sites with new location managers; high collision/injury 
Accident Frequency Rate (AFR); prior year failing 
score  

Review Format 

More narrow and focused audit template which 
includes a balance of compliance assurance as well 
as location-specific risks and safety performance.  

Findings and Follow-Up 

Action plans are developed in conjunction with 
location staff and use a red/yellow/blue/green method 
to prioritize.  All action items are entered, and 
incomplete action items are tracked within the Safety 
Toolbox. 

 
 

Strong 

Highly Effective 

Some Improvement Needed 

Much Improvement Needed 

Escalation Process 

Items requiring escalation to Senior Director of 
Safety/Vice President of Safety – First Transit remain 
intact. Through the use of Safety Toolbox, unresolved 
actions are designed to escalate to the Location 
General Manager/Region Safety Manager. 

Visibility 

Review results and action items are routinely shared 
with the Location General Manager/Region Safety 
Manager/Executive Management. This is augmented 
by the escalation process for unresolved action items 
as noted above. 
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Corporate Communication of Safety Concerns 
 
Executive Safety Meetings are routinely held where each department discusses their concerns and progress 
in the area of safety and safety related concerns. Recommendations are considered, and necessary 
changes implemented. All complaints by departments are addressed immediately.    
 
Minutes from the Executive Safety meeting are distributed to and posted at each location. Action items are 
addressed at the following meeting. 
 
Executive safety meetings are conducted in the following formats. 
First Group Executive Safety Committee (ESC) 

• Consists of President, COO, and Safety Vice President of each operating group 

• Discussions include safety performance, trend analysis, program oversight 

First Group Safety Council 

• Consists of Vice Presidents of Safety for all operating divisions 

• Discussions include safety performance, trend analysis, and safety oversight 

First Group America Safety Council 

• Consists of Safety Senior Directors and Safety Vice Presidents 

• Discussions include safety performance, trend analysis, best practices, and program oversight 

Performance Review Management (PRM) 

• Consists of Senior Region Vice Presidents, Region Vice Presidents, Region Directors of Operations, 
Region Director of Maintenance, Region Directors of Safety and Region Safety Managers 

• Discussions include regions safety performance 

Safety Advisory Committee 

• Consists of a sampling of Location General Managers, Region Directors of Operations, Region 
Safety Directors and Region and Local Safety Managers 

• Discussions include review of policy and procedures, training, and safety awareness 
 

 

Authorities, Accountabilities, and Responsibilities 

Describe the authorities, accountabilities, and responsibilities of the following individuals for the development 

and management of the transit agency’s Safety Management System (SMS). 

Accountable Executive 
(Same as Section 2. - Transit 
Agency Information – OPERATING 
LOCATION SPECIFIC) 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Chief Safety Officer or SMS 
Executive 
(Same as Section 2. - Transit 
Agency Information – OPERATING 
LOCATION SPECIFIC) 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Agency Leadership and 
Executive Management 

Resident Management Team: 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
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Key Staff 

Region Staff: 

Region Safety Manager: John Scheffler 

Region Safety Director: Daniel Kelly 

Region Maintenance Director: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Region Director of Operations: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Region Vice President: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Region Vice President: Click or tap here to enter text. 

Region Vice President: Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Additional 
Accountability 

(Local Staff 
Responsibility) 

Use the following Safety Responsibility and Task Matrix assign safety responsibilities 
for the tasks listed.  If tasks are performed at a specific location that is not listed in the 
Matrix, add it. 

Check the appropriate box for the responsible position then name the person responsible 
in the last column. 

AE: Accountable Executive 

CSO: Chief Safety Officer 

OPS: Operations 

MNT: Maintenance 

HR: Human Resources 

AL: Agency Leadership 

KS: Key Staff 
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Safety Responsibility and Task Matrix 
 

Responsibilities 
and Tasks 

AE CSO OPS MNT HR OTHER 
Responsible 

Personnel 

Establish annual 
safety objectives for 
submission to the 
GM at the beginning 
of each fiscal year 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS: ☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Submit a report on 
the safety 
performance at the 
end of each fiscal 
period 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Submit the following: 
period operations 
and safety data; 
accident and incident 
reports; and site 
safety review results 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey 

The LGM or their 
designee has the 
authority to direct that 
work or conditions 
have been 
determined to be 
unsafe or pose a 
hazard to customers, 
employees, 
contractor 
employees, the 
general public, or 
endangers the safe 
passage of buses be 
suspended or 
restricted until the 
unsafe condition or 
hazard can be 
mitigated or 
corrected 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey or 
designee 

Management of 
system safety, 
occupational health 
and safety, accident 
and incident 
investigation, 
environmental 
protection and 
monitoring the 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey 
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implementation of the 
Safety Management 
System (SMS) 
Program Plan 

Review of all safety 
aspects of 
departmental 
procedures including: 
First Transit 
policies/instructions; 
Standard Operating 
Procedures; HR 
policies; safety and 
health policies 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

Buddy 
Scherer and 
Mia Bailey 

SMS Review and 
Modification 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

Buddy 
Scherer and 
Mia Bailey 

Safety Solutions 
Team Meetings 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey 

Daily Safety & Health 
Walkthrough 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

Safety 
Trainer 

Safety related reports 
to external agencies 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Near miss and route 
hazard report 
investigations 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey 
and Safety 
Trainer 

Investigation of 
safety related trends 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

Mia Bailey 
and Safety 
Trainer 

Coordination with 
United States and 
State Departments of 
Labor and 
Occupational Safety 
and Health 
Administration 
(OSHA) 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Environmental 
Management 
Oversight 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 

Hazard Management 
Process 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 
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Managing Safety 
Validation of Change 
Process 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Buddy 
Scherer 

Safety Data 
Reporting 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Investigations ☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Advise to update 
SOPs, Rules, and 
Emergency Plans 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Buddy 
Scherer 

Emergency 
Response 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Buddy 
Scherer and 
Mia Bailey 

Fire Protection ☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Shop Safety 
Hazardous Tools 
Inspections 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 

Review Vehicle 
Maintenance and 
Failure Data  

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 

Perform Vehicle 
Maintenance 
Inspections/Audits 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 

Training, 
Certification, Review, 
and Audit 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Personal Protective 
Equipment Review 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Hazardous Materials 
Management 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Click or tap 

here to enter 

text. 

Drug and Alcohol 
Abuse Program 

☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☒ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Mia Bailey 

Procurement ☐ ☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☒ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

AL:☐ 

 

KS:☐ 

Buddy 
Scherer 
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Employee Safety Reporting Program 

Describe the process and protections for employees to report safety conditions to senior management.  
Describe employee behaviors that may result in disciplinary action (and therefore, are excluded from 
protection). 

First Transit is committed to conducting business with honesty and integrity. Employees are encouraged to 
speak up and raise questions and concerns promptly about any situation that may violate our safety 
protocols, policies and procedures, the laws, rules, and regulations that govern our business operations. 
 
Employees are expected to tell others when witnessing 
unsafe work practices or conditions. When employees are 
not comfortable discussing these unsafe conditions with 
fellow employees, they are encouraged to discuss the 
situation with management or report it in writing.  
 
However, where the matter is more serious, or the employee 
feels that management has not addressed the concern, or 
they are not comfortable reporting to their immediate 
manager, they can report it to the next level manager, or the 
Region Safety Manager or Human Resources Manager.  
Employees may also directly file a written or verbal 
complaint by calling the confidential Ethics and Compliance 
Toll-free Hotline at 1.877.3CALLFG, (1.877.322.5534); 
contacting the Hotline intake site at 
ethicsfirst.ethicspoint.com; or emailing 
Compliance@firstgroup.com.  
 
Retaliation against anyone who, in good faith, reports 
observations of unsafe or illegal activities; or who 
cooperates in any investigation of such report, is strictly prohibited and is not tolerated, regardless 
of the outcome of the complaint.  
 
In other words, employees are protected for speaking up in good faith under this Policy. Any manager, or co-
worker who retaliates against a complaining employee or anyone involved in an investigation of a complaint 
is subject to discipline and/or termination.   
 
Managers are charged with assuring that they and their staff comply with the whistleblower protections and 
that no retaliation occurs because of a reported safety related issue. 
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Reporting Options 
 
At First Transit reporting unsafe practices, policy violations, 
violations of the law, etc. is encouraged, and in some 
instances required, of all employees.  The primary goal is to 
be able to identify areas where risk of injury to personnel or 
customers, or destruction of property may exist; and 
develop measures to mitigate those risks.   
 
Unless the employee’s action or in-action is egregious, 
disciplinary action is not warranted. 
 
Employees that fail to report mandatory items, such as: 

• Failure to report defective equipment 

• Failure to report a safety hazard 

• Failure to procure necessary information for an 
accident report or 

• Submitting an inaccurate or incomplete report 

that could lead to serious harm, are subjected to the 
disciplinary process describe later in this section. 
 
Employees are encouraged to report: 
 

Near Miss and Hazard Reporting 
In the interest of employee and passenger safety, each First 
Transit employee is issued a “Near Miss and Hazard 
Reporting” pad for documenting and reporting safety, route, 
and security concerns; and is encouraged to report any near miss incidents and hazards. 
 
If an employee is involved in a near miss or determines something they see to be a hazard, we ask for their 
help in reporting the event so we all may learn the lessons from it and perhaps prevent a collision or injury 
from occurring in the future. 

Near miss: An event you witnessed where no harm was caused, but there was the potential to cause injury 
or ill health; a dangerous occurrence 

Hazard: Anything that may cause harm in the near future 

If the safety or security hazard requires immediate attention, dispatch is notified immediately. If immediate 
attention is not required, the employee is encouraged to submit the information to management by the end 
of their workday.  Our managers then initiate conversations with employees about their observations of both 
safe and unsafe behaviors.  
 
The employee’s contribution to the cause of the injury or collision is considered in disciplinary action, up to 
and including termination. If after analysis it has been determined that the incident resulted from an overt 
decision, disciplinary action is indicated. If not, then the appropriate counseling and/or training is indicated. 
 
SOP #806 – Near Miss & Hazard Reporting describes the reporting process 
 

Threatening or Suspicious Activity 
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First Transit encourages anyone who sees, hears, or learns of any conduct or statement that seems 
threatening or suspicious, and/or any weapons on company premises or in company vehicles, to 
immediately report such conduct or statement, either to his/her Supervisor or Manager, to the Human 
Resources Department, FirstGroup America Security, and/or to the confidential Ethics and Compliance 
Hotline at 1.877.3CALLFG, (1.877.322.5534), contact the Hotline intake site at ethicsfirst.ethicspoint.com, or 
email Compliance@firstgroup.com.  

If there is an immediate risk or imminent threat of violence, serious harm, or life-threatening conduct, 
employees should immediately call 911, local police, or other law enforcement. 
 

Duty to Report Wrongdoing 

First Transit is committed to investigating all good faith claims of wrongdoing so that corrective action may 
be taken. To that purpose, First Transit encourages any employee, contractor or vendor to report 
wrongdoing or illegal acts to location management so long as they are not believed to be involved in the 
fraud, waste or abuse being reported. Management within First Transit ensures the matter is reported to 
Group Security and First Transit will investigate and take appropriate steps to correct the wrongdoing or 
potential violation. 

Alternatively, reports may be made anonymously using the FGA Ethics & Compliance line at 
1.877.3CALLFG, (1.877.322.5534) or by emailing Compliance@firstgroup.com. You may also contact the 
Healthcare Compliance Officer directly. 

Self-Reporting 

Self-reporting is also encouraged. Anyone who reports his/her own violation will receive due consideration 
regarding disciplinary action that may be taken. 

 
Open-Door Policy 

A workplace where employees are treated with respect and one that is responsive to their concerns is 
important to each of us. At First Transit, we recognize that employees may have suggestions for improving 
our workplace, as well as complaints about the workplace. We feel that the most satisfactory solution to a 
job-related problem or concern is usually reached through a prompt discussion with an employee's manager. 
Each employee is encouraged to do so. 

If the matter cannot be resolved with one’s immediate manager, the employee may: 

• Speak with their Location General Manager or Region Safety Manager who will attempt to facilitate a 
solution.  

• If an employee is unable to resolve the matter through the management chain of command in their 
location, the employee may choose to speak directly to anyone in division management or Human 
Resources. 

First Transit’s Open-Door Policy also allows employees to voice their concerns anonymously.  

• If an employee would like to submit an anonymous concern, they may contact the Ethics and 
Compliance Toll-free Hotline at 1.877.3CALLFG, (1.877.322.5534), contacting the Hotline intake site 
at ethicsfirst.ethicspoint.com, or emailing Compliance@firstgroup.com.  

This Open-Door Policy applies to every employee not covered by a collective bargaining agreement. It also 
extends to contractors and subcontractors. 

In situations involving discrimination or harassment, employees should follow the Complaint Procedure 
described in the Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation Reporting Procedure section of their First 
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Transit Employee Handbook without fear of reprisal and should not follow this Open-Door Policy complaint 
process. 

In situations requiring immediate attention, an employee may bypass the chain of command, which begins 
with his or her manager, and contact any level of management or Human Resources directly, without fear of 
reprisal, and without the need to follow this Open-Door Policy complaint process. 

• This may be done in person, by direct contact, phone call, letter, or email message or by utilizing the
Ethics and Compliance Hotline. The Ethics and Compliance Hotline can be reached by calling
1.877.3CALLFG, (1.877.322.5534) or emailing Compliance@firstgroup.com.

Employees are REQUIRED to report the following.  Failure to do so WILL lead to disciplinary action. 

Accidents/Incidents 

First Transit finds accidents and incidents to be a very serious matter and a valuable learning opportunity to 
improve safety. SOP #700 – Accident & Safety Data Acquisition and Reporting, and the supporting 
SOP’s, 700a – Auto and General Liability Claim Form; 700b – Courtesy Card; 700c – Operator 
Incident Report; ensure that the appropriate actions happen at the scene for the safety and security of First 
Transit passengers and employees; and that the appropriate data is collected to evaluate the incident, 
determine culpability; and develop actions to limit or eliminate the possibility of the incident occurring in the 
future. 

Accidents 

Accidents are considered to be any collision that occurs while an Operator is on duty. Operators are to 
report all accidents and collisions to Dispatch immediately upon occurrence. When reporting to Dispatch, the 
employee must state that he or she is reporting an accident and then answer any questions asked by 
Dispatch. 

Additionally, SOP #700c – Operator Incident Report and SOP #700a – Auto & General Liability Claim 
Form, must be completed by the Operator involved and location management for accidents, possible claims 
of accidents, damage to equipment, injury and possible injury not later than one hour after completion of shift 
on the day of occurrence. Any vehicle defects that may have contributed to an accident shall be included in 
the report. To help ensure that this deadline is met, employees are paid to complete the form. 

Employees who fail to report an accident may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. 

Employees must provide transit management with any additional accident information immediately upon 
request. 

Incidents 

Incidents with passengers involving slips and falls on or near the vehicle, fights, police action, or removal of 
a passenger, must be reported to Dispatch immediately; and require a SOP #700a – Auto & General 
Liability Claim Form to be completed by management before going off duty for the workday. 

All other incidents and occurrences out of the norm, no matter how slight, are to be reported to Dispatch 
upon return to the yard. 

The following are examples of incidents that must be reported: 

• Broken or cracked windows from unknown causes,

• Cut seats,

• Service delays,

• Passing up passengers,
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• Insufficient or excessive running time in schedule,  

• Overloads, etc.  

If in doubt, immediately contact Dispatch. 

Operators Witnessing an Accident shall notify Dispatch immediately, even though their vehicle may not be 
involved. 

Required Courtesy Cards 

In the event of an accident or an incident, Operators must distribute SOP #700b – Courtesy Cards then 
retrieve as many as possible from passengers and persons in the immediate area of the accident or incident 
who may have witnessed the event.   

Duty to Report Law Enforcement Actions 

Employees are required to report any arrests, indictments or convictions to their immediate manager or 
Human Resources immediately, but no later than prior to the next scheduled work shift, to the extent 
permitted by applicable law. If the circumstances and the offense charged, in our judgment, present a 
potential risk to the safety and/or security of our customers, employees, premises and/or property, such 
events may result in disciplinary or other appropriate action to the extent permitted by applicable law. 

Operators and safety sensitive employees are required to report all Driving Under the Influence (DUI) or 
Driving While Intoxicated (DWI) related charges, vehicular collisions, and any moving violation citations 
received in any vehicle immediately if possible, but no later than prior to their next scheduled work shift, 
consistent with applicable law. 
 
Possible Disciplinary Actions 

First Transit uses a tiered approach to determine possible disciplinary actions. Infractions that lead to 
disciplinary action are categorized into four categories; 

• Class 1 – Dischargeable Offenses, the most serious and unacceptable behavior 

• Class 2 – Serious violations of the First Transit performance code 

• Class 3 – Secondary violations of the First Transit performance code 

• Class 4 – Lesser violations of the First Transit performance code that may result in disciplinary action 
depending on the circumstances or repeated violations 

 
Examples of Class 1 Dischargeable Offenses include: 

• Convictions and imprisonment for such offenses as DUI, DWI, child abuse, etc. 

• Safety; some offenses are of such a serious nature that termination is appropriate for the first 
offense. Those include but are not limited to: 

o Failure to properly secure mobility devices 
o Cell phone use while operating a company vehicle 
o Striking a pedestrian 
o Colliding into the rear of another vehicle or stationary object 
o Running a red light or stop sign 
o Entering a railroad crossing when the lights are flashing 

• Violation of the Drug & Alcohol Policy 

• Dishonesty 

• Stealing/Theft 
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• Unauthorized Use or Removal of Company / Client Property or Vehicle 

• Violence / Fighting / Threats 

• Harassment 

• Insubordination 

• Security 

• Sleeping on the Job 

• Destruction of Property 

• Failure to Return to Work 

• Leaving Bus or Passengers 

• Failure to Follow Sleeping Passenger Rules 

 
Examples of Class 2 Infractions considered to be serious violations of the First Transit performance code 
include: 

• Abusing or misusing sick leave  

• Exchanging work assignments (trade) without proper authority 

• Stopping work prior to the end of any shift without management’s permission 

• Excessive absenteeism, tardiness, starting work late after on the clock, or a pattern of unexcused 
absences unless otherwise permitted by law 

• Reporting for work in an unfit condition 

• Failing to obtain permission to leave work during normal working hours 

• Discourteous or inappropriate attitude or behavior toward passengers or other members of the public 

• Failure to comply with PPE directives 

• Failure to wear a High Visibility Safety Vest, Reflective Safety Vest, or Company issued High 
Visibility Uniform Shirt according to Company policies 

• Failure to wear Safety Glasses in compliance with PPE directives 

• Failure to wear Company Assigned Shoe Grips when directed to do so 

• Violation of vehicle operating regulations 

• Failure to observe safety, sanitation, or disciplinary policies of the client or Company, or laws and 
regulations of Local, State, or Federal governments 

• Failure to comply with the Risk Assessment policy 

• Working more than an employee’s regularly scheduled hours without advance approval of the 
Company 

• Failure to operate a Company vehicle according to assigned route or timetable 

• Failure of any Operator, Safety Sensitive Employee or employee required to be licensed for driving, 
to renew and maintain a valid, appropriate driver’s license with required endorsements and a medical 
certificate for driving a Company vehicle 
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• Failure to wait for connections or passing up passengers

• Transport of unauthorized persons

• Attempting to enter, entering or assisting any person to enter, or attempt to enter a Company location
or restricted areas without proper authority

Examples of Class 3 Infractions, considered to be secondary violations of the First Transit performance 
code, include: 

• Mandatory Reporting failure including:

o Failure to report defective equipment

o Failure to report a safety hazard

o Failure to procure necessary information for an accident report or submitting an inaccurate or
incomplete report

o Failure to report law enforcement actions

• Posting, circulating or distributing written or printed material during working times and in working
areas

• Failure to adhere to the Company Reverse Parking policy for Company vehicles and personal
vehicles

• Use of a Company-owned radio or cell phone for non-Company business during working time

• Failure of any Operator to have in his or her possession a valid, appropriate driver’s license with
required endorsements and a medical certificate while driving a Company vehicle

Examples of Class 4 Infractions, considered to be lesser violations of the First Transit performance code 
that may result in disciplinary action depending on the circumstances or repeated violations, include: 

• Failure to comply with the dress code, uniform policy, cleanliness, personal hygiene, personal
grooming habits, or other requirements established by the client or Company

• Reporting for duty in an improper uniform, presenting an untidy, unkept or dirty appearance of person
or uniform, or improperly displaying uniform articles, Company emblem, or authorized pins and
badges

• Parking a personal vehicle in a restricted area at a Company location

• Neglect of job duties and responsibilities, or lack of application or effort on the job

• Incompetence or failure to meet reasonable standards of efficiency or effectiveness

• Failure to provide First Transit with a current address or telephone number

• Failure to inform First Transit of changes in status of dependents for insurance coverage

• Littering the employee lounge area, restrooms, or any other company property

• Failure to read notices and bulletins and not making an effort to stay informed

Applying Disciplinary Actions 

Although employment may be terminated at-will by either the employee or First Transit at any time 
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in accordance with applicable law, without following any formal system of discipline or warning, First 
Transit may exercise discretion to utilize forms of discipline that are less severe than termination. 
 
Whenever an employee is subject to discipline, the employee’s work record, including violations 
occurring in the relevant time period, is reviewed before determining penalty. The chart below 
describes how disciplinary actions are applied. 

 

*Within 12 months of first offense, 36 months for safety 
 
Additionally, First Transit may use the following criteria to determine discipline specific to any type of traffic 
violation or preventable accident. 
 

 

 

Details of First Transit’s reporting requirements, infractions of company policy, and disciplinary actions that 
may be taken are described in more detail in the First Transit Employee Handbook. 
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6. Safety Risk Management 

Safety Risk Management Process 

Describe the Safety Risk Management process, including: 

• Safety Hazard Identification: The methods or processes to identify hazards and consequences of the 
hazards 

• Safety Risk Assessment: The methods or processes to assess the safety risks associated with 

identified safety hazards 

• Safety Risk Mitigation: The methods or processes to identify mitigations or strategies necessary as a 

result of safety risk assessment  

Safety management is at the core of everything done at First Transit. All employees are responsible for 
performing their jobs in a safe manner, which includes identifying safety risks and participating in developing 
and implementing effective mitigation techniques. The process for managing hazards, from identification 
through corrective action and closure, is illustrated by the following flowchart. 
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As described earlier, a corporate structure exists to address all safety concerns. To ensure safety at the 
local levels, each location is required to form a Safety Solutions Team (SST), Accident Review Committee 
(ARC), and a Local Client Liaison Committee. To ensure consistency at each location, SOP’s #803; #803a; 
#803b Safety Solutions Team, and SOP #702 – Accident Review Committee describe the procedures 
which are to be followed in creating and operating a Safety Solutions Team and Accident Review 
Committee.   
 
These groups are responsible for reviewing safety related accidents and incidents to determine culpability; 
identify the causes associated with each event; and develop mitigation measures to reduce the risk of the 
events occurring in the future. Having these groups at each location provides a way for employees to report 
safety risks in a timely manner and to teams that understand the conditions associated with each specific 
location. Additionally, the opportunity exists for more timely, appropriate, and effective mitigation measures. 
 
Several tools are used by the Region Safety Managers, Region Safety Directors and the Senior Director of 
Safety to monitor the local risks and risk management. Among them are Safety Data Reports which outline 
the monthly and Year to Date safety performance statistics. Also used is a Target & Goal Worksheet to track 
and analyze the data collected and to target reactive and proactive performance improvement measures. 
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Safety Hazard Identification 

This process is a vital component in First Transit’s efforts to reduce safety risks and improve overall delivery 
of service. Safety Hazard Identification data from internal sources such as employee reporting, customer 
feedback, maintenance records; and external sources such as the Federal Transit Administration and local 
oversight authority is used to implement immediate corrective actions and to proactively identify hazards and 
potential consequences before they cause future accidents or incidents. 

The objective of hazard identification is to identify those conditions that can cause an accident or create an 
unsafe condition and determine possible consequences if the unsafe condition is not corrected. First Transit 
routinely analyzes records from our operation and external sources as they become available to identify 
accident causation based on history. Current traffic conditions are periodically analyzed, and management 
inspection of established prevention processes are routinely performed. 

First Transit also takes an additional proactive step with its SOP #208 – Safety Validation of Change to 
identify hazards and consequences PRIOR to implementing any changes to operations. 

First Transit relies on employees to assist in the hazard identification and resolution process.  Working with 
the location safety personnel and through a structured process, employees help: 

• Identify Critical Factors in Mitigation of safety risk

• Develop and Recommend an Action Plan

• Implement Action Plan

• Measure Performance Against Safety Objectives

• Monitor the Process

• Modify the Process

• Secure Outside Assistance (when needed)

• Audit for Compliance

Several tools exist for hazard identification. Among them are: 

• SOP #802 and #802a - Daily Safety & Health Walkthrough and Checklist
o A routine safety and health check walkthrough to promptly identify hazardous conditions at

our facilities and notify employees of the hazards identified and mitigation measures to help
protect them from personal injury.

• SOP #804 - Positive Check-In Procedures & Reasonable Suspicion
o Positive Check-In procedures are to ensure our operators reporting to work are fit-for-duty.

• SOP #900 – Facility Hazard Recognition Manual
o This Hazard Recognition Manual is intended to be a tool for recognizing potential hazards

that may be present at First Transit facilities. Although it does not represent all conditions that
could exist, the photos and narrative provide:

▪ A reference guide for conducting safety inspections at a facility, and
▪ A training document to educate and train employees to conduct effective safety

inspections.

• Vehicle Maintenance Risk Assessment
o All employees who perform maintenance and repairs to vehicles within transit centers and

bus yards or on road calls complete a risk assessment using SOP #503a – Vehicle
Maintenance Risk Assessment Form prior to performing any work on a vehicle.
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o The Risk Assessment process, SOP #503 – Vehicle Maintenance Risk Assessment, 
requires employees about to perform a maintenance task to confirm they possess the 
training, skills, knowledge, abilities, tools, and equipment to safely perform the task at hand.  
The assessment includes determining the following. 

▪ Are You Properly Trained to Perform the Task? 
▪ If Task Requires Lifting, Are Lifts Secured, Are Jack Stands Used Correctly? 
▪ Are You Wearing the Appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)? 
▪ Have You Performed the Proper Lock-Out/Tag-Out (LOTO) procedures? 
▪ Are You Aware of the Potential Risks of Performing this Repair? 

o If the answer is “NO” to any of the above assessments the technician is to immediately 
contact their manager. 

• Pre-Survey Job Hazard Analysis 
o Prior to beginning a job hazard analysis, a pre-survey of the working conditions, using SOP 

#503b – Pre-Survey Job Hazard Analysis Form, under which the job is performed is 
conducted to evaluate the general conditions. A few of the potential hazards being considered 
include: 

1. Are there tripping hazards in the job vicinity? 
2. Is the lighting adequate for work conditions? 
3. Are there explosive hazards associated with the job? 
4. Are there electrical hazards associated with the job? 
5. Are tools associated with the job in good condition? 
6. Is the noise level excessive (below 85-dba)? 

▪ Facility Parking Risk Management Assessment 
o Inadequate turning areas, blind corners, uneven walking surfaces can all cause collisions or 

employee injury in parking areas. SOP #501 - Facility Parking Risk Assessment will help 
identify and prevent these types of collisions for both buses and personal vehicles. 

o The Location Manager must ensure compliance with all provisions of this SOP. 
o The risk of each facility is assessed as follows: 

▪ Annually 
▪ Unscheduled  –  Whenever a significant vehicle collision or a pedestrian strike occurs 

in the bus yard or on company premises 
▪ Start-up locations – Before operating out of the new location. 
▪ SOP #501a – Facility Parking Risk Assessment Guide, and  
▪ SOP #501b – Facility Parking Risk Assessment Form are tools to help with this 

assessment. 
 
Accident/Incident Hazard Identification 

Procedures exist and are followed regarding resolution of accidents and incidents and capturing data.  
Although this information is used proactively, First Transit takes advantage of these opportunities to 
determine which, if any hazards existed that may have contributed to the accident or incident and develop 
mitigation measures to reduce the risk of a recurrence. 

There are five (5) main areas reviewed in this Hazard Identification process: 

1. Environment 
a. Weather 
b. Road Surface Condition 
c. Visibility 

2. Transit Service Characteristics and Agency Policies 
a. Incentives for Safe Driving 
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b. Equipment Maintenance Policies 
c. Stop Intervals 
d. Route Design 
e. Driver Scheduling 
f. Passenger Demand Schedules 

3. Operator 
a. Experience 
b. Physical Ability 
c. Personality 
d. Psychological Condition 
e. Physical Condition 

4. Road Layout 
a. Width 
b. Speed Limit 
c. Geometric Design 
d. Traffic Volume 
e. Capacity 
f. Parking 
g. Adjacent Lane Use 
h. Street Lighting 
i. Pedestrian Volume 

5. Hazard Identification – Accident Prevention/Resolution 
1st: Identify the Hazard 
2nd: Remove the Hazard 
3rd: When the Hazard cannot be removed, Train for the Hazard as a “known condition” 

 
▪ On-Board Video Technology 

o SOP #704 – On-Board Video Technology provides a summary of the on-board video 
system and Company standards that all First Transit employees must follow when operating a 
company or customer vehicle equipped with onboard video technology. 

o This technology is a valuable resource and another tool that helps First Transit instill positive 
driving behaviors by providing opportunities to view recorded driving events, driver history 
and company trends. 

o The goal of this in-cab camera technology is to proactively identify unsafe behaviors and 
improve those identified behaviors through coaching, retraining and, if necessary, disciplinary 
measures in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Handbook and applicable 
Collective Bargaining Agreements. 

 
Information learned from this identification process is used to improve training and reduce or eliminate the 
underlying causes. 
 
Safety Risk Assessment 

Once the hazard has been identified, they are categorized into the following severity levels. The 
categorization of hazards is consistent with risk-based criteria for severity; it reflects the principle that not all 
hazards pose an equal amount of risk to personal safety. 
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Category 1 – Catastrophic: operating conditions are such that human error, design deficiencies, element, 
subsystem or component failure, or procedural deficiencies may cause death or major system loss and 
require immediate termination of the unsafe activity or operation. 

Category 2 – Critical: operating conditions are such that human error, subsystem or component failure, or 
procedural deficiencies may cause severe injury, severe occupational illness, or major system damage and 
require immediate corrective action. 

Category 3 – Marginal: operating conditions are such that they may result in minor injury, occupational 
illness or system damage and are such that human error, subsystem or component failures can be 
counteracted or controlled. 

Category 4 – Negligible: operating conditions are such that human error, subsystem, or component failure 
or procedural deficiencies will result in less than minor injury, occupational illness, or system damage. 

The next step in assessing the hazard is to determine the likelihood of it occurring. Likelihood of occurrence 
is determined based on the analysis of transit system operating experience, evaluation of First Transit safety 
data, the analysis of reliability and failure data, and/or from historical safety data from other passenger bus 
systems.  The following chart describes the likelihood of occurrence categories. 
 

Likelihood of Occurrence of a Hazard 

Description 
Level of Likelihood 

of Occurrence 
Frequency for 
Specific Item  

Selected Frequency 
for Fleet or Inventory 

Frequent A 
Likely to occur 
frequently  

Continuously 
experienced 

Probable B 
Will occur several 
times in the life of 
the item 

Will occur frequently 
in the system 

Occasional C 
Likely to occur 
sometime in the life 
of an item 

Will occur several 
times in the system 

Remote D 
Unlikely but possible 
to occur in life of an 
item 

Unlikely but can be 
expected to occur 

Improbable E 

So unlikely, it can be 
assumed occurrence 
may not be 
experienced 

Unlikely to occur but 
possible 

 
Identified hazards are placed into the following Risk Assessment Matrix to enable the decision makers to 
understand the amount of risk involved in accepting the hazard in relation to the cost (schedule, cost, 
operations) to reduce the hazard to an acceptable level. 
 

Hazard 
Frequency 

Severity 
Category 1 

Severity 
Category 2 

Severity 
Category 3 

Severity 
Category 4 

Frequent (A) 1A 2A 3A 4A 

Probable (B) 1B 2B 3B 4B 

Occasional (C) 1C 2C 3C 4C 

Remote (D) 1D 2D 3D 4D 
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Improbable (E) 1E 2E 3E 4E 

Based on company policy and the analysis of historical data, First Transit has made the following 
determinations regarding risk acceptance. 

Hazard Risk Index Criteria by Index 

1A, 1B, 1C, 2A, 2B, 3A Unacceptable 

1D, 2C, 2D, 3B, 3C Undesirable (Management decision) 

1E, 2E, 3D, 3E, 4A, 4B Acceptable with Management Review 

4C, 4D, 4E Acceptable without Management Review 

Safety Risk Mitigation 

Mitigation Determination 

After the assessment has been completed, the follow-up actions will be implemented as follows. 

• Unacceptable: The hazard must be mitigated in the most expedient manner possible before normal
service may resume. Interim corrective action may be required to mitigate the hazard to an
acceptable level while the permanent resolution is in development.

• Undesirable: A hazard at this level of risk must be mitigated unless the Location General Manager
and Location Safety Manager issue a documented decision to manage the hazard until resources are
available for full mitigation.

• Acceptable with review: The Location General Manager and Location Safety Manager must
determine if the hazard is adequately controlled or mitigated as is.

• Acceptable without review: The hazard does not need to be reviewed by the management team
and does not require further mitigation or control.

Mitigation of safety risk 

Mitigation of safety risk consists of reducing the risk to the lowest practical level. Not all safety risks can be 
eliminated completely. Resolution of hazards will utilize the results of the risk assessment process. The 
objectives of the mitigation of safety risk process are to: 

1. Identify areas where mitigation of safety risk requires a change in the system design,
installation of safety devices or development of special procedures.

2. Verify that hazards involving interfaces between two or more systems have been resolved.
3. Verify that the resolution of a hazard in one system does not create a new hazard in another

system.

The SST, who was identified earlier in this plan as the team responsible for local safety review, uses the 
following methodologies to assure that system safety objectives are implemented through design and 
operations, and hazards are eliminated or controlled: 

1. Design to eliminate or minimize hazard severity. To the extent permitted by cost and practicality,
identified hazards are eliminated or controlled by the design of equipment, systems and facilities

2. Hazards that cannot reasonably be eliminated or controlled through design are controlled to the
extent practicable to an acceptable level through the use of fixed, automatic, or other protective
safety design features or devices.
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3. Provisions are made for periodic functional checks of safety devices and training for employees 
to ensure that system safety objectives are met. 

4. When design and safety devices cannot reasonably nor effectively eliminate or control an 
identified hazard, safety warning devices are used (to the extent practicable) to alert persons to 
the hazard. 

5. Where it is impossible to reasonably eliminate or adequately control a hazard through design or 
the use of safety and warning devices, procedures and training are used to control the hazard.  

6. Precautionary notation is standardized, and safety-critical issues require training and certification 
of personnel 

 
 
Mitigation of Safety Risk Management and Tracking 
 
Resolution of identified hazards are managed by the Location General Manager and/or the Location Safety 
Manager. The mitigation of safety risk process is managed through the “Safety Toolbox”, which is an 
online tool used by management, from Road Supervisors to Executive Management, to record the 
occurrence of safety-related events, review safety critical data, and track corrective actions as necessary.   
 
The Safety Toolbox is a powerful tool to help understand the work area’s safety environment. This includes: 

• Understanding and improving observations of safety critical behaviors 

• Reviewing recorded debriefs to ensure that the “BeSafe” process is in place and working. 

• Reviewing findings from BeSafe tours and determine if tasks/actions have been closed out 
 
The Safety Toolbox includes information regarding: 

• BeSafe (BeSafe Debriefs, BeSafe Tours, BeSafe Touchpoints) 
o Debrief meetings conducted in order to assure quality. 
o Safety Critical Behavior is the main focus of touchpoints; and shared and discussed during 

debrief meetings. 

• Contacts (e.g. Near Misses, Hazard reports, Commendation, Safety Issue) 
o Near Misses. Reporting an event that occurred and could have caused injury. 
o Hazard Reports. Reporting an event that occurred and could have caused injury. 
o Commendation. A report of commendable safety actions/conduct performed by a colleague 

within the business. 
o Safety issues. A report on any safety issue that has a specific cause – i.e. maintenance, 

housekeeping, environment and behavior etc. 

• Safety Leadership Activities (e.g. Participate in safety meetings, risk assessment, section 
observation) 

o Participation in a Safety meeting. Actively leading or participating in the location in-service 
safety meeting. 

o Intersection observation or risk assessment. Risk assessment or driver observations 
conducted at nearby intersections, and delivery of positive reinforcement or coaching as 
indicated. 

o Rail section observation or risk assessment. Risk assessment or driver observations 
conducted at rail crossing(s), and delivery of positive reinforcement or coaching as indicated. 

o Planned general inspections. A systematic inspection where a location is forewarned. 
o High interest driver. A report of a driver's performance that has indicated a level of risk 

taking through observations, review scores, and skills evaluations. 
 
Additional documentation, such as corrective action plans, are developed for those hazards requiring 
complex and multifaceted resolutions.  
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7. Safety Assurance

Safety Performance Monitoring and Measurement 

Describe activities to monitor operations to identify any safety risk mitigations that may be ineffective, 

inappropriate, or were not implemented as intended. 

As discussed in Section 1 of this plan, First Transit employs a Resident Management Team at each 
operation location. This team consists of a Location General Manager and a Location Safety Manager, who 
oversee the safety of the operation. 

Additionally, each location employs Street Supervisors, Dispatchers, and Instructors; all of whom are 
responsible for oversight of the daily operations and training. All safety risks identified are reported to the 
Location General Manager and Location Safety Manager. Any risks that can be addressed immediately are 
corrected but still reported. Each location also establishes a Safety Solutions Team (SST), described in 
Section 5: Safety Risk Management of this plan, which uses the following methodologies to ensure a 
proactive approach to safety at each location. 

• Routine hazard management

• Accident and incident investigation

• Safety data collection and analysis

• Routine internal safety audits

• Facility, equipment, systems and vehicle inspections

• Routine proficiency checks for all vehicle operators and maintenance employees

• Compliance evaluations including onsite inspections

• Regularly communicating safety and hazard data to all employees

A higher level of oversight is conducted by Region management, which includes the Region Safety 
Manager, Region Safety Director, Region Maintenance Director, and the Region Vice President.  From this 
level, any identified risks and mitigations are shared with other Region local operations as a proactive means 
to reduce risks. 

The last “local level” review comes from the Vice President of Safety and the Vice President of Maintenance. 
These are corporate level positions that share the identified risks and mitigations throughout the organization 
as a proactive means to reduce risks. Additionally, the Vice President of Safety and Vice President of 
Maintenance assist executive level management in using this information to impact operational and budget 
decisions. 

Describe activities to conduct investigations of safety events to identify causal factors. 

First Transit has a “zero” tolerance for preventable injuries and collisions. Elimination of preventable injuries 
and collisions is our number one goal. 
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Any injury, collision or incident that occurs is investigated to determine preventability or non-preventability. 
Investigations include all instances in which: 

• a vehicle was damaged  

• a vehicle leaves the traveled roadway 

• a passenger is injured or  

• an employee is injured 
 
SOP #700-Accident & Safety Data Acquisition describes the data collection process including 

• Defining the Event & What to Do  

• Accidents – Defining the Accident  

• “Five Cardinal Rules That Apply to an Accident” 

• Operator Responsibility 

• Dispatcher on Duty Accident Investigation Responsibility 
 
SOP #700 also describes the Operators and the Dispatchers responsibilities for protecting the customers 
and managing the scene. 
 
The groups described in SOP #702 – Accident Review Committee (ARC), and SOP #803 – Safety 
Solutions Team (SST), review the data collected to determine if the accident/incident was preventable or 
non-preventable,(ARC); and identify measures to reduce the risk of the accident/incident occurring in the 
future (SST). 

Describe activities to monitor information reported through internal safety reporting programs. 

The Location Safety Manager (LSM) and/or Location General Manager (LGM) routinely reviews all location 
safety and hazard data, which includes searching for repetitive events that might have safety implications. 
When accident/incident reports and statistics indicate repetitive accidents/incidents, the LSM and LGM 
investigate to determine the root cause.   
 
The following chart describes how the hazard data flows and is monitored by First Transit; from each 
operating location, to Region management, to corporate and parent company management. 
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Risk/Safety Data Flow 

Weekly Data Review 

Information 
Collected 

Daily 
Location 

Third Party 
Data 

Collected 
Risk Dept Safety Dept Location    

Collisions/ 
Injuries/ 
Workers 

Comp 

Incident 
Occurs, 
claim 
report 
created, 
then sent 
to Third 
Party 
Data 
Collector 
via 
website, 
phone, 
fax. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report 
received 
from 
Location. 

Information 
from Third 
Party Data 
Collector 
created as 
weekly 
report then 
sent to 
Region 
Safety. 

Weekly 
reports are 
reviewed and 
distributed for 
weekly 
management 
oversight 
conference 
calls. 

Review data 
with Senior 
Region 
Leadership 
during weekly 
teleconference.   

   

Period Data Review (e.g. Quarterly/Monthly) 

 
Risk 
Dept 

Shared 
Services 

Dept 

Region 
Safety 

Managers 

Shared 
Safety 

Services 
Dept 

    

Collisions/ 
Injuries/ 
Workers 

Comp 

Send all 
raw risk 
data 
gathered 
from 
weekly 
reports 
to the 
Shared 
Safety 
Services 
Dept. 

Reorganizes 
raw data 
regionally 
then 
distributes to 
Region 
Safety Dept. 

Review 
period data 
and 
distribute to 
locations. 

Develops 
company, 
region, and 
location 
specific 
performance 
measures 
and 
distributes 
through 
Target & Goal 
Spreadsheet. 

    

72



First Transit Agency Safety Plan Page 34 of 52 
March 2020 

Period Data Analysis 

Shared 
Services 

Dept 
UK Safety Dept 

First Group 
Executive 

Safety 
Committee 

(ESC) 

First Group 
Safety Council 

First Group 
America 
Safety 

Council 

Performance 
Review 

Management 
(PRM) 

Safety 
Advisory 

Committee 

Collisions/ 
Injuries/ 
Workers 

Comp 

Final 
reports 
sent to 
UK and 
Directors 
of Safety 
for each 
business 
group. 

Processes 
data; 
analyzes; 
creates 
reports; 
categorizes 
risk factors; 
and gathers 
commentary 
from First 
Group 
companies 
for trend 
analysis. 

Processes 
data; 
analyzes; 
creates 
reports; 
categorizes 
risk factors; 
and creates 
commentary 
for trend 
analysis. 

This 
committee 
consists of 
President, 
COO, and 
Safety Vice 
President of 
each 
operating 
group. 

Discussions 
include safety 
performance, 
trend 
analysis, 
program 
oversight. 

This committee 
consists of Vice 
Presidents of 
Safety for all 
operating 
divisions. 

Discussions 
include safety 
performance, 
trend analysis, 
and safety 
oversight. 

This 
committee 
consists of 
Safety Senior 
Directors and 
Safety Vice 
Presidents. 

Discussions 
include safety 
performance, 
trend 
analysis, best 
practices, 
and program 
oversight. 

This review 
consists of 
Senior Region 
Vice 
Presidents, 
Region Vice 
Presidents, 
Region 
Directors of 
Operations, 
and Region 
Safety 
Managers. 

Discussions 
include 
regions safety 
performance. 

This 
committee 
consists of 
Location 
General 
Managers, 
Region 
Directors of 
Operations, 
and Region 
and Local 
Safety 
Managers. 

Discussions 
include 
review of 
policy and 
procedures, 
training, and 
safety 
awareness. 
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Management of Change 

Describe the process for identifying and assessing changes that may introduce new hazards or impact 
safety performance. 

First Transit employs a proactive process, SOP #208 – Safety Validation of Change, that addresses the 
procedures to be followed to evaluate the risk of any changes proposed at all levels of the organization. The 
overall purpose of this process is to provide assurance that any proposed changes which impact operations 
will not increase safety risk; or where additional risk is identified, that controls are put in place prior to the 
changes being implemented. 
 
Changes to organizational structure; the nature or extent of operations; or to facility or equipment assets; as 
well as mergers and acquisitions of new businesses are proactively managed through this process to avoid 
introducing or increasing safety risks.  

• The resources required to complete the validation process, in terms of people, finance and materials 
is included in this validation process.  

• The allocation of responsibilities considers the competence of the individuals that are required to 
carry out the safety validation roles.   

• All employees who may be affected by the proposed changes are consulted as part of the process. 
 
The extent and scope of safety validation applied to any change proposal is proportional to the risks (safety, 
operational, and other risks) associated with its introduction. (For example, a major change, such as a 
reorganization of Region Executive roles and responsibilities or start-up of a large new bus operation, 
requires a more rigorous safety validation than a minor change.)  
 
In the case of smaller, less complex or well understood changes, the safety validation of change process 
may be implemented as part of normal operations, using existing organizational arrangements and meeting 
structures to deliver the required level of assurance. 
 
The process is generally described in the following chart. 
 

 
Safety Validation of Change Process 

Main Steps Key Activities Checklists & 
Guidance 

Completed By 

1. Identify Proposal for Change • Raise change 
proposal 
(including 
Capital 
Expenditure 
Approval) 

• Inform relevant 
functional 
Director(s) and 
Manager(s) 

• Complete 
SOP #208a – 
Safety 
Validation of 
Change 
Form, Section 
A1 
 

Change 
proposer 
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2. Determine Classification of
Change Significance

• Classify level of
safety validation
required

• Ensure the
extent and
scope of
validation is
proportional to
the level of risk

• Complete
SOP #208a –
Safety
Validation of
Change
Form, Section
A2

Category A: 
Group Safety 
Director 

Category B: 
Divisional head 
of Safety 
Category C: 
Location head 
of Safety 

3. Allocate Roles & Responsibilities • Formally
allocate change
sponsor and
change
authorizer

• Identify other
required
resources and
roles for
consultation

• Complete
SOP #208a –
Safety
Validation of
Change
Form, Section
A3

Change 
proposer (with 
guidance) 

Submit Change Proposal Form 
Change 
proposer 

Decide whether safety validation should proceed 
Change 
proposer 

4. Prepare Safety Validation of
Change Case

• Prepare safety
validation
documentation

• Complete risk
assessment of
proposed
change

• Submit for
review

• Revise and
finalize
documentation

• Complete risk
assessment
and document
findings

• Complete
Safety
Validation of
Change as
described in
SOP #208 –
Safety
Validation of
Change

• Complete
SOP #208a –
Safety
Validation of
Change Form

Change 
proposer 

Submit Safety Validation Checklist with supporting documentation 
Change 
proposer 

Approve and Implement, or Reject Change 

Change 
authorizer (or 
delegated 
representative) 

5. Monitoring and Review • Monitor
implementation
of change and
safety
performance

• Check
compliance as
part of Region
Safety
Monitoring

• Review
effectiveness

Location Safety 
Manager 

Corporate 
Safety 
Management 
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Changes proposed at the Corporate level typically have an impact on the Region and Local levels. To 
ensure the risks associated with any change consider all levels of the organization, each level must 
complete SOP #208 – Safety Validation of Change as part of the process to ensure specific safety 
concerns have been identified and addressed. 

Similarly, changes proposed at the Region level will typically have an impact on the Local level. 
Consequently, the Local level must also complete SOP #208 – Safety Validation of Change as part of the 
process to ensure specific safety concerns have been identified and addressed. 

Additional responsibilities in the Safety Validation of Change process include: 

• The Region Safety Management team provides safety expertise/support to those carrying out the
safety validation.

• The Senior Director of Safety:
o Reviews and approves each Region’s safety validation of change process
o Decides on the level of safety validation required (consulting with other functional heads as

necessary) for Category A changes
o Is consulted on any Category B change proposal
o Provides safety expertise/support to Region Safety Managers and Vice President of Safety –

First Transit during safety validation activities as required.
o Provides safety expertise/support to those carrying out the safety validation for Category A

changes.

An electronic log of all proposed changes, whether approved or not, are maintained by the Region Safety 
Director. 

Communication of changes to policies/procedures regarding safety issues comes from Executive 
Leadership. This information is then carried down through the Vice President of Safety – First Transit, Senior 
Director of Safety, Region Safety Directors, Region Safety Managers. Location General Managers, Location 
Safety Managers, and employees. Notification to the client is communicated through the Location General 
Manager. 

• Review
performance
process

of the process 
as part of 
Region 
oversight 

Vice President 
of Safety - First 
Transit 

Continuous Improvement 

Describe the process for assessing safety performance. Describe the process for developing and carrying 

out plans to address identified safety deficiencies. 

The process described previously in this section for monitoring safety data incorporates continuous 
improvement. As safety risk is identified, then reported on, a determination is made as to whether the risk 
can be mitigated immediately or requires more time and resources. 

Risk mitigations that can address the safety concerns immediately are carried out but still reported. The 
reporting of these concerns includes the mitigation steps that have been taken. Monitoring of the risk 
continues to ensure that the mitigation strategy is effective. 

Section 5 of this plan, Safety Risk Management, describes the risk assessment and mitigation procedures 
used that determine how to proceed with improvement strategies that require more time and resources. 
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Which improvement strategies to implement for longer term issues is based on severity and likelihood of risk 
occurrence. Additionally, safety hazard identification data is used to implement immediate corrective actions 
and to proactively identify hazards before they cause future accidents or incidents.   

 

The objective of hazard identification is to distinguish those conditions that can cause an accident or create 
an unsafe condition. First Transit routinely analyzes records from our operation to identify accident causation 
based on history. Current traffic conditions are periodically analyzed, and management inspections of 
established prevention processes are routinely performed. 

The Risk/Safety Data Flow Chart previously described in this section, illustrates how this information is 
shared throughout the organization. 

8. Safety Promotion 

Competencies and Training 

Describe the safety training program for all agency employees and contractors directly responsible for safety. 

The education and training process at First Transit is a highly regimented and professionally developed 
program built around a curriculum featuring learning opportunities in two major domains: 

• Knowledge (education) 

• Skills (training) 

Various delivery mechanisms such as classroom, multimedia presentations, closed course, observation and 
behind-the-wheel skills building are used to support the learning process. Learning is evaluated through written 
quizzes, driving tests and customer service skills evaluations. 

Instructors 

Successful new operator training starts with selecting and certifying good instructors.  

1. Classroom Instructor: 

The classroom instructor is responsible for facilitating the classroom portion of New Operator 
Training. Classroom training requires the development of lesson plans.  

2. Behind-the-Wheel Instructor: 

The Behind-the-Wheel (BTW) Instructor is responsible for conducting closed course exercises and 
behind the wheel instruction. The New Operator Training program consists of instructional DVDs, 
which are accompanied by facilitator guides and participant study guides. The BTW Instructor uses 
the Operator Proficiency Workbook to document each trainee’s progress. 

*New Instructor Candidates can obtain certification as both a Classroom Instructor 
 and a Behind-the-Wheel Instructor. 

3. Master: 

The Master Instructor, along with the Regional Director of Safety and Region Safety Manager(s), is 
responsible for training the Safety Supervisors. The Master Instructor is also responsible for the 
certification programs for Behind-the-Wheel and Classroom Instructors and the ongoing Train-the-
Trainer workshops. 
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Training the Instructor is a process by which a Certified Instructor works with the selected New Instructor 
Candidate. During this time, the Certified Instructor conducts a review of all state laws, First Transit policies and 
procedures, local policies, and client-specified programs and requirements.   

The Certified Instructor also provides a review of the Behind-the-Wheel Manual, Classroom Manual, and all First 
Transit video-based courses. 

In addition to the above training, the New Instructor Candidate must complete the Instructor Development 
Curriculum, which includes the following three self-directed courses: 

1. How to Train 
2. Coaching the Adult Learner 
3. Learning Basics 

There are three types of Instructor Certification: 

1. Temporary 
2. Certified 
3. Master 

1. Temporary (Silver) 

Temporary certificates are issued at the local level. A temporary certificate is issued to a New Instructor 
Candidate upon successful completion of the New Instructor training program at his or her location, 
conducted by a certified trainer at that location. Certificates are issued throughout the year prior to the 
annual Train-the-Trainer program.  

Temporary certificates are valid for one year, and one year only, from the date of issue. Temporary 
certification is accompanied by silver achievement emblems for Classroom, BTW or both.  

To continue in the program, a New Instructor must obtain Gold Certification. 

2. Certified (Gold) 

The Certified Instructor certificate is issued to a New Instructor who has successfully completed the 
annual Train-the-Trainer program, conducted by a Master Trainer. The annual Train-the-Trainer program 
combines all elements of the temporary certification, with the exception of the classroom evaluation. At 
the annual Train-the-Trainer program, Classroom Instructor Candidates are required to develop a lesson 
plan and give a presentation. 

Prior to attending the annual Train-the-Trainer program, all New Instructors must complete the “Safety 
Leadership” course and pass the final exam with a grade of 90% or above. 

The Senior Director of Safety is the only person authorized to approve and issue a Certified Instructor 
certificate with gold achievement emblems for Classroom, BTW, or both.  

3. Master 

The Master Instructor Certification program ensures that First Transit Policies and Procedures are 
correctly implemented throughout the company.  

Master Instructor Certification is required for all area safety managers and above. 

The Master Instructor: 

• Provides support to the Location General Manager and the Region Safety Manager, 

• Is involved with training new Safety and Training Supervisors, and re-training current Safety and 
Training Supervisors if required, 

• Conducts the annual Train-the-Trainer program for BTW and Classroom Instructor Certification 
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• Conducts Safety and Training audits in the region and reports the findings to the Region Safety 
Manager, if required.  

Employee Training 

Training employees to assess risks and recognize and avoid hazards in the workplace is critical to the overall 
safety of the workplace.  Every First Transit employee is trained in “BeSafe” and “Safe Work Methods”, which 
are described later in this section. 

“BeSafe” is our company-wide approach to safety management. This program takes our safety performance to 
the next level through behavioral change. “BeSafe” is inclusive, collaborative and focuses on recognizing and 
acknowledging safe behavior and actions through positive reinforcement such as debriefs, tours, and 
touchpoints. All employees are trained in the principles of “BeSafe” 

The “BeSafe” concept is described in the following brochure. 

 

 
5265 Be Safe_Handbook_RollFold A7.indd 1-4 15/03/2017 18:00 

 

 

Near miss and 
hazard reporting 
In the interest of keeping you, your 

colleagues and our passengers safe, it’s 

your responsibility to report any near miss 

incidents and hazards. 

Please record these in the ‘Near miss and 

hazard reporting’ pad and hand it in to the 

nearest supervisor / manager. 

Near miss: 

An event you 

witnessed where no 

harm was caused, 

but there was the 

potential to cause 

injury or ill health 

– a dangerous 

occurrence. 

Hazard: 

Anything that may 

cause harm in the 

near future. 

Work environment 
A positive, safe environment is important to our 

passengers, our staff and our business. 

If you are concerned about anything at work, 

aware of a security issue or have suspicions 

about anything from bullying to fraud – report it. 

If it is an emergency 

Tell the police. Then, tell your manager. 

If it is not an emergency 

Tell your manager or Group Security, or use 

the confidential hotline or ethics portal. 

Confidential hotline 

UK 0808 234 5291 

North America 877-322-5534 

Greyhound Operations Support Center 

800-487-6996 

Panama 000-000-000-0000 

India 000-000-000-0000 

Make a report 

www.ethicsfirst.ethicspoint.com 

 

 
 

My Handbook 
 

 

   

 

   

   

Please inform your HR department of any medical conditions 

that might prevent you from doing your job safely. 

Home Tel. No. 

Mobile Tel. No. 

Emergency contact No. 

 

 

   

Blood type 

   
A
 
llergies 

Medical condition(s) 

   
Name 

Personal 
emergency details 
In an emergency, please be aware of the  following: 

Contractor Employee Visitor Other  

hazard reporting 

Date      /        /        Near miss report         Hazard report 

Name 

 

Location  

Observation(s)  

   
   
Actions required  

 

   
Who is to complete the action(s)?  

Near miss and 
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First Transit’s “Safe Work Methods” is designed to educate employees on how to identify conditions and 
actions posing risks to their well-being and that of their coworkers. This training is to be used: 

1. In training new hire employees 
2. In leading supervisors in identifying root causes of workplace injuries 
3. In retraining injured workers so that re-occurrences are avoided 
4. To supplement First Transit’s First Occupational Rehabilitation Management (F.O.R.M.) light duty 

and return to work management program, in controlling workers compensation losses 
 
The “Safe Work Methods” training curriculum includes: 

• New Hire Training 
New hire training is designed to educate the new employee to the hazards commonly found in the 
transportation environments including in vehicle maintenance shops, bus yards, fuel islands, wash bays, 
and office environments. The program also makes employees aware of injuries that can result from 
physical activities such as entering and exiting vehicles, assisting persons with disabilities, and handling 
mobility devices. 

o PPE program including requirements for appropriate 
▪ Safety eyewear  
▪ Safety footwear   
▪ Safety hand wear 
▪ Hi-Vis vests  
▪ Disposal contaminated materials 

o Risk Assessment and Injury Avoidance 
▪ Walking & Climbing 
▪ Lifting, Carrying, Holding, and Lowering Objects 
▪ Pushing, Pulling, & Twisting 
▪ Burns, Scalds 
▪ Exposed Fluids, Chemicals, Smoke 
▪ Cuts, Punctures, Abrasions, Lacerations 
▪ Mobility Device Lifts/Ramps 

1. Requirements for Operator Training 

Applicants are required to successfully complete a comprehensive training program prior to 
transporting passengers. Trainees are continually evaluated and tested throughout the training 
program. Trainees who do not demonstrate the required level of proficiency are provided additional 
training or are removed from training. The Operator training program combines instructor-led 
sessions, video instruction, facilitated discussion, and opportunities for the trainees to practice what 
they have learned. Training topics include: 

Classroom Training 
The first part of Operator training at First Transit, classroom training, begins the process of instilling 
the safety culture into each Operator. Helping the student Operators understand the importance of 
keeping themselves and each passenger safe; and their responsibilities in maintaining a safe 
environment, is a theme integrated throughout. 

• Unit 1 - Introduction  
o Welcome and Introduction 
o Title VI Civil Rights Act 1964 
o Employee Handbook 
o BeSafe - Making Safety Personal  
o Hazardous Communication 
o Bloodborne Pathogens 
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• Unit II - Fundamentals 
o Safe Work Methods 
o Basics of Safety 
o Managing Emergencies 
o Security Awareness 
o Map Reading 
o Communication Devices 
o Navigation and Fare Policies  
o Smith System 

• Unit III - The Operator 
o Drug and Alcohol Awareness 
o Distracted Driving 
o Fatigue and Sleep Apnea Awareness  

• Unit IV - Transporting Passengers with Disabilities 
o Transporting Passengers with Disabilities 
o Interacting with Passengers 
o Diffusing Conflict  
o Passenger Care While Loading and Unloading 
o Mobility Aids and Devices 

• Unit V - Driving Fundamentals 
o Driving Fundamentals I 
o Driving Fundamentals II 
o Roadway Types 
o Railroad Crossings 

  
Behind-the-Wheel Training  
Behind-the-Wheel training is conducted in three phases. Since most people coming to work as a Bus 
Operator have not been exposed to driving the types of vehicle used at First Transit, the first part of 
behind-the-wheel training takes place on a closed course. This provides the opportunity for the 
Instructors to evaluate the skill levels of each employee; and gives each employee the opportunity to 
make and learn from their mistakes in a safe environment. 
 
The next phase of Behind-the-Wheel training takes place on the road, but in a controlled manner.  
During the road phase of the training, each student Operator works one-on-one with a First Transit 
Instructor. The road work begins with the basics; intersections, service stops, and backing. The next 
advanced stage of the road work addresses roadways, highway driving, and continues the instruction 
on intersections and service stops. The “Smith Driving System” principles are incorporated throughout 
the entire Behind-the-Wheel training phase. 

• Closed Course (Group Work) 
o Vehicle Orientation 

▪ Pre-Trip Inspection 
▪ Seat Adjustment 
▪ Mirror Adjustment 
▪ Braking, Accelerating, and Transmission 
▪ Wheelchair Securement 

o Reference Points 
▪ Lane Position 
▪ Right Side / Left Side 
▪ Backing Point 
▪ Forward Stop 
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▪ Pivot Points 
▪ Turning Points 

o Vehicle Control 
▪ Straight in Lane 
▪ Left Turn 
▪ Right Turn 
▪ Lane Changing - Moving Right or Left 

• One on One Instruction Behind the Wheel  
o Basic Road Work 

▪ “Smith System” 
▪ Intersections 
▪ Service Stops 
▪ Backing 

• Advanced Road Work 
o “Smith System” Commentary Driving 
o Roadways  
o Expressway / Highway Driving 
o Intersections 
o Service Stops 

• Final Evaluation 
Upon completion of the training program, before an Operator can be placed into service, they 
must successfully demonstrate their mastery of the skills and practices learned during the 
training program. 

• Cadet Training 
Once a new Operator has been placed into service there is period of observation where an 
experienced Operator, Instructor, or Supervisor periodically rides-along to ensure the skills 
learned in training have successfully transferred to providing service. This includes the 
securement and transportation of a person with a disability. 

2. Requirements for Maintenance Training 

Maintenance personnel are trained in shop safety, OSHA standards, and vehicle maintenance, in 
addition to receiving training in driving techniques and safety. Trainees are continually evaluated and 
tested throughout the training program. Trainees who do not demonstrate the required level of 
proficiency are provided additional training or are removed from training.   

Maintenance training includes: 

• Introduction to First Transit policies & procedures 

• Injury prevention and risk assessment 

• Substance Abuse Policy 

• Defensive Driving  

• “Smith System”  

• NTI - Security Awareness Warning Signs  

• Shop Safety Handbook  

• Maintenance Lift Safety 

• DVI Procedures 

• SafeWork Methods 

• Wheel Torque Specifications 

• Workplace Violence  

• OSHA (R-T-K / MSDS / PPE Training) 
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3. Requirements for Staff Training 

Staff personnel are trained in Safety Leadership and “BeSafe” (described in item #1) 

• Safety Leadership 

This is an interactive CD-ROM course consisting of 5 CD’s and leaders guides which are 
designed to educate all levels of First Transit management on the behaviors surrounding 
accidents. Every level of management takes the course and successfully pass an online test, 
found on the Safety Resource Center (SRC), with a passing grade of 90% or better. 

The course outline is as follows: 

o Safety Leadership 
▪ Accidents 
▪ Behavior 
▪ Leadership 

o Supervisor Development 
▪ The Role of the Supervisor 
▪ Communication 
▪ Building Trust 
▪ Conflict Resolution 
▪ Performance Management 
▪ Decisions 

• Additional Safety Training 
o Reasonable Suspicion 
o Supervisor’s Report of Reasonable Suspicion 
o Code of Conduct 
o Customer Service  
o OSHA Requirements 
o Hazard Abatement FORM – CA Only 

4. Requirements for Continuing Training and Evaluations 

First Transit provides ongoing employee training and evaluations.  

The objective of ongoing evaluations is met through a broad spectrum of regularly scheduled 
management activities including: 

• road observations,  

• ride along evaluations, and  

• daily safety contacts. 

Where evaluations and observations identify unsafe acts or conditions, retraining is provided 

to improve skill levels in accordance with corporate standards. 
 
In addition to First Transit’s formal employee training program, the following safety training is also conducted. 
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Safety Meetings 

• Twelve (12) safety meetings are issued to the locations annually with required topics identified by the
location and region safety management

• Each meeting is to be a minimum of one (1) hour in length unless otherwise required by state, client or
local regulations

• A required topic along with a safety campaign including posters and DVD is sent to each location for
presentation to all employees

• Attendance is a condition of employment and is mandatory for all Operators, Management, Operational
staff, and Maintenance personnel. (Unless stated otherwise in the CBA.)

o Failure to attend all meetings will result in disciplinary actions up to and including termination.

• Client/Contract requirements may require safety meetings to be conducted on a more frequent basis
than the First Transit minimum standards

Retraining 

First Transit has a “zero” tolerance for preventable injuries and collisions, elimination of preventable injuries and 
collisions is our number one goal. 

An employee involved in a preventable injury or collision is placed on administrative leave pending completion of 
the investigation and completion of any required retraining. 

Safety Communication 

Describe processes and activities to communicate safety and safety performance information throughout the 
organization. 

Safety Awareness Programs 

Establishing and maintaining a culture that demands safe behavior at all times is at the core of First Transit’s 
safety plan. This is done, in part, by providing a regular flow of positive information and recognizing those who 
are performing safely. 

This is where our “BeSafe” program provides the structure and foundation for communicating safety messages 
and inspiring safe job performance at all levels. “BeSafe” takes safety to a more personal level. It is a company-
wide commitment to safety, with the objective of continuous improvement by making safety a personal goal and 
incorporating behavioral change as a mitigation measure. 

“BeSafe” focuses on positive change through routine personal “touchpoints” and coaching interactions between 
front-line employees and management. To reinforce the touchpoints, discussions and feedback sessions are 
conducted as needed. 

This program inspires safe behavior among employees at all levels by; 

• Generating system-wide participation in safety issues through positive reinforcement

• Encouraging all employees to “take ownership” for safety results

• Communicating safety policies, procedures and processes
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• Engaging executives and managers at all levels, encouraging their active participation in safety 
management and communication 

• Sharing safety results at the individual, project, region and national levels by celebrating success stories 

o Individual Motivators – Individual Achievement Awards: The “cultural carrot” to help affect 
individual safety improvement through the use of personal recognition awards. Currently 
established safety awards for First Transit employees are: 

▪ Annual Safe Driver Awards 
 
 
▪ Safety Solutions Team Recognition 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• A Safety Leadership Group - The Safety Solution Team (SST):  Four to 10 location teammates 
dedicated to making safety “top-of-mind ” by identifying and resolving safety issues. 

o SST 
▪ Review the safety concerns they have worked on and improvements that have been 

implemented 
▪ Record and distribute SST meeting minutes 

o GM 
▪ Review “ Daily Safety & Health Walkthrough”  

o GM and SST 
▪ Recognize individuals who have earned years of safe driving 
▪ Pins and Certificates 
▪ Include bullets from SST Meeting minutes 
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• A Communication Tool:  “First Transit Connect” employee app, a peer to peer safety communication 
tool offering safety tips, best practices, recognition, offering ideas on “What Works”, Safety Happenings, 
and Safety Pep Rallies 

 

 

 

 
 

Additional Information 

Supporting Documentation 

Include or reference documentation used to implement and carry out the Safety Plan that are not included 
elsewhere in this Plan. 

Documentation related to the implementation of this SMS; the programs, policies, and procedures used to carry 
out this ASP; and the results from its SMS processes and activities will be maintained for three years after 
creation. They will be available to the FTA or other Federal or oversight entity upon request. 
 
Numerous standard operating procedures (SOP’s), in addition to those mentioned in this plan, have been 
developed and incorporated into the operating practices at each First Transit location.   
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The SOP’s have been designed to create operational consistency, increase awareness of risks and hazards, and 
provide easily duplicated processes for identifying and mitigating the risks associated with providing transit 
service. Some of those SOP’s are as follows. 
 

• High Interest Driver SOP’s #206; #206a; #206b; #206c 

• SOP #207 - Railroad Crossing Assessment  

• SOP #502 – Sub-Contractors Working on Company Property 

• Fire Prevention Plan SOP’s #504; #504a; #504b; #504c; #504d 

• Winter Safety – Snow Removal Action Plan SOP’s #505; #505a; #505b; #505c 

• Vehicle Fueling Spill Control SOP’s #506; #506a; #506b; #506c; #506d 

• SOP #507 - Pedestrian Visibility and Movement on Company Property 

• SOP # 508 - Service Truck & Service Vehicle Visibility  

• Emergency Action Plan SOP’s #807; #807a; #807b; #807c 

• First Transit Shop Safety Handbook 

• Safety & Security Planning Manual 

 

Definitions of Special Terms Used in the Safety Plan 

Term Definition 

            

            

List of Acronyms Used in the Safety Plan 

Acronym  Word or Phrase 

ARC Accident Review Committee 

BTW Behind-the-Wheel 

DOT Department of Transportation 

DUI Driving Under the Influence 

DWI Driving While Intoxicated 

ESC Executive Safety Committee 
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FGA First Group America 

F.O.R.M. First Occupational Rehabilitation Management 

FTA Federal Transit Administration 

HR Human Resources 

LGM General Manager 

LOTO Lock-Out/Tag-Out 

LSM Location Safety Manager 

MNT Maintenance 

OPS Operations 

OSHA Occupational Safety & Health Administration 

PPE Personal Protective Equipment 

PRM Performance Review Management 

SMS Safety Management System 

SOP Standard Operating Procedure 

SRC Safety Resource Center 

SST Safety Solutions Team 

UK United Kingdom 

VP Vice President 
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Appendix A: First Transit Safety Policy 

 
 

Safety Management Policy Statement 
 

Introduction 

Global in scale and local in approach, First Transit is an organization which combines a robust corporate 

structure with strong customer-centric, local operations.  Throughout the company, our focus is 

conducting our business in a way that aligns with our core values:  

• Committed to our customers  

• Dedicated to Safety 

• Supportive of Each Other 

• Accountable for Performance  

• Setting the Highest Standards 

We believe these values to be essential components in our aim to achieve ZERO safety events, resulting in 

ZERO harm to our customers, our employees, our shareholders, and the environments in which we 

operate. First Transit’s Safety Management System (SMS) encourages all First Transit employees to 

replace risky behaviors and thought processes that jeopardize safety in the workplace. Through the 

program, we are striving to build a cultural identity that is continually focused on safety. First Transit has 

adopted the core philosophy of, “Think Safe, Act Safe, BeSafe” 

Safety Management Policy 

At the core of First Transit’s mission is the commitment to protecting the safety and well-being of our 

passengers and employees.  Our “Be Safe” program is the foundation of First Transit’s Safety 
Management System (SMS) with three clear objectives: 

1. To make progress on our way to “Zero Harm” 

2. To make safety a personal core value through behavior change 

3. To improve business performance 

“Be Safe” – the driving force behind First Transit’s Safety Management Policy -  focuses on recognizing 

and acknowledging safe behavior and actions through positive reinforcement.  All employees are 

empowered to report unsafe acts and working conditions without fear of reprisal.   
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Safety Management Policy Statement 

The guiding principles that drive First Transit’s SMS program are: 

• Knowledge: Our greatest efforts will be directed at the key safety behaviors that will help reduce 

incidents. 

• Recognition: While not ignoring actions that undermine safety, the focus will be on 

acknowledging colleagues “doing it right” and positively reinforcing these actions. 

• Openness: Regular positive coaching interactions, or “touchpoints” will take place and 

communication at “debriefs” will be open and honest. 

• Learning: Reporting of incidents and near misses will be seen as learning opportunities to 

continuously improve work place safety. 

Courage: We are all empowered to accept responsibility for our own safety and the safety of our 

colleagues and customers. If you assess something to be unsafe, you should have the courage to 

stop and find a safer way of doing things. 

 

Performance improvement in all aspects of First Transit’s operations is based on four key elements: 

Leadership and Engagement; Risk Reduction; Safety Management; and Performance Management.  Each 
element includes safety as a top priority.   

Leadership and Engagement depends upon honest and open communication from all employees; data 

collection from which critical decisions are formulated that impact daily, short term, and long-term 

operations; resource management; and future direction of First Transit.   

Risk Reduction includes our comprehensive audit and inspection regime; hazard identification and 

reporting; continuous training and safety campaigns; employee safety evaluation reporting programs and 

procedures; employee and management observation of operations; and compliance assurance of FTA, 
DOT, and OSHA safety and operating requirements and recommendations.   

Safety Management at First Transit has many forms; including Safety Solution Teams, Accident Review 

Committees, Local Client Liaison Committees at each local operation; the corporate Safety Department 

which gathers, analyzes, and communicates the safety information throughout the organization; and 

enforces policies and procedures to ensure all employees are conducting their business in the safest 

manner possible.   
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Safety Management Policy Statement 

Performance Management ,the final key element, uses many Key Performance Indicators relating to 

safety to evaluate First Transit’s progress toward Zero safety events.  Daily reports; monthly location 

scorecards; the Critical Activity Record Entry program which captures and compares safety data 

monthly; major events calls, which alerts management in real time of safety events; and regular calls and 

meetings between mid-level and upper management to review safety concerns; are a sampling of the 

tools employed to ensure that safety is first and foremost in everything we do.  

Ongoing Company-Wide Commitment 

As President of First Transit, I know our commitment and passion for safety runs far deeper than the 

words contained in this policy statement.  While our roles may vary, everyone in our organization, from 

the highest levels of management to the employees on the street, has a responsibility for their own safety 

as well as the safety of colleagues and customers; and to perform the daily tasks of providing public 
transportation in as safe a manner as possible. 

We at First Transit depend on every member of our team to do everything possible to protect our 

resources and environment from harm, now and into the future.  We take great pride in this 

responsibility and our ability to meet these expectations. 

Sincerely, 

Bradley A. Thomas 

President 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: October 2020 Financial Report 

BACKGROUND: 

Attached is the Financial Report as of October 31, 2020. Dawn Bailey, Controller, will highlight 
the key points. 

AGING REPORT: 

TOTAL CURRENT 31-60DAYS 61-90DAYS OVER 91DAYS 

Accts Payable $1,226,988 $1,121,259 $95,594 $5,746 $4,389 
Accts Receivable $10,258,281 $5,012,950 $3,318,092 $1,809,535 $117,704 
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GRTC TRANSIT SYSTEM
BUDGET VARIANCE YTD
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2020
(In 000's)

August September October
Favorable/ Favorable/ Favorable/

(Unfavorable) (Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)
REVENUES:

Operating Revenue 29$     38$       26$     
Other Income (10)$    (11)$  7$     
Operationg Contributions (209)$    (599)$  311$     

Total Revenues (190)$    (572)$  344$     

EXPENSES:

Maintenance (383)$    29$     (248)$     
Transportation 2$       10$       (715)$     
Planning, Scheduling & Marketing 55$     48$       12$     
Insurance & Safety 53$     24$       37$     
General & Administrative 97$     83$       (30)$       
Purchase of Service - Spectran & Van Pools 305$      205$     186$       
Payroll Taxes 10$     10$       (57)$       

Total Expenses 139$      409$     (815)$     

NET BUDGET VARIANCE (51)$    (163)$  (471)$   

FY2021
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GRTC Transit System
STATEMENT OF INCOME

BUDGET VS. ACTUAL
For the Four Months Ending October 31, 2020

Fav/ 
(Unfav)

Fav/ 
(Unfav)

FY 2021 
Annual Budget

Budget Actual Difference Budget Actual Difference

Operating Revenue:
Customer Revenue - Fixed Route 15,731 15,731 F 0
Pass Program Revenue 65,751 65,751 0 F 263,002 316,128 53,126 F 789,006
Charter Revenue 221 221 F 885 885 F 0
Advertising Revenue 35,417 62,928 27,511 F 141,667 279,212 137,545 F 425,000
Other Operating Revenue 1,563 (1,563) U 6,250 50 (6,200) U 18,750

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------
 Total Operating Revenue 102,731 128,900 26,169 F 410,919 612,006 201,087 F 1,232,756

Other Income:
Ridefinders 36,900 55,116 18,216 F 147,601 164,981 17,380 F 480,219
Interest Income 15,396 5,779 (9,617) U 61,583 28,495 (33,088) U 184,750
Non-Transportation Income 2,204 338 (1,866) U 8,817 1,423 (7,394) U 26,450

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------
 Total Other Income 54,500 61,233 6,733 F 218,001 194,899 (23,102) U 691,419

Operating Contributions:
CARES Act VA2020-023 2,248,905 2,676,075 427,170 F 8,995,619 8,463,805 (531,814) U 26,986,854
Oper contrib - Federal 675,131 619,767 (55,364) U 2,700,524 2,500,145 (200,379) U 8,101,574
Oper contrib - State 802,200 850,351 48,151 F 3,208,800 3,467,457 258,657 F 9,626,400
Oper contrib - Richmond 663,140 663,140 0 F 2,652,561 2,652,561 0 F 7,957,684
Oper contrib - Henrico 353,866 254,028 (99,838) U 1,415,467 1,553,943 138,476 F 4,246,400
Oper contrib - Petersburg 16,667 16,667 0 F 66,667 66,667 0 F 200,000
Oper contrib - Chesterfield 102,636 94,248 (8,388) U 410,545 268,393 (142,152) U 1,231,636

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------
 Total Operating Contributions: 4,862,545 5,174,276 311,731 F 19,450,183 18,972,971 (477,212) U 58,350,548

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------

 Net Operating Revenue 5,019,776 5,364,409 344,633 F 20,079,103 19,779,876 (299,227) U 60,274,724

Operating Expenses:
Equipment & Facility Maintenance 911,563 1,159,498 247,935 U 3,586,598 4,229,462 642,864 U 11,981,217
Transportation 1,495,095 2,210,451 715,356 U 5,695,720 6,217,450 521,730 U 20,072,345
Planning, Scheduling & Marketing 158,433 146,767 (11,666) F 639,223 440,920 (198,303) F 2,014,244
Insurance and Safety 287,910 251,152 (36,758) F 1,146,640 950,487 (196,153) F 3,471,883
General and Administrative 1,036,177 1,065,783 29,606 U 4,125,483 3,802,790 (322,693) F 13,264,570
Purchase of Service - Spectran & Van Pool 621,849 435,845 (186,004) F 2,487,399 1,557,016 (930,383) F 7,462,196
Operating Taxes and Licenses 149,458 206,711 57,253 U 604,050 575,501 (28,549) F 2,008,268

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------
 Total Operating Expenses 4,660,485 5,476,207 815,722 U 18,285,113 17,773,626 (511,487) F 60,274,724

---------------- ---------------- -------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- --------------------
 Change in Net Postion 359,291 (111,798) (471,089) 1,793,990 2,006,250 212,260 0

Operating Ratio 13.5% 10.1% -3.4% 13.8% 15.2% 1.4%

Farebox Recovery Ratio 1.6% 1.3% -0.3% 1.7% 2.0% 0.4%

Current Month Year To Date
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GRTC Transit System
OPERATING EXPENSES 12/03/20

BUDGET VS. ACTUAL 09:09 PM

For the Four Months Ending October 31, 2020 BED YTD

1

Labor Other Costs Total
Budget Actual (Over) Under Budget Actual (Over) Under Budget Actual

EQUIPMENT & FACILITY MAINTENANCE
Mechanic Wages $518,473 $634,826 ($116,353) $518,473 $634,826
Bus Cleaners & Grounds Services 347,303 309,328 37,975 347,303 309,328
Supervisorty & Other Personnel 387,051 288,463 98,588 387,051 288,463
Maintenance Pension Expense 74,923 91,571 (16,648) 74,923 91,571
Fleet Repairs & Parts Shipment 750,438 896,702 (146,264) 750,438 896,702
Vehicle Tires 181,677 167,910 13,767 181,677 167,910
Fuel, Oil & Lubricants 208,140 216,572 (8,432) 208,140 216,572
CNG Fueling Cost 578,414 419,152 159,262 578,414 419,152
Shop Supplies, Materials and Tools 210,496 105,040 105,456 210,496 105,040
Facility Maintenance 247,442 203,794 43,648 247,442 203,794
Mechanic Uniforms & Tools 20,458 9,968 10,490 20,458 9,968
Transit Technology Maintenance 26,267 17,368 8,899 26,267 17,368
Maintenance Travel, Traning and Other Ex 2,183 3,085 (902) 2,183 3,085
CARES Act VA2020-023 Expense 33,333 865,683 (832,350) 33,333 865,683

Equipment & Facility Maintenance 1,327,750 1,324,188 3,562 2,258,848 2,905,274 (646,426) 3,586,598 4,229,462

TRANSPORTATION
Operator Wages 4,532,546 4,960,026 (427,480) 4,532,546 4,960,026
Supervisors and Other Personnel 508,332 545,151 (36,819) 508,332 545,151
Transportation Pension Expense 478,873 570,259 (91,386) 478,873 570,259
SpecTran Expenses 55,932 53,647 2,285 55,932 53,647
RPS Pass Program 3,486 2,040 1,446 3,486 2,040
Operator Uniform Allowance 42,667 17,286 25,381 42,667 17,286
Transporation Travel, Training & Other Exp 73,884 69,041 4,843 73,884 69,041

  Transportation 5,519,751 6,075,436 (555,685) 175,969 142,014 33,955 5,695,720 6,217,450

PLANNING, SCHEDULING & MARKETING
Scheduling Wages 232,855 230,775 2,080 232,855 230,775
Time Tables 19,344 17,799 1,545 19,344 17,799
Other Scheduling Expenses 21,284 3,322 17,962 21,284 3,322
Marketing Wages 86,276 87,974 (1,698) 86,276 87,974
Advertising Commissions 99,468 73,270 26,198 99,468 73,270
Advertising & Promotion 165,475 25,597 139,878 165,475 25,597
Survey & Data Collection 5,000 5,000 5,000
Marketing Training, Travel and Other Expen 9,521 2,183 7,338 9,521 2,183

  Total Scheduling & Marketing Expenses 319,131 318,749 382 320,092 122,171 197,921 639,223 440,920

INSURANCE & SAFETY
Insurance & Safety Wages 149,807 155,339 (5,532) 149,807 155,339
Provision for PL & DL Setlements 170,987 56,208 114,779 170,987 56,208
Workers Compensation Insurance 147,408 141,886 5,522 147,408 141,886
General Liability and Property Damage Insu 531,675 520,968 10,707 531,675 520,968
All Other Insurance 19,498 20,692 (1,194) 19,498 20,692
Brokered Services 18,332 39,708 (21,376) 18,332 39,708
BRT Expenses 100,000 100,000 100,000
Safety Program - FTA 15,000 (15,000) 15,000
Safety Training, Travel and Other Expenses 8,933 686 8,247 8,933 686

  Total Insurance & Safety Expenses 149,807 155,339 (5,532) 996,833 795,148 201,685 1,146,640 950,487

GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE
General and Administrative Salaries 843,971 809,100 34,871 843,971 809,100
Retirement Benefits 267,397 242,686 24,711 267,397 242,686
Health, Life & Disability Insurance 2,364,890 2,151,598 213,292 2,364,890 2,151,598
Other Employee Benefits 3,350 2,713 637 3,350 2,713
Employee Recruitment Fees 19,500 17,061 2,439 19,500 17,061
Security Services 8,123 139 7,984 8,123 139
Board of Directors Expense 8,332 8,332 8,332
Professional Fees 77,275 33,044 44,231 77,275 33,044
Go Cards, Transfers, & CARE Tickets 109,333 42 109,291 109,333 42
Communication & Information Technology 310,568 482,118 (171,550) 310,568 482,118
Membership Dues & Subscriptions 27,250 25,261 1,989 27,250 25,261
Travel, Training & Supplies 19,227 10,761 8,466 19,227 10,761
General Office Building Utilities 18,008 12,825 5,183 18,008 12,825
Procurement Bids & Advertising Expenses 1,000 598 402 1,000 598
Other General Expenses 47,259 14,844 32,415 47,259 14,844

  Total General & Administrative 3,476,258 3,203,384 272,874 649,225 599,406 49,819 4,125,483 3,802,790

PURCHASE OF SERVICE - SPECTRAN & VANPOOL
SpecTran 2,314,659 1,480,891 833,768 2,314,659 1,480,891
Vanpool 172,740 76,125 96,615 172,740 76,125

  Total SpecTran & Vanpool 2,487,399 1,557,016 930,383 2,487,399 1,557,016

OPERATING TAXES & LICENSES
Payroll Taxes 601,717 574,600 27,117 601,717 574,600
Vehicle Registrations 1,000 99 901 1,000 99
Operator Licenses 1,333 802 531 1,333 802

  Total Operating Taxes & Licenses 604,050 575,501 28,549 604,050 575,501

GRAND TOTAL 10,792,697 11,077,096 (284,399) 7,492,416 6,696,530 795,886 18,285,113 17,773,626
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GRTC Transit System
BALANCE SHEET 12/03/20

For the Four Months Ending October 31, 2020 09:10 PM

Balance Sheet

Current Prior Prior
Month Month Year End

ASSETS
Current Assets:
 Cash $1,909,317 $3,787,533 $1,531,096
 Working Funds 123,349 123,349 119,749
 Capital Funds 3,570,134 5,064,355 6,041,640
 Accounts Receivable, net 10,258,282 7,500,663 9,650,118
 Motor Bus Parts Inventory 810,986 784,527 807,755
 Gasoline Inventory 1,371 3,730 1,317
 Diesel Fuels Inventory 42,565 42,424 30,346
 Lubricants Inventory 37,395 29,364 34,231
 Prepayments 2,295,693 2,555,742 1,137,001

 Total Current Assets 19,049,092 19,891,687 19,353,253

Tangible Property:
 Property and Equipment 155,074,278 154,949,716 154,720,484
 Accumulated Depreciation (74,787,583) (74,387,583) (73,187,583)

 Net Property 80,286,695 80,562,133 81,532,901

Other Assets:
 Restricted Funds 8,492,752 8,492,752 8,492,752
 Intangible Asset - Software, net of amortiza 1,386,298 1,386,298 1,386,298
 Deferred Outflows GASB 68 8,573,235 8,573,235 8,573,235
 Deferred Outflows GASB 75 1,216,463 1,216,463 1,216,463

 Total Other Assets 19,668,748 19,668,748 19,668,748

TOTAL ASSETS 119,004,535 120,122,568 120,554,902

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
Current Liabilities:
 Accounts Payable 3,972,196 5,090,199 6,113,778
 Wages Payable 51,952 38,318 1,424,855
 Taxes Accrued 472 96,144
 Other Current Liabilities 1,552,391 1,256,223 515,773

 Total Current Liabilities 5,577,011 6,384,740 8,150,550

Non-current Liabilities:
 N/P City, OPEB and GASB 68 58,864,512 58,864,512 58,864,512

Reserves:
 Injuries, Loss, and Damage 386,250 386,250 350,650

 Total Reserves 386,250 386,250 350,650

TOTAL LIABILITIES 64,827,773 65,635,502 67,365,712

Capital:
 Common Stock 50,005 50,005 50,005
 Paid-In Capital 99,487,209 99,355,607 99,126,374
 Fund Balance - Accumulated Depreciation (83,404,669) (83,004,669) (81,804,669)
 Fund Balance - OPEB (1,901,708) (1,901,708) (1,901,708)
 Fund Balance - GASB 68 (36,089,951) (36,089,951) (36,089,951)
 Fund Balance - GASB 75 578,792 578,792 578,792
 Fund Balance 75,457,084 75,498,990 73,230,347

 Total Capital 54,176,762 54,487,066 53,189,190

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 119,004,535 120,122,568 120,554,902
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: October Cash Flow Statement with Projections 

BACKGROUND: 

Attached is the Cash Flow Statement with Projections as of October 31, 2020.  Dawn 
Bailey, Controller, will review the cash needs for the upcoming months.  
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Greater Richmond Transit Company
Cash Flow Projection
December 15, 2020

Actual Preliminary Expected Projected Projected
October November December January February

Beginning Balance 2,154,400$  274,899$  1,845,537$               1,067,798$               1,457,932$           

Payroll 2,651,033$  1,789,411$               1,981,720$               1,981,720$               1,981,720$           
Insurance 1,820$         -$  -$  -$  -$  
Medical 1,396,237$  704,430$  769,467$  769,467$  769,467$               
Parts/Supplies/Fuel 708,949$  460,089$  840,429$  840,429$  840,429$               
First Transit/Care-On-Demand 835,562$  422,914$  448,797$  448,797$  448,797$               
Vehicle Purchases -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Marketing/Utilities 145,781$  168,607$  296,132$  296,132$  296,132$               
Other 284,286$  133,207$  316,717$  316,717$  316,717$               
Reserve Payback -$  1,000,000$  1,000,000$               500,000$  -$  
Actual/Expected Expenses 6,023,667$  4,678,658$               5,653,262$               5,153,262$               4,653,262$           

Conservative Gross Excess/(Deficiency) (3,869,267)$  (4,403,759)$              (3,807,725)$              (4,085,464)$              (3,195,330)$          

Federal 993,892$  2,806,400$               3,379,400$               2,355,209$               2,355,209$           
State 822,324$  822,324$  822,324$  822,324$  822,324$               
Richmond -$  2,075,544$  -$  1,981,421$  -$  
Henrico 562,724$  216,785$  561,501$  243,404$  353,867$               
Chesterfield 99,022$       -$  65,144$   93,884$   96,188$  
Petersburg 16,667$       16,667$   16,667$   16,667$   16,667$  
VCU -$  212,500$  -$  -$  394,503$               
Other 149,537$  99,077$   30,488$   30,488$   30,488$  
Reserve Transfer into Revenue 1,500,000$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
Actual/ Expected Revenues 4,144,165$  6,249,297$               4,875,523$               5,543,396$               4,069,245$           

Conservative Excess/(Deficiency) 274,899$    1,845,537$               1,067,798$               1,457,932$               873,915$               

Reserve Monthly Use for Cash Flow 1,500,000$  (1,000,000)$              (1,000,000)$              (500,000)$  -$  
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: Recent and Upcoming Procurements 

BACKGROUND: 

Attached is a compilation of procurements that are on-going or have been identified to initiate in the coming months. 

Below is a list of procurements that fell within the $50,000 to below $250,000 range that required the Board 
Chairman’s approval.  

Date PO # Vendor Purpose Amount Requested by Approved by 

11/23/20 108100 Michael Baker 
Regional Transportation 
Plan 199,952 Adrienne Torres 

Tonya Thompson, Julie 
Timm, Ben Campbell 

12/1/2020 108151 Kimley-Horn GRTC Park & Ride 109,639 Adrienne Torres 
Tonya Thompson, Julie 
Timm, Ben Campbell 

11/11/2020 107985 
Strategy 
Compass Leadership Training $120,107 Julie Timm 

Tonya Thompson, Julie 
Timm, Ben Campbell 

11/3/2020 107907 
Edmunds Waste 
Removal Portable Toilet Rental $88,800 Tim Barham 

Tonya Thompson, Julie 
Timm, Ben Campbell 

8/11/2020 107164 
OBS Bus Temp 
Workers 

Change Order # 2– 
added 4-months service $123,187.50 Tony Byrd 

Tonya Thompson, Julie 
Timm, Ben Campbell 

Total $518,498 

Below is a list of procurements for Board Approval: 

Date Vendor Purpose Amount Requested By 

12/15/2020 Original Building Service Facility Janitorial Services $456,990 Joey Agee 

12/15/2020 Sonny Merryman Paratransit Vehicles $3,619,490 Tony Byrd 

12/15/2020 Original Building Service, Inc. Fleet Cleaning Services $164,250 Tony Byrd 

Total $4,240,730 

CURRENT STATUS: 

Tonya Thompson, Director of Procurement, will review the procurements at the December 2020 meeting. 
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TITLE DEPT BUDGET

ANTICIPATED  

AWARD DATE

PROJECT 

COMMENCEMENT 

DATE

Project    

End Date COMMENTS
Employee Parking Lot Paving Facility $54,800 TBD TBD TBD Developing IFB

Bus Cleaners Maintenance $750,000 Jan-21 Jan-21 TBD Solicitation Posted

Shelters Installation/Removal Services Planning $350,515 Jan-21 Jan-21 Dec-20

Proposals due 10/15/20 No 

Proposals Received-Reposted

Building Window Washing Services Facilities $6,364 TBD TBD TBD Not Started

Shelters Planning $90,625 Estimate Dec-20 Jan-21 TBD

Elevator Maintenance Service Facilities $28,200 Dec-20 Dec-20 Nov-25 Obtaining Quotes

Landing Pads Planning $150,000 Feb-21 TBD Dec-21 Solicitation Posted

Roof Repairs Facilities $125,000 TBD TBD TBD Planning 

CURRENT & ONGOING PROCUREMENTS

100



GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: FY22 Operational Baseline Budget 

BACKGROUND: 

CEO Julie Timm will present a baseline operational budget for FY2022 to include an 
assessment of revenues, expenses and expected growth for both. This baseline budget is 
presented for policy direction. Discussion with board members on the priorities and underlying 
assumptions prepared by staff will provide GRTC staff clearer direction to develop a draft 
budget to be presented in April 2021. The adoption of the FY22 budget is expected during the 
June 2021 Board meeting. 

Current Status: 

CEO Julie Timm will present revenue and expense assumptions for discussion. 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Discussion Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: Update on GRTC/ATU 1220 Collective Bargaining Agreement Negotiations 

BACKGROUND: 

On July 29, 2020, the Local Union President notified GRTC of his wish to negotiate changes in the ATU-
Local 1220 Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) dated October 1, 2017 through September 30, 2020. 
Due to scheduling conflicts and COVID restrictions, GRTC proposed a first meeting date of September 11, 
2020.  The first available date for the Union negotiating team was provided as September 28, 2020 
which was mutually agreed to. 

GRTC proposed an extension to the CBA and all its terms for the period of October 1, 2020 through 
December 31, 2020 or until a new agreement is ratified in order to provide sufficient time to complete 
negotiations.  Union President proposed and management agreed to an extension of the contract until 
the end of October 31, 2020 at which time both parties could consider another extension if necessary. 

GRTC and Union negotiation teams met on September 28, 2020.  Union presented initial proposals to 
management at this meeting. Management presented Union with initial proposals on October 5, 2020 
along with initial responses to Union proposals.  

GRTC and Union started negotiations on October 6 through October 8.  Management provided economic 
proposals to Union on October 7, 2020. Union provided economic proposal on October 8. On October 9, 
Union sent a request for additional information on benefits data.  Management responded with all data 
on October 22, 2020. 

GRTC and Union meet for second round of negotiations on October 28 through 29, 2020.  All proposals 
were either resolved to tentative agreement, agreed to in principle pending further discussion and 
consideration of written proposal from either management or Union, or withdrawn.  GRTC proposed an 
extension to the CBA and all its terms for the period of November 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 
or until a new agreement is ratified in order to provide sufficient time to complete negotiations.  Union 
President declined as most issues appeared to have been resolved and negotiations were assumed to be 
coming to an end. 

GRTC and Union meet for a third round of negotiations on November 10 to review Tentative 
Agreements and last unresolved issues including operator work rules.  By conclusion of meeting, all 
issues appeared to be resolved or close to resolution other than proposed work rule changes and 
management long-standing right to set work rules as set in CBA.  Union expressed position to change the 
CBA to give them the right to negotiate all work rule changes and expressed need for more time to 
review and comment on proposed work rule changes. Management restated position that changes to 
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work rules remain a management right but offered language to provide Union time to review and 
comment on all management work rule changes prior to implementation. 

GRTC and Union fourth round of negotiations scheduled for December 9 was canceled by Union on 
December 8 due to unavoidable conflict.  A new date is pending for proposed rescheduled dates from 
Union.  No comments on proposed work rule changes have been received by management to date. 

CURRENT STATUS: 

CEO Julie Timm will provide a summary of attached Tentative Agreements and unresolved issues 
(attached) reached to date. 
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Page 1 of 11 

GRTC / ATU 1220 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT NEGOTIATIONS 
TENTATIVE AGREEMENTS (YELLOW HIGHLIGHTS PENDING FINAL AGREEMENT) 

AS OF NOVEMBER 10, 2020 

Memorandum of Agreement (Pending Successful Completion of Negotiations) 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 1st day of October, 2017, 2020 by and between OLD 
DOMINION MANAGEMENT COMPANY, a corporation organized and doing business under the laws of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia, hereinafter for the sake of convenience call “Company,” party of the first 
part, its successors and assigns, and AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, Local Union 1220, Richmond 
Virginia, hereinafter for the sake of convenience called “Union,” party of the second part: 

Section 1:  Recognition and Representation, New Paragraph: 
GRTC is an Equal Opportunity Employer. 

Section 2: Union Security, 3rd Paragraph: 
Effective January 1, 2021, it is agreed further that the Company may discipline or discharge any new 
employee during a probationary period of one hundred twenty (120) calendar days beginning first day 
after completion of training from date of employment at its own discretion and no grievance can be 
claimed therefore by the Union.  A new employee absent from work during the probationary period 
shall have that probationary period extended by the same number of workdays that he or she was 
absent. 

Section 3:  Grievances, 5th and 6th Paragraph: 
STEP 2:  The COO Chief Operating Officer or Chief of Staff and Human Resources Director, or other 
management members as selected by the COO or COS, will hear said grievance presented by the Union’s 
grievance committee, or designee, within five (5) working days of receiving the grievance.  The grievance 
committee has five (5) working days after hearing the grievance to communicate a written decision to 
the union. 

If the COO or COS, Human Resources Director, and the Union cannot reach a satisfactory settlement, the 
grievance can proceed forward to the third step. 

Section 3:  Grievances, 8th Paragraph: 
If either party fails to abide by the deadlines, as prescribed above, the party in default will forfeit its 
position.  Such deadlines may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties at the step the 
grievance is in. 

Section 4:  Leaves of Absence, Last Paragraph: 
The Company agrees to abide by the prevailing federal laws associated with the Family and Medical 
Leave Act (FMLA) of 1993 and its regulations, or any federal laws to succeed, replace, or amend the 
FMLA of 1993, and the state leave law and its regulations, for all eligible employees in this bargaining 
unit. 
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Page 2 of 11 

Section 10:  Sick or Disabled Employees, Last Paragraph: 
Employees on sick leave shall be granted leaves of absence in accordance with leave of absence 
provision of this agreement. 

Section 10-A:  On the Job Injuries, 1st Paragraph: 
In the event of injuries received by an employee while performing the duties of their employment, 
Company shall pay employee missed wages for the period starting the first day out of work until the first 
day workers compensation payments begin as defined by Commonwealth of Virginia Workers’ 
Compensation laws.  For eligible employees, this amount shall be no greater than the difference 
between the amount of compensation payable to them under the Workers' Compensation laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia and any other benefits that may be received by the employee to which the 
Company contributes and the amount of their wages.  Employees with a work-related injury which is 
found to be non-compensable by the Company's Workers' Compensation insurance carrier shall be 
liable to repay the Company all company compensation.  The Company shall make every effort to ensure 
that liability is determined within the first ten (10) days of report of injury.  Payment will be made from 
the employee's sick leave bank or future sick leave accrual.  Payment shall be based on an operator's 
regular duty time, or in case of other employees, based on their regular hours, except that the pay of 
extra operators shall be based on the minimum regular duty time per week.  Company shall be entitled 
to restitution of any such differences paid by it to the extent of any recoveries by such employee against 
other parties and the employee shall furnish the Company with the appropriate agreement or 
assignment as a condition of such payment. 

Section 10-A:  On the Job Injuries, 1st Paragraph, 4th Sentence: 
Payment will be made from the employee’s sick leave bank. or future sick leave accrual. 

Section 11:  Sick Leave, Last Paragraph: 
Collective Bargaining Members can donate sick time to the hourly employees anonymously.  The 
contributor must have a minimum of 160 sick leave hours and can only donate 40 hours per individual 
per year.  If the recipient of the sick leave is facing discipline, because this is not an earned benefit, this 
shall not stop any pending discipline action. 

Section 11-A:  Partial Day Sick Leave Policy, 2nd Paragraph: 
Partial Day Sick Leave Policy – An employee who is eligible for sick leave may be allowed to take a full or 
partial day.  The eligible employee may take a partial day of sick leave (at least one hour) under the 
following circumstances: 

A. When being relieved from the job because of illness or injury.
B. For preapproved medical appointments with proper documentation.
C. In compliance with the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).
D. Employees calling in sick more than 90 minutes before their report time.

Section 11-A:  Partial Day Sick Leave Policy, 3rd Paragraph: 
If the employee uses sick leave for the first or second part of the employee’s workday, the employee will 
receive sick leave for the portion of which the employee has missed only.  For qualified partial day 
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Page 3 of 11 

absences, employees will receive sick leave payment for actual time lost. In all circumstances, 
appropriate medical documentation must be submitted, and all other procedures followed in order to 
receive payment. 

Section 12:  Vacations, 7th Paragraph: 
No employee shall be entitled to full vacation benefits unless during the preceding calendar year or first 
twelve months for new employees, such employee has not missed forty (40) days.  In computing the 
time periods, time spent on vacation, or time lost for Union business, FMLA, earned sick days, or 
through an industrial accident shall be included in days worked.  This paragraph shall not apply to any 
employee taking total and permanent disability retirement. Employees missing forty-one (41) days shall 
have their vacation reduced in accordance with the following scale: 

Section 12:  Vacations, 10th Paragraph: 
Employees will receive vacation pay on the payday prior to the beginning of the vacation period, or if 
requested by the employee, fifteen (15) workdays prior to the beginning date of the vacation.  Vacation 
pay will be paid on the payday of the pay period in which is used. 

Section 12:  Vacations, 17th Paragraph: 
Any hourly employee hired on or after January 1, 2021 Beginning January 1, 2008, hourly employees 
shall be allowed to designate one week of their vacation to be used in single days provided the 
employee meets the following criteria: 

1. An employee must have four weeks of vacation time in order to designate a week to be taken in
single days.

2. The policy governing personal days shall be used to administer single day vacation time and
floating holiday.

Hourly employees with employment start dates on or prior to November 10, 2020 shall be allowed to 
designate one week of their vacation to be used in single days provided the employee meets the 
following criteria: 

1. An employee must have three weeks of vacation time in order to designate a week to be taken in
single days.

2. The policy governing personal days shall be used to administer single day vacation time and
floating holiday.

3. An employee who does not use his/her vacation that has been designated for single days shall be
paid for those unused days in the first full pay period in January of the new year.

Section 13:  Holidays, 1st Paragraph: 
Effective January 1, 2021, the following shall be holidays with pay for eight (8) or ten (10) hours 
depending on whether an operator has pulled a regular five-day work week or has pulled a four-day 
work week respectively, times the employee’s regular hourly rate of pay: 

New Year's Day  
Martin Luther King’s Birthday 
President’s Day 

Memorial Day 
Juneteenth 
Independence Day 
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Labor Day 
Indigenous Peoples Day 
Veterans Day 

Thanksgiving Day 
Christmas Day 
Floating Holiday  

Section 13:  Holidays, 2nd Paragraph: 
Effective January 1, 2021, Full-time employees, who have completed their probationary period, will be 
granted two (2) four (4) Personal Days off (per calendar year) with pay for eight (8) or ten (10) hours 
depending on whether an operator has pulled a regular five-day work week or he/she has pulled a four-
day work week, respectively, times the employee's current hourly rate of pay.  An employee who does 
not use their Personal Days will be reimbursed for those days in the first full pay period in January of the 
new year.  Procedures regarding the use of Personal Days will be subject to a mutual agreement 
between the Company and the Union. 

Section 13:  Holidays, 3rd Paragraph: 
Employees who are required to work on any of said holidays will be paid for such work at their regular 
straight time hourly rate of pay in addition to their holiday pay, provided, however, that if said holiday 
falls on an employee's regularly assigned days off, they shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1-
1/2) times their regular straight time hourly rate for time worked if they would regularly be eligible for 
overtime pay for that work in addition to their holiday pay. 

Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Section (c), 1st Paragraph:   
Employees, in the bargaining unit, required by the Company to attend court trials or Conferences in 
connection therewith will be paid on a straight time basis for actual time required or time necessarily 
lost for such purposes, whichever may be greater.  Employees whom are not involved in the accident or 
claim in question that are required to comply with this section will be paid on a straight time basis for 
actual time required or time necessarily lost for such purposes, whichever may be greater. 

Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Section (e), 1st Paragraph: 
(e) Company agrees to continue contributions to group life insurance and short-term disability benefits
program. during the term of this agreement its present practices, as amended in the recent negoti-
ations, with respect to (a) contributions to group life insurance, (b) short-term disability benefits
program, and (c) educational privileges.

Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Section (e), 8th Paragraph: 
Upon the ratification of this Agreement, The Company will furnish a short-term disability benefits 
program that will provide four hundred ($400) three hundred eighty ($380), on October 1, 2018, three 
hundred ninety ($390), and on October 1, 2019, four hundred ($400) per week for thirteen (13) weeks.  
Company and Union agree that the same conditions that presently apply will continue to apply during 
the term of this agreement.  An employee will not be eligible to draw short-term disability benefits, sick, 
vacation, holiday, personal leave, or worker’s compensation pay or any other such pay at the same time 
unless otherwise provided for in this agreement. 
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Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Paragraph (g):   
(g) Effective October 1, 2017, 2020 and on October 1 each year thereafter, through September 30, 2020, 
after completion of training, the annual credits for Operator’s uniforms will $450. be as outlined below: 

 
Effective 10/1/17     $350 
Effective 10/1/18 $375 
Effective 10/1/19 $400 

 
 
Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Section (h), 2nd Paragraph: 
The aggregate contributions of members of the bargaining unit and the Company, for each and every 
month of a member’s active membership in the Plan, shall be reflected in the schedule below: 

 
 Date Member Company Total 

 
 10/1/17 8.0% 10.0% 18.0% 
 7/1/18 8.0% 11.0% 19.0% 
 10/1/18 8.0% 11.5% 19.5% 
 10/1/19 8.0% 12.0% 20.0%  
 
 10/1/20 9.0% 13.0% 22.0% 
 10/1/21 10.5% 14.0% 24.0% 
 10/1/22 12.0% 15.0% 27.0% 
 
 
Section 15:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, 15th Paragraph: 
Upon the ratification of this Agreement, Employees may, at their own expense, participate in a 
voluntary long-term disability plan. 
 
 
Section 16:  Work Week and Work Day, Paragraph (e), Number 3: 
For all work beyond an eleven and one-half (11.5) a ten and one-half (10.5) hour spread in the case of 
split duties, to become effective as part of the first run-bid system rescheduling in 2021. 
 
 
Section 16:  Work Week and Work Day, Paragraph (j): 
(j)  All operators shall have at least ten (10) eight (8) consecutive hours off duty prior to their AM report, 
to become effective as part of the first run-bid system rescheduling in 2021. Extra board operators are 
required to check the AM board for any assignment that falls within their lot after the required hours 
off, which may include AM work. 
 
 
Section 18:  Sign-Ups/Bids and Schedules, Paragraph (b), 2nd Paragraph: 
If for any reason operator cannot be present, they shall prepare a prioritized list of choices (at least eight 
(8) twelve (12) but preferable more) of duties they desire, unselected at the time the operator goes on 
duty, above their signature, and leave such list with their representative.  Operators not present, and 
who have failed to file their preferences or selections or operators unable to secure a duty from prefer-
ences they have submitted, shall be assigned a duty as near as possible to the class and kind of duty they 
are then assigned to.  Operators on duty, whose choices have been taken, shall be personally contacted 
for sign-up/bid purposes. 
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Section 18:  Sign-Ups/Bids and Schedules, Additional Language: 
All lines shall have at least one (1) early straight with weekends off, to become effective as part of the 
first run-bid system rescheduling in 2021. 

Section 19:  Extra Board, Last Paragraph: 
Operators assigned work on the AM board, then assigned work on the PM board and get off after 9:30 
a.m., may choose to keep their AM standing or PM standing.  The 8-hour 10-hour off-duty requirement
in accordance with Section 16(j) of the Memorandum of Agreement is still applicable.

Section 20:  Delay in Reporting – Missing Out, 2nd Paragraph: 
An operator reporting late for an early assignment shall be placed at the bottom of the extra board for 
that day.  If they report prior to 8:00 a.m. 7:00 a.m. and perform the work thereafter assigned them on 
that day, they shall resume their regular position on the day following.  No operator, holding a regular 
early duty, who has missed out, shall be required to perform work after 7:30 p.m. 

Section 21:  Wage Rates and Allowances, Paragraph a: 
The top hourly rate of pay applicable to all operators employed prior to October 1, 2017 2020, shall be 
as follows (all rate changes will be effective Sunday closest to the beginning of the pay period). 

10/1/17 - $22.39 10/1/20 - $24.79 
4/1/18 - $22.64 10/1/21 - $25.78 
10/1/18 - $22.94 10/1/22 - $26.81 
4/1/19 – $23.24 
10/1/19 - $23.54 
4/1/20 - $23.84 

Section 21:  Wage Rates and Allowances, Paragraph (e): 
(e) Effective January 1, 2021, Operators working in the capacity of line instructors or training assistants,
who are training new or current employees in the classroom or over the-road and field operation
assistants, and who have completed Company’s training program for line instructors and training
assistants will be paid one dollar ($1.00) two dollars ($2.00) per hour in addition to their regular rate of
pay for such training service.  All other individuals will receive one dollar ($1.00) per hour.

Section 22:  Meal Reliefs 
The Company shall provide drop-backs in all regular straight duties after each rush hour in order to 
provide for a period in which the straight duty operator may eat their meal.  Such drop-backs shall 
generally be made at the outer terminals and shall be of not less than ten (10) twenty (20) minutes' 
duration, to become effective as part of the first run-bid system rescheduling in 2021. 

Section 24:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Paragraph c, Part-Time Bus Operators, 5th Paragraph: 
Part-time bus operators shall not work charters, vacation reliefs, protecting service, regular duties, open 
duties, or parts of open duties.  However, part-timers can be used at any time, on any service, when no 
full-time operator can be secured.  Part-time operators shall not may only be removed from an 
assignment in order to fill an open assignment 60 minutes after the board goes up and provided all full-
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time options have been exhausted. 

Section 24:  Miscellaneous General Provisions, Paragraph (d): 
(d) The Company and Union mutually agree to meet and negotiate on rates of pay, hours of
employment, and other conditions of employment applicable to employees performing new services not
currently performed or operated by Company as of October 1, 2020, including, but not limited to,
service provided under the Americans’ With Disabilities Act and service provided for participants of the
“Welfare-To-Work” Program.

Section 24-A:  Safety Committee and Operator Incentive Program, Last Paragraph: 
Additionally, with the ratification of this New Memorandum of Agreement, The Company and Union 
agree to continue the Operator Incentive Program. 

Section 28:  Wage Rates and Allowances, Miscellaneous Service Employees 
Cleaners 50% 50%  57% 50%   65% 

Section 28:  Wage Rates and Allowances, Miscellaneous Service Employees, Paragraph (d): 
(d) Effective January 1, 2021, any employee called on to act as lead person in place of a foreman, in the
foreman's absence, shall be paid additional compensation at the rate of one dollar ($1.00) two dollars
($2.00) an hour while so acting. While in this work, they shall perform all the duties and accept all the
responsibilities of the foreman.  There are no direct supervisory responsibilities.

Section 28:  Wage Rates and Allowances, Miscellaneous Service Employees, Paragraph (h): 
(h) Effective January 1, 2021, mechanics qualified to operate the wrecker, will be paid $1.00 $2.00 more
per hour for the remainder of their shift after being assigned to the wrecker.

Section 29:  Safety and Facilities, Paragraph (b): 
(b) Employees in the shops and garages may register their tools with Company.  Company will create a
Safety Committee to inspect all tools and equipment used by employees at least once every six (6)
months and as often thereafter as necessary.  All Maintenance Department employees required to have
their own tools and who have one or more years' service with the Company shall be provided an annual
tool allowance as follows:   4/1/21 $550 and annually each April 1 thereafter.

10/1/17 $425 
10/1/18 $475 
10/1/19 $525 

Section 31:  Alternative Propulsion and New Equipment, New Section: 
Should the Company decide to purchase electric, hybrid/electric or any other alternative fuel or 
propulsion equipment, management shall endeavor to have this equipment maintained by bargaining 
unit staff. When management is able to reasonably ensure that any such equipment can be maintained 
at company facilities, the Company will ensure that all necessary training and specialized tools and 
equipment will be provided on-site prior to the end of any warranty period. Upon management 
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determination that new fleet vehicles can be maintained on-site, the maintenance of any such vehicle 
will be subject to the same provisions of the collective agreement that apply to the existing fleet.  

When management determines that warranty work can reasonably be completed on company property, 
bargaining unit employees of the same or similar classification and with the necessary pre-qualifications 
as the individual performing the service shall be provided the opportunity to be trained on the 
maintenance work. This time shall be considered “on the job training” to prepare the current workforce 
to assume the repair duty upon the expiration of the warranty. This training is in addition to any regular 
training required to perform such work. 

Section 32:  Savings Clause, New Section: 
In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall at any time be declared invalid by any court of 
competent jurisdiction or be superseded or modified by governing laws or regulations applicable to 
GRTC and the operations of public transit service, the invalidation of said provision shall not invalidate 
the entire Agreement, it being the express intention of the parties that all other provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect.   

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, as set forth above, the parties shall enter into 
negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for the provision held 
invalid. 

Management will comply with all laws and regulations for pay, paid and unpaid leave under any 
applicable State of Emergency that affects GRTC service. 

Section 31 33: Term of Agreement (Pending Successful Completion of Negotiations) 
This agreement shall be effective from midnight, October 1, 2017, October 1, 2020 until midnight, 
September 30, 2020, September 30, 2023, and from year to year thereafter, unless sixty (60) days prior 
to any expiration date one of the parties hereto informs the other in writing of its desire to terminate 
this agreement or to negotiate with respect to any changes herein. 

Section 32 34:  Conclusion, Section Number Changes: 
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GRTC / ATU 1220 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT NEGOTIATIONS 
UNRESOLVED ITEMS HIGHLIGHTED IN YELLOW  

AS OF NOVEMBER 10, 2020 

Section 1:  Recognition and Representation, Last Paragraph: 
Old Dominion Transit Management Company and the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1220 agree 
that the current labor agreement , working rules, past practices and memoranda agreements and 
understandings shall remain unchanged except as modified to provide the new labor agreement 
effective October 1, 2017. 2020. 

Section 5:  Management, 1st Paragraph: 
Subject to the provisions of this contract, Company will exercise exclusive right to set its policy; to 
manage its business in the light of experience, good business judgment, and changing conditions; to 
determine the amount of service to be run at any and all times; to direct the workforce; to determine 
the number of employees at any given time; to determine the qualifications for and to select its 
managerial and supervisory forces and other employees it will retain in its service at any time during the 
life of this agreement; to make reasonable rules and regulations governing the operation of its business 
and the conduct of its employees; to enforce discipline for violation of rules and other misconduct; to 
suspend or discharge employees for just cause; and to determine the qualifications for and to hire new 
employees.   

Prior to implementation of any new or modified rules or regulations, the Company shall give written 
notice to the union five (5) days in advance of the effective date of such rule or regulation to include 
mutually accepted past practices and memoranda of agreements and understandings.  The Company 
will meet with the Union to discuss proposed rule changes prior to implementation of any rule or 
regulation.  The Company then will notify the Union as soon as possible but no longer than 24 hours 
after implementation.  Rules and regulations will be placed in a conspicuous place of reference by 
employees.  Any exceptions will be based on emergencies. 

Section 10:  Sick or Disabled Employees:   
The Company reserves the right to arrange, at its own expense, for a medical evaluation of any 
employee at any time and the doctor shall submit a written report to the Company stating the nature of 
the employee's ailment or disability and the extent to which it affects their fitness for the job. The 
employee shall have the right to have their family or personal physician conduct an evaluation to 
determine the extent to which a condition affects their fitness for their job. If an employee challenges 
any physician evaluation, the employee must notify the Human Resources Department of the date of 
their personal Physician evaluation within three (3) working days (excluding holidays and weekends) of 
the Company’s Physician notification of evaluation to the employee. Where the Company Physician and 
the employee’s Physician disagree, the company physician and the employee’s Physician shall select a 
third Physician to resolve the dispute. The decision of the third Physician shall be final and binding on 
both parties, and the expense of the third Physician shall be shared equally by the Company and the 
Union. If the Company’s evaluation determines a return to work date and if the employee does not elect 
to have his/her Physician challenge the return to work date, the employee must return to work at that 
time or he/she will be terminated.  If no return to work date is established, the employee shall have 
between three months to up to one (1) year based on years of employment at Company (to include 
FMLA eligible leave) from the first day of absence date of completion of the evaluation, to return to 
work.  The employee shall maintain his seniority during this time.  At the end of the three (3) to twelve 
(12) month period, if the employee has not returned to work, the Company has the right to terminate
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the employee.  Provided the employee continues paying their portion of the premium their benefits 
shall continue during the allowed absence.  Allowable absence and continuance of benefits are set 
according to the following: 

Years of Service Benefit Continuation Period 
0-5 years   3 months 
5-10 years   6 months 
10-20 years   9 months 
20 + years 12 months 

Theis defined allowable absence and benefits continuation period shall be granted a maximum of one 
time during the entire employment period with the company regardless of the number of days used.  
will commence anew if the employee returns to full-time employment for a period in excess of the time 
he had been absent from work.  Any subsequent leave within the 3, 6, 9, or 12-month period will be a 
continuation of the benefit continuation period up to that limit of 3, 6, 9, or 12 months. 

After exhaustion of sick pay and short-term disability the employee will be paid through the optional 
voluntary short-term disability plan if they chose to participate in this plan.  In any event, the employee 
will be allowed to exhaust all sick time and short-term disability and maintain benefits during that 
period. 

After the absence and benefits continuation period expires and if company does not terminate 
employment, an employee may, at their own expense, pay 100% of the benefit premium in order to 
continue their benefits until they return to work or are terminated from employment.  This is 
completely voluntary and the Company will not share in the cost.  

The company will comply with applicable state and federal regulations related to the provision of 
employment to employees with a disability. 

Wages of any employee suffering sickness or disability during the term of this agreement will be 
adjusted to the earning level of assigned position the employee is assigned should disability or sickness 
occur.  The wages of no employee, except as provided in this agreement, will be decreased during the 
life of this agreement. 

Section 11:  Sick Leave:  
When an employee has a planned or requested Personal Day, Holiday, or Vacation, employee may not 
take an unexcused absence for the last regular working day before, the day of, or the first regular 
working day after, as applicable, said planned or requested day, without valid medical documentation 
stating nature of illness and including a return to work date.  An unexcused absence occurring the day 
prior to, on, or after any planned or requested Personal Day, Holiday, or Vacation Day and occurring 
without acceptable written medical documentation submitted to HR within 1 day of return to work shall 
result in the employee loosing that benefit day(s) for that calendar year, the day shall be converted to 
an unexcused absence, and the entire absence including the Personal Day(s), Holiday(s), or Vacation 
Day(s) shall go unpaid as part of the unexcused absence. 

Section 27:  Seniority, Paragraph (j), 9th Paragraph: 
The maximum number of part time maintenance employees shall not exceed a total of ten part time 

employees or ten (10) percent of the number of full-time maintenance employees covered by the 
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collective bargaining agreement, whichever is greater.  Eligible positions for part-time positions in the 

maintenance department include general utility, general service, cleaners, mechanic assistants, and 

mechanics. Only qualified GRTC retirees may be hired as part time mechanics such that part time 

mechanics shall not exceed a total of three part time mechanics or ten (10) percent of total mechanics 

employed, whichever is greater. 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: FY2020 Annual Financial Audit 

BACKGROUND: 

According to the Articles of Incorporation, Greater Richmond Transit Company’s books 
and financial records shall be audited after each fiscal year.  The Auditors shall present 
the results of the audit to the Board of Directors. 

CURRENT STATUS: 

Brown, Edwards & Company, L.L.P. conducted Greater Richmond Transit Company’s 
audit of financial statements which comprise the statement of financial position as of 
June 30,2020 for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the financial 
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Leslie Roberts, CPA, Partner, Brown Edwards & Company, will present the Financial 
Audit report. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Board of Directors accepts Greater Richmond Transit Company’s FY2020 
Audit report as presented. 

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Honorable Members of the Board of Directors 
Greater Richmond Transit Company  
Richmond, Virginia 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Richmond Transit Company and its 
blended component unit as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Greater Richmond Transit Company’s basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Greater Richmond Transit Company and its blended component unit as of June 30, 2020, and the 
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matters 
Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
We have previously audited Greater Richmond Transit Company’s 2019 financial statements, and we 
expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated  
March 23, 2020.  In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein, as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2019, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from 
which it was derived. 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management's discussion 
and analysis, other postemployment benefit liability information, and net pension liability information and 
related ratios, including contributions and related notes on pages 3 through 7 and 36 through 40 be presented 
to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 8, 2020, 
on our consideration of the Greater Richmond Transit Company’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
Newport News, Virginia 
December 8, 2020 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
June 30, 2020 

(Continued) 
3 

Herein contained are the audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 for the Greater Richmond 
Transit Company (the Company). This report contains the Company's Statement of Net Position, Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, and Statement of Cash Flows.  This information, in conjunction 
with the related notes, provides full disclosure of all the material financial operations of the Company.  These 
statements are the representations of management, who bears the responsibility for their accuracy, completeness 
and fairness. Management is committed to provide accurate, concise and quality financial information to the 
governmental supporters, residential users of our services, and to all other interested parties.  Management believes 
the data, as presented, is accurate in all material respects, and fairly sets forth the financial position and results of 
operations of the Company and makes disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain a well-informed 
understanding of the financial affairs of the Company. 

In June 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued a Statement titled, Basic Financial 
Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments. This statement, known 
as the "Reporting Model" statement, affects the way the Company prepares and presents financial information.  The 
statement established the current requirements and reporting model for the annual financial reports of state and local 
governments.  The Statement was developed to make annual reports easy to understand and useful to the people 
who use governmental financial information to make decisions.  The following are required by the statement: 

Statement of Net Position 

This statement is designed to display the financial position of the Company.  This statement reports all assets, 
including capital assets and infrastructure, and liabilities of the Company. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

This statement reports revenues and expenses in a format that focuses on the entire operating results of the 
Company. Other non-operating revenues, operating contributions and capital asset transactions are also included in 
this statement. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

This statement shows the actual cash inflows and outflows of the Company using the direct method of presentation. 

Management's discussion and analysis regarding the results of operations and financial position as of June 30, 2020 
and 2019, and for the years then ended follows. 
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Results of Operations 

  2020   2019  

 Passenger revenue $ 5,051,406 $ 6,786,716 
 Governmental purchased service  8,938,765   8,668,761 
 Charter revenue  55,692  85,142 
 Special service revenue  1,619,166  1,335,206 
 Advertising revenue  894,244  1,030,912 

 Total operating revenues  16,559,273  17,906,737 

 Salaries and wages  24,642,765   21,915,057 
 Employee benefits and payroll taxes  18,885,774   16,484,178 
 Fees and services  2,414,345  3,169,081 
 Materials and supplies  6,879,189  6,345,305 
 Utilities  603,151   586,934 
 Insurance  2,008,059  2,208,190 
 Purchased transportation services  5,004,815  5,154,779 
 Other   1,028,350  1,285,275 
 CARES Act expenses  489,263  - 
 Depreciation and amortization  10,449,040   10,682,610 

 Total operating expenses  72,404,751  67,831,409 

 Operating loss  (55,845,478)  (49,924,672) 

 Other non-operating revenues  398,621   1,416,094 
 Operating contributions  39,639,408  34,933,141 
 Capital grant contributions  2,265,934  11,213,756 
 Gain on disposal of capital assets  42,074   66,075 
 Transfer of BRT assets to the City of Richmond  -  (7,429,588) 

 Change in net position  (13,499,441)  (9,725,194) 

 Net position, beginning of year  54,197,182  63,922,376 

 Net position, end of year $ 40,697,741 $ 54,197,182 

Results of Operations 

The Company's results of operations for the year ended June 30, 2020, reflect a decrease in total net position of 
$13,499,441. 
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Results of Operations (Continued) 

All services provided by the Company are dependent upon the availability of operating revenues, non-operating 
revenues, operating contributions and capital grant contributions. Operating revenues include passenger revenue 
from transit and CARE ticket sales, along with farebox recoveries; governmental revenues in the form of purchase-
of-service agreements with local governments; charter revenue for charter services provided through local 
transportation companies; special service revenue in the form of contract business with local universities; and 
advertising revenue from sales of various bus advertising displays.  Much of the funding is based directly on service 
levels and ridership.  During its first year of operation in FY2019, the BRT Pulse ridership doubled initial 
projections.  Along with the system redesign, total ridership experienced double digit grown which resulting in 
increased passenger revenues. 

However, from March through June 2020 with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, ridership decreased between 
30% to 40% overall, which netted a total annual decrease in ridership for FY 2020 of 2.25% below FY 2019 
numbers.  Due to complications surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company stopped charging fares in 
March 2020.  This the largest contributing factor for the decrease in operating revenues in FY2020, with farebox 
revenue decreasing by 25.19% even though total ridership for the year compared to FY2019 was only slightly down 
by 2.25%. 

Governmental purchased service revenue increased slightly in FY 2020 by $270,004, a result of increased service 
in Henrico and Chesterfield Counties.  Charter revenue decreased in FY 2020 compared to FY 2019.  The demand 
for charters was down slightly for FY 2020 due to reduced demands of businesses in Spring of 2020 under COVID 
pandemic restrictions.  Special service revenue increased in FY 2020 by $283,960, due to the contract with Virginia 
Commonwealth University. Advertising revenue decreased in FY 2020 by $136,668, because of economic struggles 
of small businesses during the pandemic slowdown and shutdown.  GRTC has engaged with Bon Secours and 
Virginia Commonwealth University as sponsors for the Pulse Corridor. 

A significant contribution to the decrease in GRTC’s net position is the result of a $4.6M increase in operating 
expenses due to GASB 68 required pension reporting increase of $1.6M, additional pay for COVID-19 front-line 
workers for approximately $1M, with the remaining $2M pertaining to mandatory increases in the current labor 
contract and annual cost of living increases for salaried employees, along with applicable payroll taxes and pension 
match.  The Pension committee continues to consider changes to the plan document that will improve the position 
of the overall funding and reduce the overall unfunded liability and minimize its impact on the net position of the 
Company.   

Fees and services decreased in FY 2020 by $754,736, primarily due to decreased marketing activity for the BRT 
Pulse media purchases and Richmond Transit Network Plan expenses.  Materials and supplies increased in FY 2020 
by $533,884, primarily due to increased fleet repairs for rolling stock and support vehicles and increased costs of 
COVID PPE and cleaning supplies. Utilities costs were up in FY 2020 by $16,217.  Insurance costs decreased 
during FY 2020 by $200,131, a result of decreased claims payout. 
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Results of Operations (Continued) 

Purchased transportation costs decreased in FY 2020 by $149,964.  Specialized service includes the paratransit 
(CARE) service, Care on Demand, as well as the welfare-to-work (CVAN) service.  GRTC provided an optional 
premium service “Care on Demand” that supports the paratransit eligible participant to book their services the same 
day with singular occupancy for their trip.  This service reduces the overall cost per trip and was a portion of the 
cause for the decreased expenses.  However, the primary cause of decreased expenses was the result of significantly 
reduced demand from March through June 2020 with the on-set of the COVID pandemic.  Demand for CARE 
service dropped by over 50% during this period which resulted in a significant reduction in expenses.  This was 
offset by using specialized services to support fixed route services during the pandemic in order to reduce passenger 
load per vehicle. 

Other operating expenses decreased in FY 2020 by $256,925, due to decreased advertising and promotion expenses 
at the end of FY2020 when COVID began to surge in the region.  The Company incurred CARES Act expenses of 
$489,263, which consisted of wipes, sanitizers, masks, gloves, bus barriers, shields and additional labor for 
sanitation of buses.  These expenses represent three and a half months of need for the period between March and 
June 2020.. 

Other non-operating revenues include interest on cash temporarily idle during the year that is invested in a highly 
liquid investment portfolio with the Virginia Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) and other income not part 
of the ordinary income from operations. Other non-operating revenues decreased in FY 2020 by $1,017,473, 
primarily due to the net overstating of Federal grant funding received in advance on June 30, 2018.  During FY2019, 
the balance was corrected causing an increase in earned revenue, which caused the FY 2019 revenues to be 
overstated. The non-operating revenues are expected to remain flat or decrease in FY 2021. Interest rates continue 
to remain flat with no change predicted for the next fiscal year. 

Operating contributions, which approximated 55% in FY 2020 and 51% in FY 2019 of operating expenses, 
respectively, came directly from various governmental grant subsidies from the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA), City of Richmond, Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (State) and other local 
organizations. Funding from the Federal Government increased by $2,502,191 in FY 2020. This increase is due to 
additional operating expense caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and other federally eligible expenses for 
reimbursement. GRTC anticipates federal funding to increase for FY 2021 specifically associated with COVID 
related legislation and relief.  City funding increased for FY 2020 by $749,117, while State funding increased by 
$1,422,117. 

Capital grant contributions are used to purchase nearly all capital assets of the Company and include funding from 
the Federal Transit Administration, City of Richmond, and the Virginia Department of Rail and Public 
Transportation. Capital grant contributions decreased in FY 2020 by $8.9M for three reasons.  First, contributions 
decreased because of the completion BRT Pulse project along Broad Street in FY2019.  Second, the reduction in 
FY2020 was caused due to the reduced staff capacity to execute capital projects with the onset of COVID-19.  And 
third, the reduction was caused due to a pause in the ongoing conversion of the diesel fleet to CNG vehicles.  While 
the Company continues to focus on converting its diesel fleet to a Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) fleet which 
accounted for a large capital contribution in FY2019, GRTC did not take delivery of any compressed natural gas 
vehicles in FY 2020.  The change in capital grant position from FY2019 to FY2020 was offset by the transfer of 
the BRT assets of $7.4M in FY 2019. 
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Results of Operations (Continued) 

Financial Position 
  2020   2019  

 Current and other assets $ 27,546,292 $ 30,732,861 
 Capital assets  77,255,496  85,458,561 

 Total assets  104,801,788  116,191,422 

 Deferred outflows  30,138,288   9,789,698 

 Current liabilities  9,278,423   13,312,526 
 Long-term liabilities  75,771,238   49,769,114 

 Total liabilities  84,989,661  63,081,640 

 Deferred inflows  9,252,674   8,702,298 

 Net investment in capital assets  77,255,496  85,458,561 
 Restricted  2,719,786   2,719,786 
 Unrestricted  (39,277,541)  (33,981,165) 

 Net position $ 40,697,741 $ 54,197,182 

Financial Position 

Current and other assets decreased by $3,186,569, primarily due to receipt of grant funding for the BRT Pulse project.  
Capital assets decreased by $8,203,065, primarily due to the annual depreciation and amortization of our capital 
assets.  Current liabilities decreased by $4,034,103, due to the final payment of BRT Pulse related invoices at the 
beginning of FY2020. Long-term liabilities increased by $26,002,124, primarily due to the pension liability. 

Requests for Information 

The financial report is designated to provide our customers, investors and creditors with general overview of GRTC’s 
finances and to show the Company’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Chief 
Financial Officer, 301 East Belt Boulevard, Richmond, Virginia 23224. 
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2020

For Comparative
Purposes Only

2020 2019

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 7,893,075$             8,521,779$             
Receivables:

Grants (Note 4) 7,200,315            8,847,847            
Trade 501,367               502,508               
Other 1,447,193            2,152,628            

Total  receivables 9,148,875               11,502,983             
Allowance for doubtful accounts (12,622)               (20,178)               

Net receivables 9,136,253               11,482,805             

Prepaid expenses 1,143,680               1,224,430               

Total current assets 18,173,008             21,229,014             

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3 and 5) 2,719,786 2,719,786

OTHER ASSETS
Materials and supplies 880,532 861,095
Cash and cash equivalents, board-designated (Notes 3 and 8) 5,772,966               5,922,966               

Total other assets 6,653,498               6,784,061               

Capital assets, net (Note 5) 77,255,496             85,458,561             

Total assets 104,801,788           116,191,422           

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals (Note 6) 28,799,531             8,573,235               
Other post-employment benefit deferrals (Note 14) 1,338,757               1,216,463               

Total deferred outflows of resources 30,138,288             9,789,698               

Total assets and deferred outflows 134,940,076$         125,981,120$         
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2020

For Comparative
Purposes Only

2020 2019

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 3,887,889$             9,531,440$             
Accrued expenses:

Salaries and wages 1,135,968               491,647                  
Payroll taxes 96,144                    37,050                    
Retirement contribuitons 161,205                  43,733                    
Accrued uninsured accident claims (Note 7) 350,650                  385,675                  
Other accrued expenses 811,928                  498,079                  

Unearned revenue 518,642                  648,688                  
Grant funding received in advance:

Federal 39,028                    39,028                    
Local 1,733,869               1,094,086               

Note payable, City of Richmond 543,100                  543,100                  

Total current liabilities 9,278,423               13,312,526             

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Pollution remediation obligation (Note 15) -                              150,000                  
Other post-employment benefits (Note 14) 3,719,520               3,079,965               
Net pension liability (Note 6) 71,991,718             46,539,149             

Total long-term liabilities 75,711,238             49,769,114             

Total liabilities 84,989,661             63,081,640             

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals (Note 6) 9,233,224               8,676,141               
Other post-employment benefit deferrals (Note 14) 19,450                    26,157                    

Total deferred inflows of resources 9,252,674               8,702,298               

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 77,255,496             85,458,561             
Restricted (Notes 3 and 5) 2,719,786               2,719,786               
Unrestricted (39,277,541)            (33,981,165)            

Total net position 40,697,741             54,197,182             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows, and net position 134,940,076$         125,981,120$         
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Year Ended June 30, 2020
For Comparative

Purposes Only
2020 2019

OPERATING REVENUES
Passenger 5,051,406$             6,786,716$             
Governmental purchased service 8,938,765               8,668,761               
Charter 55,692 85,142 
Special service 1,619,166               1,335,206               
Advertising 894,244 1,030,912               

Total operating revenues 16,559,273             17,906,737             

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages 24,642,765             21,915,057             
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 18,885,774             16,484,178             
Fees and services 2,414,345               3,169,081               
Materials and supplies 6,879,189               6,345,305               
Utilities 603,151 586,934 
Insurance and provision for uninsured accident claims 2,008,059               2,208,190               
Purchased transportation services (Note 13) 5,004,815               5,154,779               
Other 1,028,350               1,285,275               
COVID-19 expense 489,263 - 
Depreciation and amortization 10,449,040             10,682,610             

Total operating expenses 72,404,751             67,831,409             

Operating loss (55,845,478)            (49,924,672)            

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Operating contributions:

Federal Transit Administration 8,349,969               8,979,889               
Federal Transit Administration CARES funds 3,132,111               - 
City of Richmond 15,915,368             15,166,251             
Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation 10,322,984             10,067,313             
Virginia Department of Rail and Public 
  Transportation - CMAQ 667,506 669,097 
Virginia Department of Rail and Public 

Transportation emergency funding 1,168,037               - 
Other local organizations 83,433 47,885 
In-kind contributions - 2,706 

Total operating contributions 39,639,408             34,933,141             
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Year Ended June 30, 2020
For Comparative

Purposes Only
2020 2019

Capital transactions:
Capital grant contributions 2,265,934$             11,213,756$           
Gain on disposal of capital assets 42,074 66,075
Transfer of BRT assets to the City of

Richmond - (7,429,588) 

Total capital transactions 2,308,008               3,850,243               

Other income:
Interest income 237,028 324,745
Other income 161,593 1,091,349               

Total other income 398,621 1,416,094               

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 42,346,037             40,199,478             

Change in net position (13,499,441)            (9,725,194)              

Net position, beginning of year 54,197,182             63,922,376             

Net position, end of year 40,697,741$           54,197,182$           
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

For Comparative
Purposes Only

2020 2019

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from passengers 5,044,991$             7,079,832$             
Governmental purchased service receipts 9,644,200               7,653,520               
Other receipts 2,439,056               3,063,647               
Payments to employees (23,998,444)            (22,027,064)            
Payment to employee benefits and payroll taxes (12,531,253)            (12,249,519)            
Payments to suppliers and others (23,764,631)            (13,163,127)            

Net cash used by operating activities (43,166,081)            (29,642,711)            

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income 237,028                  324,745                  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets (2,265,934)              (11,240,507)            
Proceeds from disposal and sale of capital assets 62,033                    104,994                  
Capital grants related local contributions 2,265,934               11,213,756             

Net cash provided by capital financing activities 62,033                    78,243                    

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Operating contributions from federal, state, and local sources 41,926,723             28,847,588             
Miscellaneous nonoperating revenue received 161,593                  1,091,349               

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 42,088,316             29,938,937             

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (778,704)                 699,214                  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year 17,164,531             16,465,317             

End of year 16,385,827$           17,164,531$           

SUMMARY OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents, current 7,893,075$             8,521,779$             
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 2,719,786               2,719,786               
Cash and cash equivalents, board designated 5,772,966               5,922,966               

16,385,827$           17,164,531$           
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

For Comparative
Purposes Only

2020 2019

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating loss (55,845,478)$          (49,924,672)$          
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 

used by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,449,040             10,682,610             
Pension expense, net of employer contributions 5,783,356               4,223,152               
OPEB expense 510,554 347,183
Change in current assets and liabilities:

Receivables, other, net 699,020 (722,125) 
Prepaid expenses 80,750 (207,589) 
Materials and supplies (19,437) 89,738 
Accounts payable (5,643,551)              5,380,774 
Accrued expenses 949,711 (124,169) 
Unearned revenue (130,046) 612,387 

Net cash used by operating activities (43,166,081)$          (29,642,711)$          
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Organization 

Reporting entity 

Greater Richmond Transit Company (the Company or GRTC) is a public service corporation incorporated on 
April 12, 1973, and organized to provide mass transportation services to the Richmond Metropolitan area. 
The Company began operations on September 1, 1973, by purchasing the assets of the Virginia Transit 
Company.  The Company is a joint venture between the City of Richmond and County of Chesterfield, 
Virginia to provide mass transportation for passengers on a regional basis and associated para-transit service 
mandated by the Americans with Disabilities Act for the purposes of providing continuous services within 
and between the jurisdictions of the City of Richmond, Chesterfield County and Henrico County.  The 
Company is governed by a six-member board of directors; three of which are appointed by the City of 
Richmond and three of which are appointed by Chesterfield County. 

The accompanying annual financial report includes the financial activities of the Company, and its blended 
component unit, Ridefinders. Financial information for the Company and the blended component unit is 
accounted for in the accompanying financial statements in accordance with principles defining the 
governmental reporting entity adopted by the Government Accounting Standards Board. 

Blended Component Unit 

Greater Richmond Transit Company is non-stock, non-profit corporation established to foster community 
participation in the Greater Richmond, Virginia area in ridesharing activities, including carpools, vanpools, 
and traditional transit. Ridefinders is the regional non-profit ridesharing and transportation demand 
management agency that works to move more commuters in fewer vehicles throughout the Central Virginia 
region to protect air quality and increase the efficiency of the region’s transportation network.  The Company 
and Ridefinders have a financial and operational relationship which requires that Ridefinders’ financial 
statements be blended into the Company’s financial statements.  Condensed combining financial statements 
for the Company and its blended component unit are presented in Note 18. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies affecting the significant elements of the financial statements are as follows: 

• The financial statements are reported and accounted for on the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting wherein all assets and liabilities associated with the
operation of these activities are included in the statement of net position.

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP).  The Company applies all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
pronouncements. 

In June 1999, the GASB issued a statement titled, Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion 
and Analysis - for State and Local Governments.  This statement, known as the "Reporting Model" statement, 
affects the way the Company prepares and presents financial information.  The statement established new 
requirements and a new reporting model for the annual financial reports of state and local governments.  The 
statement was developed to make annual reports easy to understand and useful to the people who use 
governmental financial information to make decisions and includes: 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

The reporting model statement requires that financial statements be accompanied by a narrative introduction 
and analytical overview of the government's financial activities in the form of “management’s discussion and 
analysis" (MD&A).  This analysis is similar to analysis the private sector provides in their annual reports. 

Statement of net position 

This statement is designed to display the financial position of the governmental entity. Governments report 
all assets, including capital assets and infrastructure, in the statement of net position. 

Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position 

This statement reports revenues and expenses in a format that focuses on the entire operating results of the 
governmental entity. Capital asset transactions are included in this statement. 

Statement of cash flows 

This statement is displayed using a direct format whereby actual cash inflows and outflows are presented. 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenues and expenses 

Passenger fares, charter, special service and advertising revenues are recorded as revenue at the time such 
services are performed. Revenues from governmental grants are earned when the expenses related to the 
grants are incurred. 

Governmental purchased service is comprised of funds received from the County of Henrico to subsidize the 
operation of bus routes in the County and to provide specialized transportation services for the disabled in 
Henrico. These services also include funds received from the City of Richmond and surrounding localities to 
provide transportation services, including welfare-to-work. 

The Company reports as nonoperating revenues and expenses amounts arising from capital asset transactions, 
operating grant contributions from governmental entities, investment related transactions and miscellaneous 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

Operating losses are subsidized in part by operating grants from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), 
the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (VDRPT), and the City of Richmond.  The funding 
from VDRPT is for fuel, tires, maintenance parts and supplies and administrative expenses. Among other 
requirements of the FTA grants, state and local governments must provide a certain matching share of funds 
and/or support (as defined by FTA guidelines) for operating assistance. The FTA, state and city grants are 
subject to financial and compliance audits. Such audits could result in requests for reimbursement to the 
granting agency for expenditures disallowed under the terms of the grants. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include short term, highly liquid investments with initial maturities of three months
or less. Designated cash at June 30, 2020, represents funds reserved by the Board of Directors for
environmental remediation for its former maintenance and administrative facility and a contingency fund for
unforeseen events. Restricted cash at June 30, 2020, also includes funds restricted for future eligible capital
projects as required by FTA.

Trade receivables

Trade accounts receivable primarily represent amounts due from charge sale customers on the sale of
passenger Go-Cards. The Company grants credit to customers, substantially all of whom are businesses
located in the vicinity of the operating locations. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts
that is based upon a review of outstanding receivables, historical collection information, and existing
economic conditions. Delinquent receivables are written off based on individual credit evaluation and specific
circumstances of the customer.

Materials and supplies

Materials and supplies, consisting primarily of replacement parts for transit equipment, are stated at cost using
the moving-average cost method wherein after each goods acquisition, the average unit cost of an item is
recomputed by adding the cost of the newly acquired goods or units to the cost of the units already in
inventory.

Capital assets

The Company's capital assets with useful lives of more than one year are stated at historical cost.  The
Company does not possess infrastructure. The Company generally capitalizes assets with cost of $5,000 or
more as purchase and construction outlays occur. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not
add to the asset value or materially extend useful lives are not capitalized. Capital assets are depreciated using
the straight-line method. When capital assets are disposed, the cost and applicable accumulated depreciation
are removed from the respective accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is recorded as a capital transaction
on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets held and used
is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted expected cash flows.  Future
events could cause the Company to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that long-lived assets may
be impaired.

Depreciable assets are depreciated over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 10 to 30 years 
Buses, vans, vehicles 10 years 
Bus stop and parking facilities  10 years 
Shop and garage equipment  10 years 
Office furniture and equipment 5 years 
Software 5 years 
Bus communication and other equipment 5 years 

133



GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2020 

(Continued) 
17 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Grants

Grant funding received in advance represents grant assets received but for which revenue recognition criteria
has not yet been met (i.e. funds have not yet been spent for grant-related purposes).

Note payable

The note payable - City of Richmond is a non-interest bearing unsecured note, which is due on demand.  At
June 30, 2020, the fair value of the indebtedness approximates the amount recorded in the financial
statements.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred.

Income taxes

The Company, as an instrumentality of the City of Richmond and the Counties of Chesterfield and Henrico,
is exempt from federal and state income taxes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, checking accounts, and the Virginia Local Government 
Investment Pool (LGIP).  All investment accounts maintained by the Company must abide by the general 
investment criteria established by the Commonwealth of Virginia for public funds. 

Credit Risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
Custodial Credit Risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Company's deposits may 
not be returned or the Company will not be able to recover collateral securities in the possession of an outside 
party.  Concentration of Credit Risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Company's investment 
in a single issuer.  Interest Rate Risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment.  Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest 
rate changes.  Foreign Currency Risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment.  In order to minimize its exposure to all five of these risks, the Company has a policy 
of complying with the investment guidelines established by the Commonwealth of Virginia for public funds. 

At June 30, 2020, the carrying value of the Company's deposits with banks and LGIP was $16,469,916.  The 
entire bank and LGIP balance was covered by federal depository insurance or collateralized in accordance 
with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act ("Act").  Under the Act, banks holding public deposits in 
excess of the amounts insured by FDIC must pledge collateral in the amount of 50% of excess deposits to a 
collateral pool in the name of the State Treasury Board. 
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3. Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued) 

The carrying value of the Company's cash equivalents consists of the following at June 30, 2020: 

  Virginia Local Government Investment Pool   $ 14,534,392 
  Bank deposits (checking accounts)    1,731,661 
  Petty cash funds    119,819 

  Total cash equivalents    16,385,872 

  Restricted for Future Eligible Capital Projects as Required by  
   FTA - represents the federal interest in the sale proceeds of  
   the former maintenance and administrative facility (Note 5)    (2,719,786) 

  Board designated (Note 8)    (5,772,966) 

  Unrestricted and undesignated   $ 7,893,075 

 Grants Receivable 

Federal, state and local grants receivable consist of the following at June 30, 2020: 

  Department of Transportation - Federal Transit Administration   $ 5,958,225 
  Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation    1,242,090 

   Total grants receivable   $ 7,200,315 

 Capital Assets 

During the year ended June 30, 2010, upon completion of the new maintenance and administrative facility, 
the Company recorded an asset impairment loss in the amount of $1,100,000, which represented the 
remaining book value of the old maintenance and administrative facility.  During the subsequent years, the 
asset impairment loss increased $1,002,509 and totaled $2,102,509 at June 30, 2015.  During the year ended 
June 30, 2016, upon sale of the old maintenance and administrative facility, the Company removed the book 
value of the old maintenance and administrative facility and removed the impairment loss reserve in the 
amount of $2,102,509.  In connection with the sale, in accordance with FTA regulations, $2,719,786 of the 
sale proceeds represents the federal interest in the proceeds and is restricted for future eligible capital projects. 
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5. Capital Assets (Continued)

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows:

 Balance at Transfers  Balance at 
June 30, and June 30, 

2019 Additions Disposals 2020 

Capital assets not subject to depreciation: 
Land $ 2,644,056 $ - $ - $ 2,644,056
Construction in progress 194,624 - - 194,624 

Total capital assets not subject 
to depreciation 2,838,680 - - 2,838,680 

Capital assets subject to depreciation: 
Buildings 53,505,971 - - 53,505,971 
Buses, vans, vehicles 74,802,098 1,346,966 (522,141) 75,626,923 
Bus stop and parking facilities 3,919,080 279,000 - 4,198,080
Shop and garage equipment 821,438 - - 821,438
Office furniture and equipment 8,825,104 16,313 - 8,841,417
Software 1,979,867 53,880 - 2,033,747
Bus communications and other 

equipment 7,895,816 569,775 - 8,465,591
Total capital assets subject 

to depreciation  151,749,374 2,265,934 (522,141)  153,493,167 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings (17,532,576) (1,764,129) - (19,296,705)
Buses, vans, vehicles (36,510,637) (6,518,254) 502,182 (42,526,709)
Bus stop and parking facilities (2,317,579) (397,247) - (2,714,826)
Shop and garage equipment (641,417) (34,670) - (676,087)
Office furniture and equipment (8,276,767) (146,375) - (8,423,142)
Software (593,569) (432,604) - (1,026,173)
Bus communication and other 

equipment (3,256,948) (1,155,761) - (4,412,709)

Total accumulated depreciation (69,129,493) (10,449,040) 502,182 (79,076,351)
Total capital assets subject to 

depreciation, net 82,619,881 (8,183,106) (19,959) 74,416,816

Total capital assets, net $ 85,458,561 $ (8,183,106) $ (19,959) $ 77,255,496 
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 Retirement Plans 

The operating company, Old Dominion Transit Management Company, has four retirement plans covering 
substantially all employees. One plan, an Internal Revenue Service Code Section 401 (a) deferred 
compensation plan, which is noncontributory and covers qualified salaried employees, is funded as accrued.  
The second and third plans, started during 2002, are contributory Internal Revenue Code Section 457(b) 
deferred compensation plans available to certain eligible employees.  The fourth plan is described in the 
succeeding paragraphs.  The assets of the plans are required to be held in trust.  Based on the plans' 
governmental status, the Company's obligation under the plans is limited to its contributions.  The aggregate 
contributions for these plans were $2,472,216 during the year ended June 30, 2020, and are included in 
employee benefits and payroll taxes on the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 

Plan description 

The fourth plan mentioned in the preceding paragraph, the Old Dominion Transit Employees Disability and 
Retirement Allowance Plan ("the Plan”), is a single-employer defined benefit plan and is maintained pursuant 
to agreements between Old Dominion Transit Management Company and Local 1220 of the Amalgamated 
Transit Union.  The Plan is administered by a committee of four persons, two appointed by the Company and 
two by the Local 1220.  The Plan covers substantially all of the employees covered under the collective 
bargaining agreement between Old Dominion Transit Management Company and Local 1220 who have 
completed 60 days of service, and also includes certain employees who are not members of Local 1220.  
Effective August 1, 2002, the Plan will not cover any person who is not covered by the collective bargaining 
unit represented by Local 1220 and is (1) hired on and after August 1, 2002 or (2) a member of the Plan as of 
September 30, 2002, who, on or before October 31, 2002, irrevocably waived further membership in the Plan 
after September 30, 2002. Participants are eligible for retirement after either (a) attaining age 55 and 
completing a sufficient period of continuous service with the Company so that the total of their age and their 
length of service is 85 or more or (b) attaining age 62 and completing 5 years of continuous service.  At 
January 1, 2019, there were 323 current active members in the Plan.  At January 1, 2019, 205 retirees and 
beneficiaries were receiving benefits from the Plan.  At January 1, 2019, there were nine terminated 
employees who are entitled to unaccrued benefits.  Any participant with at least five years of service who 
terminates employment may elect to either (a) be paid their accumulated contributions with interest or (b) 
leave their contributions in the fund and become fully vested in the benefits they had accrued to the date of 
termination. 

Benefit formula 

A formula is used to determine monthly benefits upon retirement.  The retirement benefit formula is computed 
as 1.5% of the participant's highest four-year average monthly compensation multiplied by the number of 
years of the participant's continuous service, subject to a monthly minimum benefit of $222 for participants 
in the Plan as of October 1, 2000.  Each retirement and disability allowance being paid may be adjusted to 
reflect increases in the consumer price index that have occurred during the preceding year, subject to a 
maximum increase of 4% per year. 

 

137



GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2020 

 
 

(Continued) 
21 

6. Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Status of plan as a governmental plan 

By letter dated April 18, 1978, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation determined that the Plan was a 
governmental plan under Title IV of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA).  By 
ruling dated May 29, 1979, the Internal Revenue Service determined that the Plan was a governmental plan 
within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal Revenue Code.  By letter dated January 23, 1981, the 
Department of Labor issued an advisory opinion that the Plan was a governmental plan within the meaning 
of Section 414(d) to most of the provisions of ERISA 3(32) of ERISA.  A governmental plan is not subject 
to most of the provisions of ERISA. 

Publicly available report  

The Plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplemental information for the Old Dominion Transit Employees Disability and Retirement Allowance 
Plan.  The financial report may be obtained through management of the Company.  The Plan's fiduciary net 
position disclosed herein has been determined on the same basis as that used by the Plan. 

The Plan's separate financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  Employee and 
employer contributions are recognized as revenues in the period in which employee services are performed.  
Retirement and termination benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 
the terms of the Plan. If available, quoted market prices are used to value investments.  Securities traded on a 
national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at existing exchange rates.  Bonds 
with no quoted market value are generally valued by comparison with comparable securities with similar 
yields and ratings. Investments that do not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value.  
Appreciation and depreciation on assets held for investment during the year are based on the fair value at the 
end of the Plan year as compared to the fair value at the beginning of the Plan year for investments acquired 
in a previous Plan year.  For investments acquired during the year, appreciation and depreciation are 
calculated by determining the difference between fair value at the end of the Plan year and the cost basis of 
the investments. Gain or loss on investments disposed of (realized) during the year is calculated by comparing 
the sales proceeds with the cost basis for all investment disposals.  Interest income is recorded on the accrual 
basis. 

Funding policy 

The cost of providing retirement and disability benefits under the Plan is shared between the Company and 
the employee.  The collective bargaining process between the Company and the Local 1220 determines the 
amount of contribution that the employee must contribute for plan benefits. The portion of such aggregate 
contributions to be contributed by the Company for participants who are not members of the bargaining unit 
represented by Local 1220, is determined by the Company. In no event, however, may the monthly 
contribution made by any member be less than $25.  Contribution rates are shown below: 
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6. Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Funding policy (Continued) 

   Bargained   Non-Bargained  
  Effective Date   Employee   Employer   Employee   Employer  

 October 1, 2017  8.0%   10.0%   4.0%   13.0% 
 April 1, 2018  8.0%   10.0%   4.0%   14.0% 
 July 1, 2018  8.0%   11.5%   4.0%   14.0% 
 October 1, 2018  8.0%   11.5%   4.0%   14.0% 
 October 1, 2019  8.0%   12.0%   4.0%   14.0% 

Contributions are vested after five years of continuous service with the Company (ten years prior to  
October 1, 2000, and fifteen years prior to October 1, 1997). 

Actuarial valuation 

In the latest actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019, the consulting actuaries, Milliman, Inc., reported a 
total pension liability of $108,512,066.  This accrued liability less the value of the trust fund of $36,520,348 
at December 31, 2019, results in a net pension liability of $71,991,718.  The actuarial value of assets as a 
percentage of the actuarial pension liability (funded ratio) was 33.66% at December 31, 2019.  The 2019 
annual covered payroll was $16,448,830. The ratio of the net pension liability to annual covered payroll was 
437.67% for 2019. 

No Plan provisions have changed since the last actuarial valuation. 

According to the actuaries, future contributions to be made by or on behalf of present members at current 
rates will not be sufficient to fund their benefits without any subsidization from future entrants, provided that 
future experience parallels that anticipated under the current actuarial assumptions.  Management of the Plan 
intends to continue the funding policy as presented.  However, management of the Plan intends to review the 
funding status of the Plan, in consultation with the actuaries, to ensure the sufficiency of Plan assets to satisfy 
all future obligations of the Plan. 
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6. Retirement Plans (Continued)

Changes in net pension liability
Plan 

Total Fiduciary  Net Pension 
Liability Net Position Liability 

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at December 31, 2018 $ 78,337,747 $ 31,798,598 $ 46,539,149 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 3,409,609 - 3,409,609
Interest 3,370,599 - 3,370,599
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (2,818,974) - (2,818,974)
Difference between expected and actual experience 31,264,920 - 31,264,920
Contributions, employer  - 2,171,361 (2,171,361)
Contributions, employee   - 1,381,914 (1,381,914)
Net investment income  - 6,249,173 (6,249,173)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee  

contributions (5,051,835) (4,975,690) (76,145) 
Administrative expense - (107,011) 107,011 

Net changes 30,174,319 4,721,750 25,452,569 

Balances at December 31, 2019 $ 108,512,066 $ 36,520,348 $ 71,991,718 

Actuarial assumptions 

The significant assumptions and other inputs used to measure the total pension liability are as follows: 

Discount Rate 3.13% 
Long term expected rate of return, net of investment expense 6.50% 
Bond buyer general obligation 20-bond municipal bond index 2.74% 

The Plan's fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total 
pension liability is equal to the single equivalent rate that results in the same actuarial present value as the 
long-term expected rate of return applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the Plan's fiduciary net 
position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments, and the municipal bond rate applied 
to benefit payments, to the extent that the Plan's fiduciary net position is not projected to be sufficient. 
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6. Retirement Plans (Continued)

Actuarial assumptions (Continued)

Other key actuarial assumptions:

Valuation date January 1, 2019 
Measurement date December 31, 2019 
Inflation 3.00% 

Salary increases including inflation 12% per year for participants with less than four years of service 
 and service and 4.5% per year for participants with at least four  
 years of service 

Active and healthy inactive mortality Rates from the separate Pub-2010 General Mortality tables for 
employees, retirees, survivors, and disabled participants  
generationally projected using Projection Scale MP-2019.  

Actuarial cost method cost of Entry age normal 
Cost of living adjustments None 
Disabled mortality  Pub-2010 General Mortality tables for disabled participants 

generationally projected using Projection Scale MP-2019 

Termination rate 30% at 1 year of service 
20% at 2 years of service 
15% between 2 and 4 years of service 
4% at 4 year or service or greater 

Retirement rate 10% at age 55 
5% at ages 56 to 59 
10% at ages 60 and 61 
70% at age 62 
40% at age 63 
20% at age 64 
100% at age 65 
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6. Retirement Plans (Continued)

Depletion date projection

In order to determine if the Plan's fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit
payments, the actuaries prepared a depletion date projection using the following techniques and assumptions:

• Current active members contribute the required employee contribution amounts.
• The Company contributes 10% of compensation for bargained employees and 13% of compensation

for non-bargained employees.
• Benefit payments are projected based on the actuarial assumption and the current plan provisions.
• Members are assumed to receive pay increases, terminate, retire, become disabled, die, and so forth

according to the actuarial assumptions used for the January 1, 2019 valuation.
• Terminating and retiring members will be replaced with new employees.
• Current administrative expenses are assumed to increase by 3.00% per year.
• All cash flows are assumed to occur on average halfway through the year.
• The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 6.5%.
• The tax-exempt, high quality general obligation municipal bond index rate is 2.74%.
• The funding policy used to determine actuarially determined contributions does not change.
• The actuarial assumptions do not change.
• The plan provisions do not change except if any material future changes have been agreed upon as of

the measurement date.

Long-term expected rate of return 

• The best estimate range for the long-term expected rate of return was determined by the actuaries by
adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and
correlation.  The capital market assumptions are per Milliman's investment consulting practice as of
December 31, 2019.

142



GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2020 

 
 

(Continued) 
26 

6. Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Long-term expected rate of return (Continued) 

   Long-Term Long-Term 
   Expected Expected 
   Arithmetic Geometric 
   Real Rate Real Rate 

  Asset Class   Index  Allocation of Return of Return 

 US Cash B of A Merrill Lynch 3 month T-Bills 0.11% 0.09% 0.09% 
 US Core Fixed Income Bloomberg Barclays Aggregate  24.29% 1.56% 1.47% 
 US Short Bonds Bloomberg Barclays 1-3 Yr Govt/Credit 1.73% 0.79% 0.77% 
 US Government Bonds Bloomberg Barclays Govt   2.57% 1.05% 0.94% 
 US Mortgages Bloomberg Barclays MBS   3.71% 1.59% 1.53% 
 US Municipal Bonds Bloomberg Barclays Muni   0.06% 1.09% 1.01% 
 Non-US Bonds JP Morgan GBI Global xUS   0.32% 0.34% -0.07% 
 US Equity Market Russell 3000   66.19% 4.61% 3.42% 
 Non-US Equity MSCI ACWI xUS NR   0.69% 6.13% 4.60% 
 Global REITS FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed  0.33% 5.49% 3.82% 

 Assumed Inflation-Mean      2.20% 2.20% 
 Assumed Inflation-Standard Deviation      1.65% 1.65% 

 Portfolio Real Mean Return      3.59% 3.03% 

 Portfolio Nominal Mean Return     5.80% 5.30% 

 Portfolio Standard Deviation        10.55% 

 Long-Term Expected Rate of Return       6.50% 

The long-term expected rate of return of 6.50% was assumed for years one to twenty-eight of the projection 
period while the municipal bond rate of 2.74% was assumed for years twenty-nine and thereafter. This 
resulted in a blended discount rate of 3.13% for 2019. 

Sensitivity analysis 

According to the actuaries, the following presents the net pension liability of the Company, calculated using 
the discount rate of 3.13%, as well as what the Company's net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.13%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.13%) than the 
current rate. 

  1%   Current   1% 
  Decrease  Discount Rate  Increase  
  2.13%   3.13%   4.13%  

 Total pension liability $ 123,246,117 $ 108,512,066 $ 96,336,036 
 Fiduciary net position  36,520,348  36,520,348  36,520,348 

 Net pension liability $ 86,725,769 $ 71,991,718 $ 59,815,688 
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6. Retirement Plans (Continued) 

Pension expense and deferred inflows and outflows 

For the year ending June 30, 2020, the Company recognized pension expense of $8,255,572. 

The deferred inflows and outflows of resources as of December 31, 2019, are as follows: 

  Deferred   Deferred 
  Outflows of   Inflows of 
  Resources   Resources  

  Differences between expected and actual experience $ 316,378 $ 2,322,342 
  Changes of assumptions  27,219,982  4,799,131 
  Pension contributions made subsequent to the measurement date  1,263,171  - 
  Net difference between projected and actual earnings  -  2,111,751 

    $ 28,799,531 $ 9,233,224 

$1,263,171 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the Company’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net Pension 
Liability in the calendar year ending December 31, 2020.  Other amounts currently reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 

 Year Ending 
  June 30,  

   2021 $ 4,958,814 
   2022  5,008,599 
   2023  5,459,613 
   2024  2,876,110 
   2025  - 
   Thereafter*  - 

*Note that additional future deferred inflows and outflows of resources may impact these numbers. 

Pension plan data 

Information about the Old Dominion Transit Employees Disability and Retirement Allowance Plan is 
also available in the separately issued 2019 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). A copy of 
the 2019 CAFR may be requested from the plan’s Chief Financial Officer at 301 East Belt Boulevard, 
Richmond, VA 23224. 
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 Accrued Uninsured Accident Claims  

Present accident claims insurance coverage provides $2,000,000 (with a $325,000 self-insurance retention) 
per accident.  Additional liability insurance is purchased through multiple insurance carriers for up to 
$20,000,000 per accident.  The Company is liable for any settlement in excess of $20,000,000. 

The following schedule reflects the activity in accrued uninsured accident claims during the years ended  
June 30, 2020: 

   Balance, June 30, 2018   $ 269,750 
   Provision    417,785 
  Claims Paid    (301,860) 

   Balance, June 30, 2019    385,675 
  Provision    290,079 
  Claims paid    (325,104) 

   Balance, June 30, 2020   $ 350,650 

The Company records the provisions for uninsured accident claims based upon management's estimate of the 
total liability for each claim.  Because of the inherent uncertainties in estimating accident claims, it is at least 
reasonably possible that the estimates used will change in the near term. 

 Board Designated Reserves 

The Board of Directors of the Company has designated cash reserves for the following purposes at  
June 30, 2020: 

  Contingency fund   $ 5,772,966 

 Materials and Supplies Agreements 

The Company obtains tires and tubes for its buses through a three-year agreement with Michelin North 
America, Inc. (“Michelin”) dated June 1, 2018.  The agreement provides for two one-year option terms.  Fees 
are based on a monthly fixed cost and the mileage driven by each bus. Cost incurred in connection with tires 
and tubes were $439,854 for the year ended June 30, 2020, and are included in materials and supplies on the 
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

In May 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Trillium CNG in connection with the operation 
and maintenance of the Company's CNG fueling station.  The fixed term of this agreement ended April 30, 
2017, at which point neither party gave notice of termination and the agreement continued on a month-to-
month basis.  Fees are based on a monthly fixed cost and a fee based on the quantity of natural gas consumed.  
Cost incurred in connection with this agreement were $393,004 for the year ended June 30, 2020, and are 
included in materials and supplies on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 
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Vanpool Program 

The Company furnishes commuter vanpool services through various agreements, all of which are on a month 
to month basis.  The cost of such services to the Company is based on the number of passenger vans provided. 
Cost incurred in connection with commuter vanpool service for the year ended June 30, 2020, were $528,575 
which are included in fees and services costs on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position. 

Union Contract 

The Company entered into an agreement with the Amalgamated Transit Union, Local Union 1220 (the 
“Union”), on August 26, 2015, in connection with the Company's transit operators and mechanics.  This 
agreement was effective from October 1, 2014 through September 30, 2017. The agreement was extended in 
writing until March 1, 2018, and verbally on a month-to-month basis until June 19, 2018. On that date, the 
Company entered into an agreement with the Union which is retroactively effective from October 1, 2017 
through September 30, 2020.  An updated agreement was still in negotiations as of the date that these financial 
statements were available to be issued, December 8, 2020. 

Non-Monetary Transactions 

The accompanying financial statements include non-monetary revenues and expenses in the amount of $3,120 
year ended June 30, 2020.  The non-monetary transactions were primarily marketing in nature and were 
valued based on the fair values of the services exchanged.  No gains or losses were recognized on these 
transactions. 

Purchased Transportation Services 

The Company furnishes specialized transportation services (CARE and CVAN services) for disabled persons 
through an agreement with First Transit dated April 30, 2017 which expired December 1, 2017. A second 
agreement was subsequently entered into by the same parties, effective December 1, 2017 through 
November 30, 2020 with an option to renew for one additional year. The Company exercised the one year 
renewal option subsequent to year end in November 2020. The cost of such services to the Company is based 
on a fixed cost per revenue hour.  Costs incurred in connection with disabled person’s specialized 
transportation were $5,004,815 for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

The Company provides post-employment benefit options for health care, life insurance and dental insurance 
to eligible retirees, terminated employees, and their dependents. The benefits are provided in accordance with 
collective bargaining agreements and the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 
(COBRA). 
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14. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

Plan description 

Those eligible for benefits must qualify for retirement under the Company's pension plans or are subject to 
COBRA provisions.  The Company has no cost sharing agreements related to retiree or terminated employee 
insurance programs.  Prior employees pay 100% of the premiums on a pay-as-you-go basis at the blended 
premium rate. The post-employment benefit plans do not issue stand-alone financial reports. 

Funding policy 

The Company does not pre-fund benefits. The current funding policy is to pay benefits directly from general 
assets on a pay-as-you-go basis. All benefits estimated to be payable through the OPEB plan to current active 
and inactive employees as a result of their past service and expected future service. 

Employees covered by benefit terms 

As of the July 1, 2018, actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms of the 
OPEB plan: 

     Number of 
     Participants  

  Active    389 
  Retirees    55 
  Beneficiaries    - 
  Spouses of retirees    7 

       451 

Actuarial methods and assumptions 

For the actuarial valuation at July 1, 2018 (measurement date of June 30, 2020), the entry age normal fund 
method was used.  

The actuarial assumptions included calculations based on a discount rate of 3.50% for the unfunded liability. 
Benefits are discounted based on an index rate for 20-year, tax exempt general obligation municipal bonds 
with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. For this valuation, the Bond Buyer GO 20-year Bond Municipal 
Bond Index was used. 

The following assumptions were used as input variables into this mode: 

  Inflation 2.30% 
  Medical trend rate 6.70% - 3.90% over 73 years 
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14. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued)

Changes in total OPEB liability
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Total OPEB 

Liability 

Balance as of June 30, 2019 $ 3,079,965 
Changes for the year: 

Service Cost 239,564 
Interest on net OPEB obligation 114,206 
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 399,790 
Benefit payments (114,005) 

Balance as of June 30, 2020 $ 3,719,520 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Company, calculated using the discount rate of 2.21%, 
as well as what the Company’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is 1 percentage point lower (1.21%) or 1 percentage point higher (3.21%) than the current rate. 

1%  Current  1% 
Decrease Discount Rate Increase 

1.21% 2.21% 3.21% 

Total OPEB liability $ 4,077,340 $ 3,719,520 $ 3,404,142 

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the health care cost trend rate 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Company, calculated using the current healthcare cost 
trend rates as well as what the Company’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using trend rates 
that are 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current trend rates. 

1% Current 1% 
Decrease  Trend Rate Increase 

Total OPEB liability $ 3,252,460 $ 3,719,520 $ 4,282,142 

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the Company recognized OPEB expense of $624,559. At June 30, 2020, 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources 
were reported: 
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14. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (Continued) 

  Deferred   Deferred 
  Outflows of   Inflows of 
  Resources   Resources  

 Differences between expected and actual experience $ 388,319 $ - 
 Changes of assumptions  950,438  19,450 

 Total $ 1,338,757 $ 19,450 

Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
other postemployment benefits will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

 Year Ending 
  June 30,  

   2021 $ 270,789 
   2022  270,789 
   2023  271,460 
   2024  277,496 
   2025  228,773 
   Thereafter  - 

 Pollution Remediation Obligation 

During the year ended June 30, 2011, the Company increased its pollution remediation obligation by 
$1,000,000 to $3,000,000 in anticipation of the disposition of its dated maintenance and administrative 
facility. The amount recorded represented the high-range estimate of the cost to perform the environmental 
clean-up of the site as determined by an environmental study.  During the year ended June 30, 2016, the 
Company decreased its pollution remediation obligation to $150,000 in connection with the sale of the former 
maintenance and administrative facility. The remediation obligation was removed as of June 30, 2020.  The 
Company no longer has any remediation responsibilities. 

 Commitments and Contingencies 

The Company, from time to time, is a defendant in civil actions. The Company intends to vigorously defend 
the claims asserted against it by all claimants. The ultimate resolution of these matters is not ascertainable at 
this time. No provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements related to these matters. 
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Leases 

On August 8, 2011, the Company entered into a lease agreement on behalf of Ridefinders for office facilities 
in The Ironfronts Building. The lease was renewed on February 19, 2019, and extends through June 30, 2029. 
Total rent to be paid during the initial one hundred twenty five month lease period is $711,780, or $5,694 per 
month on a straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements necessary to occupy the leased premises are to be 
paid by the lessor, who also retains ownership of those improvements. The lease expense associated with this 
lease totaled $68,331 for the year ended June 30, 2020. This expense is included in fees and services expense 
on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.  Future minimum rent payments under 
this lease are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2021 $ 65,056 
2022 66,844 
2023 68,670 
2024 70,533 
2025 72,471 
Thereafter 304,864 

$ 648,438 

Ridefinders 

The accompanying financial statements include the amounts of Greater Richmond Transit Co. and its blended 
component unit (Ridefinders). Effective July 1, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Company became the 
governing board of Ridefinders. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
Ridefinders was established to foster community participation in the Richmond area in ridesharing activities. 
Ridefinders issues separately audited financial statements. Copies of Ridefinders audit reports may be 
obtained from the Company's finance department. The financial statements of Ridefinders are presented as a 
blended entity in the accompanying financial statements. 
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18. Ridefinders (Continued)

The condensed combining statement of net position of Ridefinders and GRTC at June 30, 2020, is as follows:

 Ridefinders GRTC Total 

Other assets $ 340,585 $ 27,205,707 $ 27,546,292 
Capital assets 2,029  77,253,467  77,255,496 
Total assets 342,614 104,459,174 104,801,788 

Deferred outflows of resources - 30,138,288 30,138,288 

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 342,614 $ 134,597,462 $ 134,940,076 

Current liabilities $ 141,231 $ 9,137,192 $ 9,278,423 
Long-term liabilities - 75,711,238  75,711,238 
Total liabilities 141,231 84,848,430 84,989,661 

Deferred inflows of resources - 9,252,674 9,252,674 

Net investment in capital assets 2,029 77,253,467 77,255,496 
Restricted - 2,719,786 2,719,786 
Unrestricted 199,354 (39,476,895) (39,277,541) 
Net position 201,383 40,496,358 40,697,741 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources 

and net position $ 342,614 $ 134,597,462 $ 134,940,076 

The condensed combining statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position of Ridefinders and 
GRTC for the year ended June 30, 2020 is as follows: 

 Ridefinders GRTC Total 

Operating revenues $ 389,044 $ 16,170,229 $ 16,559,273 
Operating expenses  1,093,934  71,310,817  72,404,751 
Operating loss (704,890) (55,140,588) (55,845,478) 
Nonoperating revenues 690,896 41,655,141 42,346,037 

Change in net position (13,994) (13,485,447)  (13,499,441) 
Net position, beginning of year 215,377 53,981,805 54,197,182 

Net position, end of year $ 201,383 $ 40,496,358 $ 40,697,741 
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18. Ridefinders (Continued)

The condensed combining statement of cash flows of Ridefinders and GRTC for the year ended
June 30, 2020 is as follows:

 Ridefinders GRTC Total 

Net cash used in operating activities $ (20,564) $ (43,115,517) $ (43,166,081) 
Net cash provided by investing activities - 237,028 237,028 
Net cash provided by capital financing activities - 62,033 62,033 
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities - 42,088,316 42,088,316 

Decrease in cash (20,564) (758,140) (778,704) 
Cash, beginning of year 220,899 16,943,632 17,164,531 

Cash, end of year $ 200,335 $ 16,185,492 $ 16,385,827 

Ridefinders has recorded various transactions with the Company for 2020 which are summarized as follows: 

Payroll and related expenses  $ 477,989 
Other expenses (advertising, transit tickets) $ 208,383 
Accounts receivable $ 36,540 
Accounts payable $ 145,837 

Effective January 1, 1998, all Ridefinders' employees became GRTC employees. Ridefinders and GRTC 
entered into an employee lease agreement whereby Ridefinders leases its employees from GRTC. 

19. COVID-19 Uncertainty

During fiscal year 2020, the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) impacted the operational and financial
activities of the Company. COVID-19 resulted in loss of revenue due to bus route changes by the Company
in response to the virus, decrease in ridership, and the suspension of fare collections. Beginning in March
2020, the Company implemented additional cleaning and safety measures to combat the virus and ensure safe
and reliable transportation service for its staff and passengers.

Due to the COVID-19 emergency, the Virginia’s Department of Rail and Public Transportation approved
additional operating assistance to transit agencies, and the Company was allocated $1,168,037 of this funding.
This emergency assistance and reductions in expenditures helped to offset part of the revenues losses that
resulted from COVID-19 during fiscal year 2020.

The Authority has incurred $489,263 of operational expenses in response to the COVID-19 pandemic as of
June 30, 2020, related to the purchase of personal protective equipment, sanitizer, and cleaning supplies.

.
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19. COVID-19 Uncertainty (Continued)

In April 2020, the Company was provided with $32,236,074 of Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security (CARES) Act funding, for which the Company must incur eligible expenditures and then apply for
reimbursement. The Company incurred a total of $3,132,111 in expenditures and lost revenue during fiscal
year 2020 that will be applied for reimbursement under the grant. The Company has developed plans to
expend the remainder of the funds during fiscal years 2021 through 2023

The extent to which COVID-19 may impact the Company’s operations and financial condition in subsequent
fiscal years will depend on future developments, which remain uncertain and cannot be predicted due to the
evolving nature of this situation. As result, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the future impact of
COVID-19 at this time, except as discussed regarding the CARES Act funding.
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Year Ended June 30, 2020 2019 2018

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY
Service cost 239,564$       147,037$       89,380$         
Interest on total OPEB liability 114,206         62,852           54,554           
Effect of plan changes - - -
Effect of economic/demographic gains or (losses) - 550,119 -
Effect of assumption changes or inputs 399,790         876,079 (39,570)         
Benefit payments (114,005)       (65,734) (57,923)         

Net change in total OPEB liability: 639,555         1,570,353      46,441           

Total OPEB liability, beginning 3,079,965      1,509,612      1,463,171      

Total OPEB liability, ending (a)  3,719,520$    3,079,965$    1,509,612$    

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions, employer -$ -$ -$
Contributions, employee - - -
Net investment income - - -
Benefit payments - - -
Administrative expenses - - -

Net change in plan fiduciary net position - - -

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning - - -

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b) -$ -$ -$

Net OPEB liability, ending (a) - (b)   3,719,520$    3,079,965$    1,509,612$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
 OPEB liability 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Covered payroll 19,283,827$  19,283,827$  14,884,004$  

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 19.3% 16.0% 10.1%

Note: Information in this schedule is presented for the year in which information is available. 
Information will be added each year until a full 10-year trend is presented.
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - OPEB BENEFITS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used in the funding valuation as of July 1, 2018:

Valuation date July 1, 2018

Measurement date June 30, 2020

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Discount rate 2.21%; The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer
General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index.

20 year tax-exempt municipal bond yield 2.21%

Inflation 2.30%

Medical trend rate 6.70% - 3.90% over 73 years

Projected benefit payments All benefits estimated to be payable through the OPEB 
plan to current active and inactive employees as a 
result of their past service and expected future service.
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY
Service cost 3,409,609$     1,878,738$     2,043,015$     1,948,697$     1,450,042$     2,853,856$     
Interest 3,370,599       4,027,357       3,830,331       3,796,263       4,057,519       4,445,277       
Differences between expected and actual experience 31,264,920     (5,830,131)      2,803,368       7,988,685       (13,996,709)    31,902,783     
Effect of plan changes - - - - (24,336,327)    - 
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses (2,818,974)      449,165          - - - - 
Benefit payments, including refunds (5,051,835)      (5,321,234)      (5,216,184)      (5,056,520)      (4,952,698)      (4,516,684)      

Net change in total pension liability: 30,174,319     (4,796,105)      3,460,530       8,677,125       (37,778,173)    34,685,232     

Total pension liability, beginning 78,337,747     83,133,852     79,673,322     70,996,197     108,774,370   74,089,138     

Total pension liability, ending (a)  108,512,066$ 78,337,747$   83,133,852$   79,673,322$   70,996,197$   108,774,370$ 
PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Contributions, employer 2,171,361$     1,822,920$     1,813,544$     1,696,418$     1,632,672$     1,552,764$     
Contributions, employee 1,381,914       1,239,610       1,310,020       1,216,483       1,164,749       1,064,699       
Net investment income 6,249,173       (1,182,755)      4,925,115       1,576,447       (796,759)         1,525,695       
Benefit payments (4,975,690)      (5,321,234)      (5,216,184)      (5,056,520)      (4,952,698)      (4,516,684)      
Administrative expenses (107,011)         (188,730)         (169,033)         (136,604)         (66,427)           (81,776)           
Other changes 2,003              - - (268,149)         - - 

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 4,721,750       (3,630,189)      2,663,462       (971,925)         (3,018,463)      (455,302)         

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 31,798,598     35,428,787     32,765,325     33,737,250     36,755,713     37,211,015     

Plan fiduciary net position, ending (b)  36,520,348$   31,798,598$   35,428,787$   32,765,325$   33,737,250$   36,755,713$   

Net pension liability, ending (a) - (b)   71,991,718$   46,539,149$   47,705,065$   46,907,997$   37,258,947$   72,018,657$   
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
 pension liability 33.7% 40.6% 42.6% 41.1% 47.5% 33.8%

Covered payroll* 16,448,830$   16,367,124$   16,514,954$   16,514,954$   15,420,198$   15,018,061$   
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 437.7% 284.3% 288.9% 284.0% 241.6% 479.5%

*Covered payroll represents the total pensionable payroll for employees covered under the pension plan, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 82.

Note:  Information in this schedule is presented for the year in which information is available. Information will be added each year until a full 10-year trend is presented.
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution 3,589,495$      2,433,113$      2,542,550$      2,347,897$      3,742,841$      3,475,196$      
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 

determined contribution 2,171,361 1,822,920 1,813,544 1,696,418 1,632,672 1,552,764 

Contribution deficiency 1,418,134$      610,193$         729,006$         651,479$         2,110,169$      1,922,432$      

Employer's covered payroll 16,448,830$    16,367,124$    16,514,954$    16,514,954$    15,420,198$    15,018,061$    

Contributions as a percentage covered payroll 13.20% 11.14% 10.98% 10.27% 10.59% 10.34%

Note:  Information in this schedule is presented for the year in which information is available. 
 Information will be added each year until a full 10-year trend is presented.
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GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - PENSION
Year Ended June 30, 2020

The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used in the funding valuation as of December 31, 2019:

Valuation date
Measurement date
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 6.50%
20 year - bond GO index 2.74%
Interest on employee contributions 3.00%
Cost of living adjustments None
Inflation 3.00%
Salary increases 12% per year for participants with less than four years of service 

and 4.5% per year for participants with at least four years of service
Termination Rates varying by service as in the table below:

Years of Service Probability
Less than 1 30.00%
Between 1 and 2 20.00%
Between 2 and 4 15.00%
4 or more 4.00%

Incidence of disability Rates are from the 1985 Pension Unisex Disability Table, Class 2.  
Sample rates for active employees varying by age are shown below:

Age Probability
25 0.094%
35 0.219%
45 0.511%
55 1.498%
65 2.718%

Active and Healthy Inactive Mortality Pub-2010 General Mortality with separate tables for employees,
retirees, and survivors generationally projected using Projection
Scale MP-2019.

Disabled Mortality Pub-2010 General Mortality tables for disabled participants
generationally projected using Projection Scale MP-2019.

Retirement Rates for active employees varying by age as in the table below:

Age Probability
55 10.000%
56-59 5.000%
60-61 10.000%
62 70.000%
63 40.000%
64 20.000%
65 100.000%

All future deferred vested participants are assumed to retire at age 62.
The Company provides the assumed dates of retirement for current 
deferred vested participants.

Form of payment All participants are assumed to elect straight life annuities.

Postretirement Returns of Contributions Refunds of accumulated contributions are approximated with a 
five-year certain annuity.

January 1, 2019
December 31, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the honorable members of the Board of Directors 
Greater Richmond Transit Company 
Richmond, Virginia 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the financial statements of Greater Richmond 
Transit Company (the “Company”),  as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise Greater Richmond Transit Company’s basic 
financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 8, 2020. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a or a combination of deficiencies, material 
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weakness may exist 
that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Company and its blend component unit's 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
Newport News, Virginia 
December 8, 2020 

162



Report to the 
Board of Directors 

GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT 
COMPANY 
June 30, 2020 

163



CONTENTS 

Contacts ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance .............................................................. 2  

Independent Auditor’s Report on Comments and Suggestions .................................................................... 5  

Comments on Internal Controls for Your Consideration .............................................................................. 7  

Accounting and Other Matters ...................................................................................................................... 8 

Current GASB Projects ............................................................................................................................... 15 

Appendix A - Management Representation Letter 

Appendix B - Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements 

Appendix C - Schedule of Audit Adjustments 

164



 

Report to the Board of Directors 
Greater Richmond Transit Co. 1 

CONTACTS 

Leslie F. Roberts, CPA 
Partner 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
Fountain Plaza One 
701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700 
Newport News, VA 23606 
757.316.3220 
lroberts@becpas.com 

Danielle A. Nikolaisen, CPA 
Senior Manager 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
Fountain Plaza One 
701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700 
Newport News, VA 23606 
757.316.3204 
dnikolaisen@becpas.com 

Christy Turner, CPA 
Manager 
Brown, Edwards & Company 
Fountain Plaza One 
701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700 
Newport News, VA 23606 
757.873.1033 
cturner@becpas.com 
 

165



Your Success is Our Focus 
 

701 Town Center Drive, Suite 700 • Newport News VA 23606 • 757-873-1033 • Fax 757-873-1106 • www.BEcpas.com 

REQUIRED COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 

To the Board of Directors 
Greater Richmond Transit Company 
Richmond, Virginia 

We have audited the financial statements of Greater Richmond Transit Company (the “Company”) and 
its blended component unit for the year ended June 30, 2020, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 8, 2020. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as well 
as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated August 20, 2020. Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Matters 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Company are described in Note 2 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2020. 
We noted no transactions entered into by the Company during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management, and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events, and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the Company’s financial 
statements were: 

• The pension liability and related deferred amount are based on the type of benefits provided at
the time of each valuation and expected value and projected performance of the related plan
assets.

• The useful lives of capital assets is based on historical experience with similar assets and industry
standards.

• The accrued uninsured accident claim is based on management’s estimate of total liability for
each claim, historical experience and trend information.

• The other post-employment benefit obligations is based on the types of benefits provided at the
time of the valuation.
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We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the accounting estimates in determining 
that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 

• Retirement plans (Note 6), accrued uninsured accident claims (Note 7), union contract (Note 11), 
other post-employment benefit obligations (Note 14), and commitments and contingencies 
(Note 16) 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered significant no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. The schedule 
in Appendix B summarizes uncorrected misstatements identified in the financial statements.  Management 
has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements taken as a whole.  In addition, management has corrected certain other misstatements detected 
as a result of audit procedures as summarized in the attached journal entry listing (Appendix C). 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management as a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter included in Appendix A. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to Greater Richmond Transit Company’s financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional 
standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the 
relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as Greater Richmond Transit Company’s 
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and 
our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the exhibits and the 
Required Supplementary Information as listed in the Table of Contents, which are required supplementary 
information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries 
of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

We were engaged to report on the other supplementary information, and supporting schedules, which 
accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we 
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the 
information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared 
and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

We were not engaged to report on the introductory or statistical sections, which accompany the financial 
statements but are not RSI. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on it.  

Restriction of Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of Greater 
Richmond Transit Company, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

Sincerely, 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

Newport News, Virginia 
December 8, 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS 

To the Board of Directors 
Greater Richmond Transit Company 
Richmond, Virginia 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Greater Richmond Transit 
Company (the “Company”) and its blended component unit as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered 
its internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and 
to comply with any other applicable standards, such as Government Auditing Standards, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified. In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of 
management override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected by 
such controls. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   

If material weaknesses or significant deficiencies were identified during our procedures they are 
appropriately designated as such in this report.  Additional information on material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and compliance and other matters is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards which 
should be read in conjunction with this report. 
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Additionally, during our audit, we may have become aware of certain other matters that provide 
opportunities for improving your financial reporting system and/or operating efficiency.  Such comments 
and suggestions regarding these matters, if any, are also included in the attached report, but are not 
designated as a material weakness or significant deficiency. Since our audit is not designed to include a 
detail review of all systems and procedures, these comments should not be considered as being all-inclusive 
of areas where improvements might be achieved.  We also have included information on accounting and 
other matters that we believe is important enough to merit consideration by management and those charged 
with governance.  It is our hope that our suggestions will be taken in the constructive light in which they are 
offered. 

We have already discussed these comments and suggestions with management, and we will be pleased to 
discuss them in further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of these matters, or to 
assist you in implementing the recommendations. 

This information is intended solely for the use of Greater Richmond Transit Company, management, and 
the appropriate state and federal regulatory agencies and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
Newport News, Virginia 
December 8, 2020 
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COMMENTS ON INTERNAL CONTROL FOR YOUR CONSIDERATION 

CONTROLS OVER IT SECURITY 

The Organization does not require users to periodically update their network passwords, key application 
passwords, or vendor logon passwords, nor are there restrictions on the number of times an employee is 
able to use the same password.  Additionally, user access is not automatically locked after a certain 
number of failed access attempts. We recommend the current IT security policies be reviewed and 
strengthened as applicable to minimize susceptibility to data loss and/or unauthorized access to 
information.  Additionally, we noted that there is no formal process for a risk assessment to be performed 
over IT on a periodic basis, nor is there a formal information security policy.  These two items we consider 
to be best practices and we recommend that such formal processes and/or procedures be implemented. 

DISASTER RECOVERY PLAN 

The Company does not have a formal written disaster recovery plan in place, although an informal plan 
is in place, to help ensure proper and timely recovery in case of a disaster. We recommend that this plan 
be written and be appropriately tested to assist in ensuring its viability. Scenarios should include, but not 
be limited to, non-availability of key staff and assumed unavailability or delay of certain key resources. 

CREDIT CARD APPROVAL 

Based on our walkthrough of internal controls over credit cards, we noted that the Chief of Staff/Interim 
COO is approving the CEO’s credit card bill. We recommend that someone in a supervisory role (ex. 
Board Member) be the one responsible for the review and approval of the CEO’s credit card charges. 
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In this section, we would like to make you aware of certain confirmed and potential changes that are on 
the horizon that may affect your financial reporting and audit. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities in January 2017.  The objective of this 
Statement is to improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and 
financial reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported. 

This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. 
The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary 
activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included 
to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary 
activities. 

An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements. 
Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary net position and 
a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. An exception to that requirement is provided for a 
business-type activity that normally expects to hold custodial assets for three months or less.  

This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension (and other 
employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, and (4) custodial 
funds. Custodial funds generally should report fiduciary activities that are not held in a trust or equivalent 
arrangement that meets specific criteria.  

A fiduciary component unit, when reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements of a primary 
government, should combine its information with its component units that are fiduciary component units 
and aggregate that combined information with the primary government’s fiduciary funds. 

This Statement also provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund when an 
event has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Events that compel a 
government to disburse fiduciary resources occur when a demand for the resources has been made or 
when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken or met by the beneficiary to release 
the assets. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019. 
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The GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases in June 2017.  The objective of this Statement is to better 
meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting 
for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements 
by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as 
operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment 
provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational 
principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee 
is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required 
to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and 
consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.  

Definition of a Lease 

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset 
(the underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction. Examples of nonfinancial assets include buildings, land, vehicles, and equipment. Any 
contract that meets this definition should be accounted for under the leases guidance, unless specifically 
excluded in this Statement.  

Lease Term 

The lease term is defined as the period during which a lessee has a noncancelable right to use an underlying 
asset, plus the following periods, if applicable:  

a. Periods covered by a lessee’s option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all 
relevant factors, that the lessee will exercise that option. 

b. Periods covered by a lessee’s option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all 
relevant factors, that the lessee will not exercise that option. 

c. Periods covered by a lessor’s option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all 
relevant factors, that the lessor will exercise that option. 

d. Periods covered by a lessor’s option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain, based on all 
relevant factors, that the lessor will not exercise that option. 

A fiscal funding or cancellation clause should affect the lease term only when it is reasonably certain that 
the clause will be exercised. 

Lessees and lessors should reassess the lease term only if one or more of the following occur:  

a. The lessee or lessor elects to exercise an option even though it was previously determined that it 
was reasonably certain that the lessee or lessor would not exercise that option. 

b. The lessee or lessor elects not to exercise an option even though it was previously determined that 
it was reasonably certain that the lessee or lessor would exercise that option. 

c. An event specified in the lease contract that requires an extension or termination of the lease takes 
place. 
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Short-Term Leases 

A short-term lease is defined as a lease that, at the commencement of the lease term, has a maximum 
possible term under the lease contract of 12 months (or less), including any options to extend, regardless 
of their probability of being exercised. Lessees and lessors should recognize short-term lease payments 
as outflows of resources or inflows of resources, respectively, based on the payment provisions of the 
lease contract.  

Lessee Accounting 

A lessee should recognize a lease liability and a lease asset at the commencement of the lease term, unless 
the lease is a short-term lease or it transfers ownership of the underlying asset. The lease liability should 
be measured at the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease term (less any lease 
incentives). The lease asset should be measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability, plus any payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement of the lease term and 
certain direct costs. 

A lessee should reduce the lease liability as payments are made and recognize an outflow of resources 
(for example, expense) for interest on the liability. The lessee should amortize the lease asset in a 
systematic and rational manner over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset. 
The notes to financial statements should include a description of leasing arrangements, the amount of 
lease assets recognized, and a schedule of future lease payments to be made. 

Lessor Accounting 

A lessor should recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources at the commencement of 
the lease term, with certain exceptions for leases of assets held as investments, certain regulated leases, 
short-term leases, and leases that transfer ownership of the underlying asset. A lessor should not 
derecognize the asset underlying the lease. The lease receivable should be measured at the present value 
of lease payments expected to be received during the lease term. The deferred inflow of resources should 
be measured at the value of the lease receivable plus any payments received at or before the 
commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods.  

A lessor should recognize interest revenue on the lease receivable and an inflow of resources (for example, 
revenue) from the deferred inflows of resources in a systematic and rational manner over the term of the 
lease. The notes to financial statements should include a description of leasing arrangements and the total 
amount of inflows of resources recognized from leases.  

Contracts with Multiple Components and Contract Combinations 

Generally, a government should account for the lease and nonlease components of a lease as separate 
contracts. If a lease involves multiple underlying assets, lessees and lessors in certain cases should account 
for each underlying asset as a separate lease contract. To allocate the contract price to different 
components, lessees and lessors should use contract prices for individual components as long as they do 
not appear to be unreasonable based on professional judgment, or use professional judgment to determine 
their best estimate if there are no stated prices or if stated prices appear to be unreasonable. If determining 
a best estimate is not practicable, multiple components in a lease contract should be accounted for as a 
single lease unit. Contracts that are entered into at or near the same time with the same counterparty and 
that meet certain criteria should be considered part of the same lease contract and should be evaluated in 
accordance with the guidance for contracts with multiple components. 
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Lease Modifications and Terminations 

An amendment to a lease contract should be considered a lease modification, unless the lessee’s right to 
use the underlying asset decreases, in which case it would be a partial or full lease termination. A lease 
termination should be accounted for by reducing the carrying values of the lease liability and lease asset 
by a lessee, or the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources by the lessor, with any difference 
being recognized as a gain or loss. A lease modification that does not qualify as a separate lease should 
be accounted for by remeasuring the lease liability and adjusting the related lease asset by a lessee and 
remeasuring the lease receivable and adjusting the related deferred inflows of resources by a lessor.  

Subleases and Leaseback Transactions 

Subleases should be treated as transactions separate from the original lease. The original lessee that 
becomes the lessor in a sublease should account for the original lease and the sublease as separate 
transactions, as a lessee and lessor, respectively. 

A transaction qualifies for sale-leaseback accounting only if it includes a sale. Otherwise, it is a borrowing. 
The sale and lease portions of a transaction should be accounted for as separate sale and lease transactions, 
except that any difference between the carrying value of the capital asset that was sold and the net proceeds 
from the sale should be reported as a deferred inflow of resources or a deferred outflow of resources and 
recognized over the term of the lease. 

A lease-leaseback transaction should be accounted for as a net transaction. The gross amounts of each 
portion of the transaction should be disclosed.  

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a 
Construction Period in June 2018.  The objectives of this Statement are (1) to enhance the relevance and 
comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and (2) 
to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. 

This Statement establishes accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before the end of a 
construction period. Such interest cost includes all interest that previously was accounted for in 
accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 5–22 of Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting 
and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA 
Pronouncements, which are superseded by this Statement. This Statement requires that interest cost 
incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the 
cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As a 
result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical 
cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. 

This Statement also reiterates that in financial statements prepared using the current financial resources 
measurement focus, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period should be recognized as 
an expenditure on a basis consistent with governmental fund accounting principles. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after 
December  15, 2020. The requirements of this Statement should be applied prospectively. 
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The GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests, an amendment of GASB Statements 
No. 14 and No. 61 in August 2018.  This Statement improves the consistency and comparability of 
reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and improves the 
relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. It defines a majority equity 
interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization should be reported 
as an investment if a government’s holding of the equity interest meets the definition of an investment. A 
majority equity interest that meets the definition of an investment should be measured using the equity 
method, unless it is held by a special-purpose government engaged only in fiduciary activities, a fiduciary 
fund, or an endowment (including permanent and term endowments) or permanent fund. Those 
governments and funds should measure the majority equity interest at fair value. 

For all other holdings of a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization, a government should 
report the legally separate organization as a component unit, and the government or fund that holds the 
equity interest should report an asset related to the majority equity interest using the equity method. This 
Statement establishes that ownership of a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization results 
in the government being financially accountable for the legally separate organization and, therefore, the 
government should report that organization as a component unit. 

This Statement also requires that a component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity interest 
account for its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources at 
acquisition value at the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity interest in the component unit. 
Transactions presented in flows statements of the component unit in that circumstance should include 
only transactions that occurred subsequent to the acquisition.  

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019.  The requirements should be applied retroactively, except for the provisions related 
to (1) reporting a majority equity interest in a component unit and (2) reporting a component unit if 
the government acquires a 100 percent equity interest. Those provisions should be applied on a 
prospective basis.  

The GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations in May 2019.  The primary objectives 
of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and 
eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements 
associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those 
objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit 
debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting 
of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated 
with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures. 
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A conduit debt obligation is defined as a debt instrument having all of the following characteristics: 

• There are at least three parties involved: (1) an issuer, (2) a third-party obligor, and (3) a debt
holder or a debt trustee.

• The issuer and the third-party obligor are not within the same financial reporting entity.
• The debt obligation is not a parity bond of the issuer, nor is it cross-collateralized with other

debt of the issuer.
• The third-party obligor or its agent, not the issuer, ultimately receives the proceeds from the

debt issuance.
• The third-party obligor, not the issuer, is primarily obligated for the payment of all amounts

associated with the debt obligation (debt service payments).

All conduit debt obligations involve the issuer making a limited commitment. Some issuers extend 
additional commitments or voluntary commitments to support debt service in the event the third party is, 
or will be, unable to do so. 

An issuer should not recognize a conduit debt obligation as a liability. However, an issuer should 
recognize a liability associated with an additional commitment or a voluntary commitment to support debt 
service if certain recognition criteria are met. As long as a conduit debt obligation is outstanding, an issuer 
that has made an additional commitment should evaluate at least annually whether those criteria are met. 
An issuer that has made only a limited commitment should evaluate whether those criteria are met when 
an event occurs that causes the issuer to reevaluate its willingness or ability to support the obligor’s debt 
service through a voluntary commitment. 

This Statement also addresses arrangements—often characterized as leases—that are associated with 
conduit debt obligations. In those arrangements, capital assets are constructed or acquired with the 
proceeds of a conduit debt obligation and used by third-party obligors in the course of their activities. 
Payments from third-party obligors are intended to cover and coincide with debt service payments. During 
those arrangements, issuers retain the titles to the capital assets. Those titles may or may not pass to the 
obligors at the end of the arrangements. 

Issuers should not report those arrangements as leases, nor should they recognize a liability for the related 
conduit debt obligations or a receivable for the payments related to those arrangements. In addition, the 
following provisions apply: 

• If the title passes to the third-party obligor at the end of the arrangement, an issuer should not
recognize a capital asset.

• If the title does not pass to the third-party obligor and the third party has exclusive use of the
entire capital asset during the arrangement, the issuer should not recognize a capital asset
until the arrangement ends.

• If the title does not pass to the third-party obligor and the third party has exclusive use of only
portions of the capital asset during the arrangement, the issuer, at the inception of the
arrangement, should recognize the entire capital asset and a deferred inflow of resources. The
deferred inflow of resources should be reduced, and an inflow recognized, in a systematic
and rational manner over the term of the arrangement.
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This Statement requires issuers to disclose general information about their conduit debt obligations, 
organized by type of commitment, including the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the issuers’ 
conduit debt obligations and a description of each type of commitment. Issuers that recognize liabilities 
related to supporting the debt service of conduit debt obligations also should disclose information about 
the amount recognized and how the liabilities changed during the reporting period. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2021. 
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GASB currently has a variety of projects in process. Some of these projects discussed below. 

Conceptual Framework – Recognition.  The project’s objective is to develop recognition criteria for 
whether information should be reported in state and local governmental financial statements and when 
that information should be reported.  This project ultimately will lead to a Concepts Statement on 
recognition of elements of financial statements.  The project is currently in deliberations with an exposure 
draft expected in February 2020, and concepts Statement draft in November 2021. 

Conceptual Framework – Disclosure.   The project’s objective is to develop concepts related to a 
framework for the development and evaluation of notes to financial statements for the purpose of 
improving the effectiveness of note disclosures in government financial reports.  The framework will 
establish criteria for the Board to use in evaluating potential note disclosure requirements during future 
standards-setting activities and in reexamining existing note disclosure requirements. Those concepts also 
will provide governments a basis for considering the essentiality of information items for which the GASB 
does not specifically provide authoritative disclosure guidance.  This project is currently in deliberations 
with an exposure draft expected in March 2021, and a Concepts Statement draft in April 2022. 

Financial Reporting Model.  The objective of this project is to make improvements to the financial 
reporting model, including Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments, and other reporting model-related 
pronouncements (Statements No. 35, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis – for Public Colleges and Universities, No. 37, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments: Omnibus, No. 41, Budgetary Comparison 
Schedules – Perspective Differences, and No. 46, Net Assets Restricted by Enabling Legislation, and 
Interpretation No. 6, Recognition and Measurement of Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements).  The objective of these improvements would be to enhance 
the effectiveness of the model in providing information that is essential for decision-making and enhance 
the ability to assess a government’s accounting and address certain application issues, based upon the 
results of the pre-agenda research on the financial reporting model.  The project is currently in 
deliberations with an exposure draft expected in February 2020, and a final Statement draft in November 
2021. 

Public-Private Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements. The project’s objective is to 
address accounting and financial reporting for public-private partnerships (PPPs) and availability payment 
arrangements (APAs).  The project will consider: (1) potential amendments to Statement No. 60, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements, and  potential amended or 
new implementation guidance to better address accounting and financial reporting for service concession 
arrangements (SCAs) within its scope, (2) potential additional accounting and financial reporting 
guidance for other types of public-private partnerships not with the scope of Statement 60, or subject to 
the provisions of Statement No. 87, Leases, and (3) APAs.  The project is currently in the exposure draft 
comment period with a final Statement draft expected in February 2020. 

Revenue and Expense Recognition.  The objective of this project is to develop a comprehensive 
application model for the classification, recognition, and measurement of revenues and expenses. The 
purpose for developing a comprehensive model is (1) to improve the information regarding revenues and 
expenses that users need to make decisions and assess accountability, (2) to provide guidance regarding 
exchange and exchange-like transactions that have not been specifically addressed, (3) to evaluate revenue 
and expense recognition in the context of the conceptual framework, and (4) to address application issues 
identified in practice, based upon the results of the pre-agenda research on revenue for exchange and 
exchange-like transactions. The project is currently in deliberations with an exposure draft expected in 
September 2021, and a final Statement draft in December 2022. 
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Information Provided 

12) We have provided you with:

a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters and all audit or relevant monitoring reports,
if any, received from funding sources.

b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

c) Unrestricted access to persons within the Company from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

d) Minutes of the meetings or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

13) All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.

14) We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

15) We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:

 Management,

 Employees who have significant roles in internal control,

 Service organizations used by the Company, or

 Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

16) We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company’s financial statements
communicated by employees, former employees, regulators, or others. 

17) We have no knowledge of instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, or grant agreements, or waste or abuse, whose effects should be considered when preparing financial
statements. 

18) We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should be
considered when preparing the financial statements.

19) We have disclosed to you the identity of the Company’s related parties and all the related party relationships and
transactions of which we are aware.

20) All lease agreements with the Company in effect as of and subsequent to June 30, 2020 include a statement which allows
the Company to terminate these leases at any time, with 30 days of written notice, for any or no reason. Therefore, no
schedule of required future minimum lease payments is included in the footnotes to the financial statements.

Government—specific 

21) There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or deficiencies in,
financial reporting practices. 

22) We have identified to you any previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies related to the audit objectives
and whether related recommendations have been implemented. 

23) The Company has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balance or net position.

24) We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements
applicable to us, including tax or debt limits and debt contracts; and legal and contractual provisions for reporting
specific activities in separate funds.

25) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of fraud and
noncompliance with provisions of laws and regulations that we believe have a material effect on the financial statements
or other financial data significant to the audit objectives, and any other instances that warrant the attention of those
charged with governance. 

26) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances, which have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of
noncompliance with provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. 

182



Brown, Edwards & Company, L.L.P. 
Page 3 

 

27) We have identified and disclosed to you all instances that have occurred or are likely to have occurred, of abuse that 
could be quantitatively or qualitatively material to the financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit 
objectives. 

28) There are no violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, laws and regulations (including those pertaining to 
adopting, approving, and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and grant agreements, tax or debt limits, and any 
related debt covenants whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial statements, or as a basis for 
recording a loss contingency, or for reporting on noncompliance. 

29) As part of your audit, you assisted with preparation of the financial statements and related notes as well as certain 
nonaudit journal entries, capital asset and depreciation schedules, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and the 
data collection form. We acknowledge our responsibility as it relates to those nonaudit services, including that we 
assume all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an individual, preferably within senior 
management, who possesses suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of the services 
performed; and accept responsibility for the results of the services. We have reviewed, approved, and accepted 
responsibility for those financial statements and related notes and schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

30) The Company has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets nor has any 
asset been pledged as collateral. 

31) The Company has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the financial 
statements in the event of noncompliance. 

32) The financial statements include all component units, appropriately present majority equity interests in legally separate 
organizations and joint ventures with an equity interest, and properly disclose all other joint ventures and other related 
organizations. 

33) The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, as 
amended, and GASB Statement No. 84. 

34) All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASBS Nos. 34  and 37  for presentation as major are identified and 
presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to financial statement users. 

35) Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted), and equity amounts are 
properly classified and, if applicable, approved. 

36) Provisions for uncollectible receivables have been properly identified and recorded. 

37) Receivables recorded in the financial statements present valid claims against debtors for sales or other charges arising on 
or before the balance sheet date and have been appropriately reduced to their estimated net realizable value. 

38) Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of activities, and 
allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

39) Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues, general revenues, 
contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to permanent fund principal. 

40) Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported. 

41) Special and extraordinary items are appropriately classified and reported, if applicable. 

42) Deposits and investment securities and derivative instruments are properly classified as to risk and are properly disclosed. 

43) Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if applicable, 
depreciated or amortized. 

44) We believe that the actuarial assumptions and methods used to measure pension and OPEB liabilities and costs for 
financial accounting purposes are appropriate in the circumstances. 

45) We have not completed the process of evaluating the impact that will result from adopting new Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statements (GASBS) that are not yet effective, as discussed in the notes to financial 
statements.  The entity is therefore unable to disclose the impact that adopting these Statements will have on its financial 
position and the results of its operations when the Statements are adopted. 
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Appendix B 
Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements 
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Client:

Period End:

Scope:  All known and projected misstatements and/or classification errors over 

(Scope should generally not exceed 5% of planning materiality). (1)

W/P Type

Reference (3) Current Long-term Current Long-term Revenue C of Sales G & A Selling Other Income (5) Equity

(238,730) (238,730) 238,730 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

From Subtotal page(s) - - - - - - - - - - - 

Total (6) - - - - (238,730) - - - - (238,730) 238,730 

(7) (238,730) 

Cumulative Misstatement Errors - 

PY's difference related to grant funding received in 

advance correct in CY.

Greater Richmond Transit Company

June 30, 2020

Planning Materiality:

SUMMARY OF ADJUSTMENTS PASSED AND EVALUATION

OF ALLOWANCE FOR UNDETECTED ERROR

$ 

Pretax effect Debit (Credit) (2) of Misstatement and Classification Errors On:

Description

Assets Liabilities Income Statement

Rev. 2/12
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Appendix C 
Schedule of Audit Adjustments 
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Client: 1600100.000 - Greater Richmond Transit Company

Engagement: 2020 Audit - GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

Trial Balance: 3000.1 - Trial Balance Database - GRTC

Workpaper: 3705a - Adjusting Journal Entries Report - GRTC

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 3 PBC - 6130

000-304-10-010-G Unrealized Gain/Loss on LGIP EM 61,107.00

000-305-98-002-G Fund Balance 61,107.00

Total 61,107.00 61,107.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 4 5750

000-101-99-999-G Deferred Outflows GASB 68 20,226,296.00

199-999-99-002-G GASB 68 Pension Expense 5,783,356.00

000-241-99-998-G Net Pension Liablity GASB 68 25,452,569.00

000-241-99-999-G Deferred Inflows GASB 68 557,083.00

Total 26,009,652.00 26,009,652.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 5 5801

000-101-99-998-G Deferred Outflows GASB 75 122,294.00

000-241-99-997-G Deferred Inflows GASB 75 6,707.00

189-999-99-999-G OPEB expense 510,554.00

000-201-01-069-G OPEB payable 639,555.00

Total 639,555.00 639,555.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 7 4643

000-111-99-999-G Accumulated Depreciation 502,182.00

000-407-99-005-G Gains on Property Disposals 19,959.00

000-111-01-108-G DHG.014 Buses, Vans and Vehciles 522,141.00

000-407-99-001-G Other transportation related revenues

Total 522,141.00 522,141.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 8 4631

199-999-99-999-G Depreciation Expense 5,213,169.00

DHG.032 Audit Account - Amortization Expense 432,604.00

000-111-99-998-G DHG.031 Accumulated Amortization 432,604.00

000-111-99-999-G Accumulated Depreciation 5,213,169.00

Total 5,645,773.00 5,645,773.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 9 4643

000-407-99-005-G Gains on Property Disposals 140,500.00

DHG.028 Miscellaneous Revenue 140,500.00

Total 140,500.00 140,500.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 10

DHG.028 Miscellaneous Revenue 238,730.00

000-201-01-067-G City of Richmond Deferred Revenue 238,730.00

Total 238,730.00 238,730.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 11 3720

000-440-99-001-G Purchase of service-Henrico 226,229.00

000-528-00-001-G CARES Act VA2020-023 226,229.00

Total 226,229.00 226,229.00

To correct prior year difference related to grant funding received in advance

PBC JE 0001 - To reclass CARES revenue from purchase of service - Henrico revenue.

To adjust pension related amounts.

To adjust fund balance by PY's unrealized gain/loss on LGIP

To record the CY's OPEB activity.

To record the asset disposals in FY20

To record CY depreciation and amortization expense

To reclass the gain on the pollution remediation close out to miscellaneous revenue.

1 of 2
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Client: 1600100.000 - Greater Richmond Transit Company

Engagement: 2020 Audit - GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

Trial Balance: 3000.1 - Trial Balance Database - GRTC

Workpaper: 3705a - Adjusting Journal Entries Report - GRTC

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 12 3725

000-450-00-001-G CARES Act VA2020-023 633,333.00

000-102-06-070-G A/R Federal capital grants  633,333.00

Total 633,333.00 633,333.00

Adjusting Journal Entries JE # 13 7350

000-102-06-070-G A/R Federal capital grants 29,575.00

000-450-00-001-G CARES Act VA2020-023  29,575.00

Total 29,575.00 29,575.00

PBC JE 0002 - entry to proper account for COVID related expenses.

To adjust the CARES revenue and receivable for additional expenses not included.

2 of 2
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Client: Greater Richmond Transit Company

Engagement: GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY

Period Ending: 6/30/2020

Workpaper: Reclassifying Journal Entries Report - GRTC

Account Description W/P Ref Debit Credit

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 1 TB/7130

000-305-98-004-G DHG.023 Capital Grant Contributions 2,265,934.00

DHG.024 Capital Grant Contributions 2,265,934.00

Total 2,265,934.00 2,265,934.00

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 2 TB

000-440-99-006-G Purchase of Service Centura College CARE 9,686.00

000-440-99-020-G Purchase of Service - Centura College 15,909.00

DHG.021 Centura College Reclass (special service) 25,595.00

Total 25,595.00 25,595.00

Reclassifying Journal Entries JE # 6 4632

000-111-01-108-G DHG.014 Buses, Vans and Vehciles 1,346,966.00

000-111-01-109-G DHG.015 Bus Stop and Parking Facilities 279,000.00

000-111-01-111-G DHG.017 Office Furniture and Equipment 16,313.00

000-111-01-112-G DHG.018 Bus Communication and Other Equipment 569,775.00

000-111-99-996-G DHG.030 Software 53,880.00

000-111-99-997-G DHG.011 PPE Reclass 2,265,934.00

Total 2,265,934.00 2,265,934.00

To move CY capital grant activity to the income statement.

To reclassify Centura College Purchase of Service Revenue

To reclassify capital assets
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date: December 15, 2020 
Item Title: 2021-2022 Health Insurance 

BACKGROUND:

GRTC has been with Cigna Healthcare since March 2016. 

HIGHLIGHTS: 

• Cigna’s original renewal request was a 16.5% increase in premium.  With the assistance of our

broker Marsh and McLennan we were able to negotiate a renewal rate of 6.5% for new plan year

starting March 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022.

• After careful review it is recommended that we remain with Cigna as our courier for this plan year.

Moving forward we will market our healthcare to determine if we can get better rates from a

different provider. This will also allow us to look at plan changes and how our plan is structured.

• This expense is funded completely from the operating budget.

Rates Include Vision Rider 

Employee Only $1,094.27 

Employee + Children $1,862.91 

Employee + Spouse $2,115.08 

Employee + Family $3,322.48 

Monthly Premium $666,000.00 

Annual Premium $7,992,000.00 

% Change 6.50% 

$ Change $486,971 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Board of Directors adopts these changes to GRTC’s medical plan and authorizes the CEO to sign 

the contract with Cigna for plan year March 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022. 

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 

GRTC Board of Directors 
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GRTC Transit System 
Board Action Item 

Meeting Date:  December 15, 2020 
Item Title: Modification of VCU Service Contract and FY2021 Budget Amendment 

BACKGROUND: 

During the June 16, 2020 Board Meeting, the GRTC Board adopted the FY2021 Operational Budget. 
The annual budget included revenues from a contracted operational subsidy from VCU in the amount of 
$1,656,912 with 50% of that amount, $789,006.09, due on August 31, 2020. The operational budget also 
included a reserve fund of CARES Act dollars in the amount of $3,620,112 for COVID related increases 
in expected expenses or decreases in expected revenues.  

Also, during the June 16, 2020 Board Meeting, the GRTC Board authorized CEO Julie Timm to enter into 
Contract Agreements with local funding partners in the amounts approved in the adopted FY2021 
Budget.  Subsequent to that Board meeting, Ms. Timm negotiated a contract amendment with VCU 
under the VCU/GRTC Three Year Service Agreement originally entered into on August 1, 2019.  The 
amendment decreased the first payment from VCU due on August 31, 2020 under the second year of the 
contract from $789,006.09 to $394,503.04, a 50% reduction in the contracted service contribution for the 
six-month payment period. This reduction was jointly agreed upon in recognition of the following 
considerations: 

• The University has determined as a result of the Pandemic that it may be necessary to operate
the University in a limited capacity, which may include classes being taught online and a
significant portion of its workforce working remotely, thus resulting in a significantly reduced need
for the transportation services; and

• GRTC is receiving relief funds from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES)
Act, to assist with its operating costs; and

• The University and GRTC wish to amend the Agreement to address these effects of the
Pandemic; and

• The one-time 50% reduction in the VCU service contribution is consistent with reductions
approved in the GRTC FY2021 Operations Budget for other Local Funding Partners in the
FY2021 budget.

Due to the ongoing State of Emergency under COVID-19 and the continuation of the above conditions 
into the 2021 calendar year, VCU has requested a second contract amendment consistent with the first 
amendment ratified by the GRCT Board in July 2020.  The second amendment would decrease the 
second payment from VCU due on February 28, 2021 under the second year of the contract from 
$789,006.09 to $394,503.04, a 50% reduction in the contracted service contribution for the six-month 
payment period. 
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Recommendations: 

GRTC CEO requests that the Board of Directors approve a second amendment to the VCU Contract for 
a reduction of service contributions from VCU by another $394,503.05 for FY2021 and that the Board of 
Directors authorize the use of CARES Act reserve funding in the FY2021 budget in the amount 
$394,503.05 to balance this reduction in revenue. 

Eldridge F. Coles, Secretary Date 
GRTC Board of Directors 
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO SERVICES AGREEMENT 

Between 

GREATER RICHMOND TRANSIT COMPANY 

and 

VIRGINIA COMMONWEALTH UNIVERSITY 

This first amendment (the “First Amendment”) is made this _____ day of June, 2020, by and between Greater 

Richmond Transit Co. (“GRTC”) and Virginia Commonwealth University (“the University”), collectively the “Parties.” 

WHEREAS, the University and GRTC entered into a Services Agreement dated August 1, 2019 for certain 

transportation services provided by GRTC (the “Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the University and GRTC agree that the transportation services and University’s use of those 

services pursuant to the Agreement have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the related Virginia state of 

emergency (the “Pandemic”); and 

WHEREAS, GRTC determined as a result of the Pandemic to adjust its services, which includes charging a $0 

fare; and 

WHEREAS, GRTC is unable at this time to offer the transportation services to the University consistent with the 

University’s intent to comply with CDC physical distancing guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, the University has determined as a result of the Pandemic that it may be necessary to operate the 

University in a limited capacity, which may include classes being taught online and a significant portion of its workforce 

working remotely, thus resulting in a significantly reduced need for the transportation services; and 

WHEREAS, GRTC is receiving relief funds from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) 

Act, to assist with its operating costs; and 

WHEREAS, the University and GRTC wish to amend the Agreement to address these effects of the Pandemic. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, covenants and conditions provided herein and in the 

Agreement, the Parties agree as follows:   

1. Paragraph 3.1 of the Agreement is modified to eliminate the first installment of the Year 2 payment in the amount

of $789,006.09$394,503.04 due on August 31, 2020.

2. Except as modified herein, all other provisions of the Agreement shall continue and remain in full force and

effect.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and to become 

effective as of the date first above written. 

Signature: Signature: 

Greater Richmond Transit Co. Virginia Commonwealth University 

Name: Name: 

Title: Title: 

Date: Date: 
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